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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg statements that involve substantial risks amekrtainties. All
statements other than statements of historicad famttained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K]uding statements
regarding our strategy, future operations, futumarfcial position, future revenue, projected cgstespects, plans, objectives of
management and expected market growth, are foriwatdrg statements. These statements involve krenvehunknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that swyse our actual results, performance or achievisnb@ibe materially
different from any future results, performance cniavements expressed or implied by the forwarditapstatements.

The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “egpt,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project; “target,” “potential,”
“will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” and similar expressions are intended to identify fawvipoking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contaiese identifying words. These forward-lookingestaents include, among
other things, statements about:

« the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resolt our development activities, preclinical stwdied clinical trials;

« the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintregulatory approval of obeticholic acid, or OG#d any other
product candidates we may develop, and any retatgdctions, limitations, and/or warnings in tabél of any
approved product candidates;

e our plans to research, develop and commercializduture product candidates;

¢ our collaborators’ election to pursue researelvetbpment and commercialization activities;

e our ability to attract collaborators with devefopnt, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

« our ability to obtain and maintain intellectuabperty protection for our product candidates;

e our ability to successfully commercialize our gmat candidates;

« the size and growth of the markets for our prodaadidates and our ability to serve those markets
« the rate and degree of market acceptance ofwanyefproducts;

¢ the success of competing drugs that are or beemaitable;

« regulatory developments in the United Statesathdr countries;

« the performance of our third-party suppliers amhufacturers;

« our ability to obtain additional financing;

« our use of the proceeds from our recently corspl@titial public offering;

e our expectations regarding the time during whighwill be an emerging growth company under the S@Bt;

¢ the accuracy of our estimates regarding expefigese revenues, capital requirements and the fazeatiditional
financing; and

e our ability to attract and retain key scientidicmanagement personnel.

These forward-looking statements are only predistiand we may not actually achieve the plans, fiotes or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements, so sbould not place undue reliance on our forwardkilog statements. Actual
results or events could differ materially from filans, intentions and expectations disclosed ifddheard-looking statements
we make. We have based these forward-looking stattsargely on our current expectations and ptiojes about future
events and trends that we believe may affect osinkas, financial condition and operating resifite.have included important
factors in the cautionary statements included i Amnual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in ItdmA. Risk Factors, that
could cause actual future results or events tediffaterially from the forward-looking statemeittattwe make. Our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potentialastpf any future acquisitions, mergers, disposgtjqoint ventures or
investments we may make.
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You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K #reddocuments that we have filed as exhibits éothnual Report on
Form 10-K with the understanding that our actudfel results may be materially different from wiat expect. We do not
assume any obligation to update any forward-lookitagements whether as a result of new informafidgare events or
otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
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PART I

All brand names or trademarks appearing in thisae@re the property of their respective holdersiléss the context
requires otherwise, references in this report totércept” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated subsidia

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopment and commercialization of novel therapsub treat
chronic liver diseases utilizing our proprietarietacid chemistry. Our product candidates haveptiential to treat orphan and
more prevalent liver diseases for which there culyere limited therapeutic solutions.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, o*Oi8 a bile acid analog, a chemical substancehtaata structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid. OCA f#st-in-class product candidate that selectivetyds to and induces activity
in the farnesoid X receptor, or FXR, which we badidhas broad liver-protective properties. We arebiping OCA initially
for primary biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, as a secdiné treatment for patients who have an inadeqresiponse to or who are
unable to tolerate standard of care therapy améfitve need additional treatment. PBC is a chraotoimmune liver disease
that, if inadequately treated, may eventually leadirrhosis, liver failure and death. We are cartihg a Phase 3 clinical trial
of OCA in PBC, which we call the POISE trial, theg anticipate will serve as the basis for seekagylatory approval in the
United States and Europe. As of December 19, 20&Z%ave completed enroliment of the POISE triah\&it7 patients,
exceeding the originally targeted number of pasidiyt approximately 20%. We currently expect resuitsy the POISE trial to
be available in the second quarter of 2014. OCArbesived orphan drug designation in the UnitedeStand Europe for the
treatment of PBC. We own worldwide rights to OCAside of Japan and China, where we have exclusivegsed the
compound to Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma, or DSP gradted it an option to exclusively license OCA@rtain other Asian
countries.

If the POISE trial is successful, we intend to sittamNew Drug Application, or NDA, to the U.S. Foadd Drug
Administration, or FDA, for approval of OCA for thieeatment of PBC in the United States and a Margetiuthorization
Application, or MAA, to the European Medicines Agenoy EMA, for approval in Europe. Based on writtefestific advice
from the EMA, we believe that the EMA will accept aurrent clinical program as the basis for consideapproval of OCA
for PBC. With respect to the FDA, we intend to resfan accelerated approval of OCA based on theptartce of the POISE
trial primary endpoint as a surrogate endpoint ihatasonably likely to predict clinical benefftthe FDA grants an
accelerated approval of OCA, we will be requiredd@aduct one or more additional clinical trials fpapproval to verify and
confirm the clinical benefit predicted by the sgrate endpoint. This clinical outcomes trial musiséa FDA'’s definition of an
adequate and well-controlled trial and would havbé substantially underway at the time of the NddAmission and would be
completed after accelerated approval. We are cud@ons with the FDA about the design of the céihbutcomes trial and
plan to initiate it as early as the second haB@f3.

We are sponsoring an independent study involvingertttan ten leading PBC centers in North Americh Barope, or
collectively the Global PBC Study Group, that aoelpg their long-term patient data to evaluaterationship between
biochemical and clinical endpoints. We anticipatalfdata from at least 4,000 patients will be ectiéd and analyzed as part of
this study. Initial results for more than 2,100i@atts have been accepted as a poster presentatlmannual meeting of the
European Association for the Study of the LiverE&SL, to be held in April 2013. The data confirthat the POISE trial
primary endpoint has a highly statistically sigcefint correlation with liver transplant-free sundivd/e anticipate that final
results will be available by the end of 2013 anlil suipport what we believe is an emerging conseasusng PBC opinion
leaders concerning the clinical utility of our sgé= surrogate endpoint.

An academic consortium in the United Kingdom haently published data from a large observationalysof over 2,300
PBC patients recruited from every hospital in th€ibto a PBC research cohort. The results showttieae is a highly
statistically significant correlation between Aliidth alone and together with other biochemical patars such as bilirubin,
and clinical outcomes. Several different threshwalllies
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of ALP were tested and it was demonstrated thatatamhs in ALP levels down through to less thantiiries upper limit
normal (ULN) are strongly predictive of clinical hefit.

In addition to PBC, we are pursuing other indigagiin our OCA development program, including pontgpertension,
nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH, and primaitg acid diarrhea, or PBAD. The pipeline chartweshows the current
stage of development of OCA for these indicati@sswell as the preclinical programs for our othredpct candidates.

Preclinical Phiase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Our Righrs

OCA (FXR Agonist*)

FORUEYperetiin Worldwida excluding
oariin AsiEn CoMniTes
e Bowsed o DiP
Hike Acidl Diarrhen
INT-T67 (Dual FXR/TGRS Agonist® )
(Fboss g Worldwide
INT-T77 (TGRS Agonist®)
Type 2 Dinhetes Worldwide

* An agonist is a substance that binds to a recegta cell and triggers a response by that cell.

By virtue of our patent portfolio and the proprigtanow-how of our employees and our collaborasdrthe University of
Perugia, we believe that we hold a leading positiaine bile acid chemistry therapeutic field. Tingh a longstanding
collaboration with Professor Roberto Pellicciati,P., one of our co-founders, and certain scientisthe medicinal chemistry
group at the University of Perugia, we have gaimedcapability to rationally design compounds thiatl selectively and
potently to FXR and other bile acid receptors. tBtgrwith OCA, which was invented by Professor Relari and, together with
its underlying patents, was assigned to us undeagneements with him and the University of Perugia collaboration has
resulted in a pipeline of bile acid analogs in &ddito OCA, which target both FXR and a secondaidd bile acid receptor
called TGR5, a target of interest for the treatnwérype 2 diabetes and associated metabolic dise¥ge intend to continue
developing these and other product candidates agiwemce our pipeline, in some cases subject tprii®irement of
additional funding or through strategic collabavas.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to develop and commercialize nthvelapeutics for patients with chronic liver anbestdiseases, beginning
with OCA for the second line treatment of PBC atfteofollow-on indications that we believe are ursgéeved by existing
therapies. The key elements of our strategy are to:

« complete the development of OCA for its lead @adion, PBC;

« obtain regulatory approval of OCA for the treattnef PBC in the United States, Europe and othentes;
« commercialize OCA in the United States, Europe @tiher countries, initially for the treatment 8@,

e continue to develop OCA in other orphan and npwexalent liver and other diseases; and

« advance the development of earlier stage prozhrudidates in our pipeline.
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We may enter into strategic collaborations to impeat our strategy.

Overview of Liver Function, Bile Acids and ChronicLiver Diseases

The liver performs many essential functions thataucial for survival, including the regulationtife acid metabolism.
Bile acids are natural detergent-like emulsifyiiggats that are released from the gallbladder hetarttestine when food is
ingested, and are essential for the absorptionetdry cholesterol and other nutrients. Cholesteonind up by bile acids is
taken up by the liver, where the cholesterol ismitbenverted into one of two primary bile acids. Tile acids are then actively
secreted into bile ducts, which eventually empty the gallbladder. This digestive cycle of bilevil from gallbladder to
intestine to liver and back is called the enteraliepecirculation of bile.

In the past decade, we have learned that in additiéacilitating nutrient absorption, bile acidsve a much broader role
than previously realized in regulating multiple Ibgical functions. They are also complex signalimglecules that integrate
metabolic and immune pathways involved in the hgditinctioning of various tissues and organs. kangple, the actions of
bile acids in the liver, intestine and kidney regelrepair mechanisms that modulate inflammatiehfinosis, or scarring,
which can lead to progressive organ damage.

The biological effects of bile acids are mediatedigh dedicated receptors. The best understabe i&rnesoid X
receptor, a nuclear receptor that regulates bittsmthesis and clearance from the liver, theaigyenting excessive bile acid
build-up in the liver, which may be toxic. As auisFXR is a target for the treatment of liverafises such as PBC that involve
impaired bile flow, a condition called cholestagiswhich the liver is exposed to higher than ndrleeels of bile acids,
causing significant damage over time due to therdent effects of bile acids. In addition, bilechattivation of FXR induces
anti-fibrotic, anti-inflammatory and other mechangsthat are necessary for the normal regeneratithediver. Based on the
discovery of similar FXR-mediated protective medbars in other organs exposed to bile acids, webelihat FXR may also
be a potential target for the treatment of a nunobbéntestinal, kidney and other diseases.

Our Lead Product Candidate: Obeticholic Acid (OCA)for PBC
Primary Biliary Cirrhosis

Our current clinical focus is on the developmen®@fA, a novel, orally administered, first-in-cldS%R agonist that we
believe has broad liver-protective properties ay effectively counter a variety of chronic insutishe liver that cause
fibrosis, which can eventually lead to cirrhosiget transplant and death. Our first targeted disés PBC, an orphan indication
with a significant unmet medical need.

PBC is a rare liver disease that primarily resfutisn autoimmune destruction of the bile ducts thatsport bile acids out of
the liver, resulting in cholestasis. As the disgaegresses, persistent toxic build-up of bile aciduse progressive liver
damage marked by chronic inflammation and fibrdsisesponse to the bile acid mediated toxicitynseePBC, liver cells
release alkaline phosphatase, or ALP, a liver eeztjrat is a key biomarker of the disease patholatguated blood levels of
ALP are used as the primary means of diagnosi®8@f &d are closely monitored in patients as thet mgsortant indicator of
treatment response and prognosis.

While PBC is rare, it is the most common cholestiter disease. An estimated 90% of patients ammen, with
approximately one in 1,000 women over the age aiffiitted by the disease. The mean age of diagriegibout 40 years and
the typical initial presentation occurs betweenabes of 30 and 65 years. In the United Stategliffease is the fifth most
common cause of liver transplant and accountsgpraimately two percent of deaths attributed tehcisis. A majority of
PBC patients are asymptomatic at the time of indiagnosis, but most develop symptoms over tinagigbie and pruritus, or
itching, are by far the most common symptoms in RBR@ents. Less common symptoms include dry eydsrauth, as well as
jaundice, which can be seen in more advanced @isBased on the guidelines of the American Assiocidor the Study of
Liver Disease, or AASLD, and EASL, the clinical girosis of PBC is established based on the pres#r{dea positive anti-
mitochondrial antibody, or AMA, a marker of this atmmune disease seen in up to 95% of PBC patiants(ii) elevated
serum levels of ALP, an enzyme that is releaselivby cells
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in response to the bile acid mediated toxicity Hrad is a key biomarker of the disease patholodyP & routinely measured in
blood tests and, in the earlier stages of PBG,dften the only abnormally elevated liver enzynsng to between two to ten
times higher than normal values. It is closely naneid in PBC patients as an indicator of treatmesponse and prognosis.
Bilirubin is a marker of liver function and is alswnitored in PBC to provide an indication of howllhe liver is functioning.
Liver biopsy can be used to confirm the diagnoSBRC, but is not required and is becoming lesgifemtly performed.

Disease progression in PBC varies significantlyusutally is relatively slow, with median survivaluntreated patients of
7.5 years if symptomatic at diagnosis and up tgelfi's if asymptomatic at diagnosis. PBC patientsseltisease is
progressing have persistently elevated levels d? Ahd other liver enzymes, with abnormal biliruleivels heralding more
advanced disease. Data from published long-terdiestidemonstrate that a significant portion of spatients with advancing
disease progress to liver failure, transplant atlievithin five to ten years, despite receivingodisl, the standard of care
therapy.

Currently Available Treatment Options for PBC

The only approved drug for the treatment of PBGr&deoxycholic acid, available generically as digpwhich is the
standard initial course of therapy for all PBC gats. Ursodiol is a naturally occurring bile acdifid in small quantities in
humans and it is the least detergent of the vatigpes of bile acids that make up the bile pootrdwlitional Asian medicine,
ursodiol obtained from bears has been used foudeatas a “liver tonic” for any disease or coraditassociated with liver
malfunction. In humans, the typical daily dose fadiol of approximately one gram represents muae bne-fifth of the entire
bile pool and, after ongoing therapy, it will coriger at least half of the entire bile pool. It idi&eed that ursodiol treatment
results in the bile pool being less toxic to thetidue to ursodiol’s dilution of other more detargbile acids.

In patients for whom ursodiol is effective, theatient slows the progression of PBC, reducingikedithood of liver
failure and the need for transplant. As shown imerous clinical trials of ursodiol treatment, aifies therapeutic response is
primarily determined by sustained reduction of Akfels, along with maintenance of normal bilirulemels, indicating
adequately compensated liver function. This biodbahimprovement has been shown to correlate wigli improved clinical
outcomes such as transplant-free survival.

Although drugs such as colchicine, budesonide, atiethate and others have been tested as treatmd?iC, none has
been shown to be both effective and safe in afjettie course of the disease.

Our PBC Opportunity

While ursodiol’'s mechanism of action at therapedtses is to dilute more detergent bile acidsastio known
pharmacological effects mediated by FXR or othkr &cid receptors. Although ursodiol is the estdtdd standard of care for
the treatment of PBC, studies have shown that &0% of PBC patients fail to respond adequatelygatment. Patients
typically need to take approximately one gram sfbdiol daily in divided doses, which we believesanmets a compliance
challenge for some patients.

The outlook and treatment options for end-stage P&@nts who fail to respond to ursodiol are leditAlthough liver
transplant can be curative, many patients faietieive a donor organ in time, and for those whdtdere are very significant
clinical risks, such as infection and organ refattias well as significant costs. In addition, disease recurrence rate is as high
as 18% at five years and up to 30% at ten yeaes lafer transplant.

According to industry data, there are approximaB€l§,000 people with PBC in developed countriesylodm we believe
approximately 60,000 have been diagnosed and anesodiol therapy. Based on this estimate, we belieere are up to
30,000 PBC patients who may currently be eligibletfeatment with OCA. With increasing identificatiof PBC through
routine liver function testing in primary care, Welieve that there may be significantly more pasievho will potentially be
eligible for, and be interested in, receiving a riberapy if it becomes available on the market. l@/tiisodiol is the standard of
care for the treatment of PBC, given the limitasiafi its efficacy and compliance with the dosingimeen discussed above, we
believe that there is a significant unmet needifapvel second line therapy in PBC.
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Our Solution: OCA for PBC
Overview

Our lead product candidate, OCA, is a bile acidamand first-in-class FXR agonist derived from gremary human bile
acid chenodeoxycholic acid, or CDCA. CDCA, a ndt&béR agonist, has historically been used safelg abronic therapy for
cholesterol gallstone disease. We are initiallyeli@ping OCA for the second line treatment of PBCdatients with an
inadequate therapeutic response to ursodiol oramdainable to tolerate ursodiol. OCA has receivptian drug designation in
the United States for the treatment of PBC andade® disease called primary sclerosing cholangiti®SC. OCA also has
orphan designation in Europe for PBC. We submigtedhvestigational New Drug Application, or IND,ttee FDA for OCA
for the treatment of PBC in 2006. We believe wetheefirst company to have advanced an FXR agartistclinical trials and
have completed enrollment of our Phase 3 POISEtriavaluate the safety and efficacy of OCA aswaehtreatment in PBC.
We own worldwide rights to OCA outside of Japan &miha, where we have exclusively licensed the aamgd to DSP,
which also has an option to exclusively license A€ Aertain additional Asian countries.

We have completed two randomized, placebo-conttdlease 2 trials of OCA in PBC patients, one wi@¥0n
combination with ursodiol and one with OCA as mdwroapy. The first trial enrolled 165 patients talerate the addition of
OCA to ursodiol in patients with an inadequate oes@ to ursodiol therapy, and the second trialllent®9 patients to evaluate
OCA given as monotherapy. Both trials showed thnatr a 12-week period, single daily doses of OCthatiowest dose of 10
mg met the primary and secondary endpoints of tivgas, producing statistically significant rediacts in levels of ALP of
greater than 20% and other important liver enzyMés consider reductions in ALP levels of greatantth0% to be a clinically
meaningful improvement. Further, long-term operelaxtension phases of these trials have demoedttiaat the majority of
patients taking OCA for at least 12 months, witmemn therapy for more than 3 years, maintainedarabde treatment
response. Pruritus, or itching, a very common spmgh PBC patients, was the most common adversat esported in our
Phase 2 trials, with severity increasing with dose.

OCA Benefits in PBC
We believe that OCA has the potential to provideftillowing benefits in the treatment of PBC:

« Efficacy. In addition to achieving the primary endpoinbiir Phase 2 trials, the data also demonstraté@®éa of
OCA-treated patients across our Phase 2 trialsriexpmed a reduction in ALP levels of at least 10#ich we consider
to be a clinically meaningful improvement, as comepato 13% of placebtreated patients. Furthermore, our analys
the data for those Phase 2 patients who would hesteéhe entry criteria for our POISE trial demoatdd that after 12
weeks of treatment approximately 40% to 45% of Qi@fsted patients would have met the POISE trimhary
endpoint, as compared to 5% to 9% of the placetstdd patients.

« Pharmacological Activit. Unlike ursodiol, which has no FXR-agonistic gityi, OCA is approximately 100-times
more potent than CDCA in activating the FXR recepto numerous animal models, sustained FXR adtimatith
OCA treatment has resulted in the prevention, aed eeversal, of liver damage caused by progrestir@sis. Our
Phase 2 trials have demonstrated that most patakitgy OCA also have significant reductions in immoglobulin M,
or IgM, and, in the combination trial with ursodi@;reactive protein, or CRP, common indicatorsudbsmmune
activity. We believe that this demonstrates potémtisease-modifying therapeutic activity direatjdressing the
underlying autoimmune pathology.

« Ease of Us. We anticipate seeking approval of OCA for treatment of PBC at a dose of a single 10 mg tahlgt e
day, which is approximately one percent of the amaf ursodiol that a patient is typically presetb

Phase 3 PBC Program for OCA

We are currently conducting our Phase 3 POISE tshich has been designed to study the safety ficdey of OCA in
PBC patients with an inadequate therapeutic regptisrsodiol or who are unable to tolerate urdotticthis trial, eligible
PBC patients continue their ursodiol treatmenteexdor those patients unable to




TABLE OF CONTENTS

tolerate ursodiol, and were randomized into oniefe trial arms of approximately 72 patients eaclding either: 10 mg of
OCA; 5 mg of OCA increasing over the course ofttie to 10 mg of OCA; or a placebo. The doubleatiiphase of the trial
will be 12 months in duration, and patients comptgethis phase will have the option to continuamopen label, long-term
safety extension phase for another five yearsndusihich all patients will receive OCA treatmentilaily doses ranging
from 5 mg to 25 mg a day, as clinically indicatedMarch 2013, we enrolled our first patient inte lbng-term safety
extension phase of our POISE trial.

The primary endpoint of the 12 month double-blindtipn of the POISE trial is the achievement oftbatreduction in ALP
level to below a threshold of 1.67 times uppertingrmal, or ULN, with a minimum of 15% reductiaonALP level from
baseline, and a normal bilirubin level, a biomard®liver function, as compared to placebo aftemicghths of therapy. ULN is
the uppermost level of a specified parameter thadbnsidered normal in healthy people. Patients MitP and bilirubin levels
within these thresholds have been shown in longr&udies to be at significantly lower risk of pregsing to liver transplant
and death. In order to be eligible to enter theSEtrial, patients must have previously met thguiietic criteria for PBC and
have been taking a therapeutic dose of ursodid@tfteast 12 months or, if unable to tolerate udpdatients must not have
been on therapy for at least three months prientering the trial. In addition, patients must hak levels of at least 1.67
times ULN and/or bilirubin levels of one to two & ULN. The POISE trial was designed to enroll ft8fents across
approximately 60 clinical sites in North AmericadaBurope. We completed enrollment of the POISHE imi®ecember 2012
with 59 participating clinical sites in North Ameai and Europe. The trial has enrolled 217 patiepisroximately 20% more
than the 180 patients we had originally targetdsk demographics and baseline disease characteostice patients enrolled
are similar to those seen in our Phase 2 trial©@A@s combination therapy in PBC patients. As of éfat5, 2013, the
discontinuation rate due to pruritus, even if htited solely to the OCA dose groups, is lower thah seen in the 10mg OCA
dose group in our Phase 2 combination study.

We are advancing a once daily 10 mg dose of OQherPOISE trial as our potential approvable dose. dhart below
shows an analysis of the extracted intention tat tdata for the 10 mg dose groups in our two PBasals based on patients
who would have met the inclusion criteria for eritrghe POISE trial. The analysis demonstratesdftat 12 weeks of
treatment, approximately 40% to 45% of OCA-tregiatients in our Phase 2 trials would have met tDtSE trial primary
endpoint as compared to 5% to 9% of the placelaiddepatients. In addition, 80% of OCA-treatedgudt across our Phase 2
trials had a reduction in ALP levels of at leas¥l@s compared to 13% of placebo-treated patients.

Muonotherapy Trial Combination Trial
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If the POISE trial is successful, we intend to sittam NDA to the FDA for approval of OCA for theeitment of PBC in
the United States and an MAA to the EMA for appramaturope. Based on written scientific advice friiva EMA, we believe
that the EMA will accept our current clinical progras the basis for considering approval of OCARBEC. With respect to the
FDA, we intend to request an accelerated
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approval of OCA based on the acceptance of the B@I&8 primary endpoint as a surrogate endpoiat threasonably likely
to predict clinical benefit. If the FDA grants accalerated approval of OCA, we will be requirecémduct one or more
additional clinical trials post-approval to veréynd confirm the clinical benefit predicted by theregate endpoint. This clinical
outcomes trial must satisfy FDA’s definition of adequate and well-controlled trial and would havbé substantially
underway at the time of the NDA submission and wdad completed after accelerated approval. Wenadescussions with the
FDA about the design of the clinical outcomes taiadl plan to initiate it as early as the secontldf£2013.

A number of published clinical studies have demmst! that lower levels of ALP, both independentiyn conjunction
with normal bilirubin levels, correlate with a sificant reduction in adverse clinical outcomes sasHiver transplant and
death. We believe that one of the key factors @RBA'’s potential acceptance of our POISE triaiany endpoint as a basis
for approval will be the result of additional argilyof the already available PBC clinical outcorata.

We are sponsoring the Global PBC Study Group, wimicblves more than ten leading academic PBC cemeEurope and
North America, that are pooling their long-termigat data to evaluate the relationship betweenhgiogcal and clinical
endpoints. We anticipate final data from at Iea80@ patients will be collected and analyzed asgfahe study. Initial results
for more than 2,100 patients have been acceptagaster presentation at the EASL annual meetinige theld in April 2013.
The data confirms that the POISE trial primary emdphas a highly statistically significant corrigba with liver transplant-free
survival. We anticipate that final results will Beailable by the end of 2013 and will support wivatbelieve is an emerging
consensus among PBC opinion leaders concerningjitiieal utility of our selected surrogate endpoint

An academic consortium in the UK has recently miteld data from a large observational study of 8y@&00 PBC patients
recruited from every hospital in the UK into a PBfSearch cohort. The results show that there ighdyhstatistically
significant correlation between ALP, both alone sogkther with other biochemical parameters sudbilesbin, and clinical
outcomes. Several different threshold values of AldPe tested and it was demonstrated that redwctioALP levels down
through to less than 1.5 times ULN are stronglyfmtéve of clinical benefit.

We believe that the Global PBC Study Group and @kedd PBC research cohort represent the largesti€al datasets
ever assembled to analyze the correlation of bimated therapeutic response with clinical outconmeBBC patients. We
further believe that the analyses already availabigirm the results recently published, or madailatble to us, by four
different members of the Global PBC Study Group (thniversity of Toronto, Mayo Clinic, University &faris and Erasmus
MC (Rotterdam)). These groups have independentipborated that the achievement of an ALP leveke§lthan 1.67 times
ULN, together with a normal bilirubin level, corag¢ with a statistically significant reduction &flr of adverse clinical
outcomes such as liver transplant and death.

Summary of additional preclinical and clinical stes required for regulatory submissions

Based on our interactions with the FDA and EMA, \eédve that, in addition to the successful completf the POISE
trial, we will need to complete the following claail studies prior to our planned NDA and MAA filings

¢ long-term safety extension studies, for whichexpect to submit approximately 650 patient cumwuéagiears of safety
data across all clinical trials;

¢ astudy to evaluate the potential effects anuadi significance of OCA on the lipid profile oafents with PBC;

« aPhase 1 clinical trial in healthy volunteergtaluate the effect of OCA on the heart’s eleatraycle, known as the
QT interval; and

¢ additional clinical pharmacology trials, includirbut not limited to, drug interactions, the eféeof food and drug-
disease interaction studies.

In addition, other nonclinical studies that we widled to complete are carcinogenicity studies mrvdent species, which
were initiated in early 2012, and reproductive ¢tokbgy studies. Finally, before we
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submit an NDA to the FDA, we believe that we witled to be substantially underway with a clinicalcomes trial to confirm
clinical benefit at the time of NDA submission. \&ie in discussions with the FDA about the desigthefclinical outcomes
trial and plan to initiate it as early as the setbalf of 2013. It is possible that the FDA mayuieg that we conduct and/or
complete additional clinical trials and preclinisalidies before it will consider our NDA for appabv

Summary of Completed OCA PBC Clinical Trials
Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Combination Therapy in PBQid¥ds

We have completed a double-blind, placebo-contidiikase 2 clinical trial of OCA in 165 patientsiwiRBC. The trial
evaluated the effects of adding one of three doEECA (10 mg, 25 mg and 50 mg) or placebo to uddHerapy in patients
with ALP levels of higher than 1.5 times ULN whodhaot responded adequately to ursodiol therapyeal®atients continued
their prior ursodiol dose throughout the trial. Thal was comprised of a 12-week treatment pendth a two-week follow up.
At the end of the 12-week treatment period, ak¢hdoses of OCA added to ursodiol therapy prodstibtically significant
reductions in ALP levels as compared with patieetziving placebo plus ursodiol therapy, the pryrerdpoint. OCA-treated
patients demonstrated a mean reduction of 21%%0IB5ALP levels, as compared to patients receiplagebo plus ursodiol
therapy, who exhibited a mean reduction of lesa 8%. At trial entry, the baseline mean ALP valoedll the patient groups
was approximately 2.4 times ULN. In addition, pats&ewho received OCA experienced similar signiftadecreases in other
clinically relevant liver enzymes such as gammaaghyl transferase, or GGT, aspartate transamioageST, alanine
transaminase, or ALT, and bilirubin. Furthermorxusn markers of inflammation and immune response iahproved as seen
in reductions of CRP and IgM, which are closely aggted with autoimmune dysfunction in PBC.

With the exception of a higher incidence of prwsiin the two highest OCA dose groups and a higi@dénce of severe
pruritus in all OCA dose groups, the Phase 2 dinti¢al data showed that adverse events were giyeimilar across all
groups, including the placebo group. Pruritus waseddependent, with the ursodiol plus placebo erad at 50%, ursodiol
plus 10 mg of OCA at 47%, ursodiol plus 25 mg of A& 85% and ursodiol plus 50 mg of OCA at 80%. ldver, the severity
of pruritus and the discontinuation rate due taeseyruritus increased with OCA dose and was wihiae seen with placebo.
There were no other statistically significant siffects observed over the placebo group, excephfior nausea.

Open Label Long-Term Safety and Efficacy Triald@A as Combination Therapy

Following the completion of the double-blind portiof the Phase 2 combination trial described abé8eatients were
enrolled in an open label long-term safety anccaffy extension study, or LTSE. Of these patiergsubsequently
discontinued their participation in the LTSE, taredo pruritus, one due to elevated bilirubin aigihtedue to other adverse
events or for other reasons. There were five seralverse events in the LTSE, of which two occuateebch of the 10 mg and
25 mg doses and one occurred at the 50 mg dose. dfdhe serious adverse events, which were tylpicalated to
hospitalizations for pre-existing conditions, wassidered likely to be related to OCA therapy, aadserious adverse event
was considered to be hepatic in nature.

In the LTSE, patients continued to receive opeBIlI&@CA, increasing from a dose of 10 mg to as laigb0 mg each day.
In patients whose dose was increased, there wesedibof increasing the dose up to 25 mg from X(with an incremental
9% fall in ALP), but not in increasing the dose @b@5 mg. Over two-thirds of the patients wereéased to a dose of OCA of
20 mg or more. Pruritus was the most common adwemset, reported in 68 of the 78 patients (appraxaty 87%). Other
adverse events included fatigue, insomnia and ugsgiratory tract infection, each of which wasared by approximately
13% of the patients in the LTSE.

The chart below demonstrates that patients taki@g @chieved mean reductions in ALP to approximale@7 times ULN
after having been on therapy for three months aaidtained that treatment response throughout adrtmperiod and beyond.
Furthermore, after 12 months, more than 50% opttents had met the Phase 3 POISE trial primadp@int, with a reduction
in ALP levels to below 1.67 times ULN, along withl@east a 15% reduction in ALP, and a normal bilirulevel. Taken
together with the data from our ongoing monotherap$E trial discussed below, we believe that tHEESE phases
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of our Phase 2 trials demonstrate that a largenitajuf patients taking OCA for at least 12 montivith some currently on
therapy for more than 3 years, maintain a durdig#eapeutic response.

Phase 2 Combination Trial LTSE
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Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Monotherapy in PBC Patients

We have completed a 59 patient double-blind, plaezintrolled Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA givenamonotherapy to
patients with PBC. The trial evaluated the eff@ftd0 mg and 50 mg doses of OCA compared to plagepatients with
baseline ALP levels of higher than 1.5 times ULMtiénts either had never taken ursodiol or hadaeh taking ursodiol for at
least 3 months before the start of the trial. Tl Was comprised of a 12-week treatment periath & two-week follow up. At
the end of the 12-week treatment period, statibfisggnificant reductions in ALP were seen in theated patients (38% to 45%
mean ALP reductions compared with no change irptheebo-treated patients). Patients in the 10 nsg dooup experienced
absolute reductions in ALP levels from a mean g@irepimately 3.9 times ULN to approximately 1.9 tenéLN at the end of
the study. Even greater reductions in GGT (63%b8b)/were seen in the OCA-treated groups (compar&&d for placebo-
treated groups). There were also significant impments in ALT levels and bilirubin levels. In adloiit, IgM also improved.
Pruritus was seen more commonly in the patienggecewith OCA, with the incidence, severity anccdigtinuation rate all
increasing with dose; otherwise, the other adveveats were not clearly different across the groups

Ongoing Open Label Long-Term Safety and Efficaig Tor OCA as a Monotherapy

Following the completion of the double-blind portiof the Phase 2 monotherapy trial described atsmrae patients were
given the option to enroll in an open label longtesafety and efficacy extension study, or monathgL TSE. The
monotherapy LTSE phase is currently ongoing. Pttieontinue to receive open label OCA in this phasd have been
increased from a starting dose of 10 mg to as &sgh0 mg.

As of January 31, 2013, 20 patients were continiurirthe monotherapy LTSE, among whom eight patibatsbeen on
OCA therapy for more than three years. Approxinyatallf of the patients are currently taking 20 mgrmre of OCA.
Consistent with the combination trial LTSE, congdumprovements in
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biochemistry have been demonstrated. Pruritusisnibst common adverse event and has been repedethe course of the
monotherapy LTSE in 25 of the 28 subjects (or 8886Wwhom data are available. Other adverse eventade headache,
arthralgia, constipation, fatigue and nausea, whialre been reported in approximately 36%, 32%, Z8%4 and 25% of the
patients, respectively. The chart below demongrihtat patients taking OCA maintained mean redostio ALP to
approximately 1.67 times ULN throughout a 36-mapehiod and beyond. Furthermore, after 12 months,cgimately half of
the patients had met the Phase 3 POISE trial pyieadpoint, with a reduction in ALP levels to bel@v67 times ULN, along
with at least a 15% reduction in ALP, and a norhilubin level. We believe that the LTSE phaseof Phase 2 trials
demonstrate that a large majority of patients gKXCA for at least 12 months, with some currentiytieerapy for more than 3
years, maintain a durable therapeutic response.

Phase 2 Monotherapy Trial LTSE
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Summary of Completed Phase 1 Trials

OCA has been evaluated in two Phase 1 clinicdbttaastudy its safety and pharmacokinetic prdfilbealthy volunteers.
The first was a single ascending dose trial indgjexts testing single OCA doses in the range ah§@o 500 mg. The second
was a multiple ascending dose trial in 50 subjexgttng repeated OCA doses in the range of 25 l2§@amg for 12
consecutive days. Adverse events seen in the Rhaisds were generally mild. Only two adverse dgenpper abdominal pain
and nasopharyngitis, were observed in one subgett im the single ascending dose trial. In the iplelascending dose trial,
doses from 25 mg to 100 mg were generally wellrttl. At the highest dose of 250 mg, ALT and ASdreases were seen,
consistent with our animal toxicology data. Thiselds 25-times greater than the 10 mg dose in@i8P trial and ten-times
greater than the 25 mg dose being tested in owingd’hase 2b trial for NASH, called the FLINT Lridalf of the subjects in
the 250 mg dosing group reported mild pruritus ane discontinued due to a rash.

Additional Potential Clinical Indications for OCA

Based on the potential protective effects of OChimliver, we are conducting clinical trials indgtibnal chronic liver
disease indications with potential greater markgtootunities, with the view of expanding OCA'’s tapeutic applications.
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Potential Use of OCA to Treat Portal Hypertension

A study in an animal model of cirrhosis showed B&A treatment can acutely reverse portal hypeigderthrough a
localized vasodilatory mechanism that is independéits longer term anti-fibrotic effects. Portatpertension results from
increased pressure in the portal vein, which feedst of the blood supply to the liver. The condittgpically occurs as the
liver becomes cirrhotic and more rigid, therebyedffg more resistance to blood inflow from the pbvein. Many patients with
liver cirrhosis go on to develop portal hypertensiwhich is a common cause of morbidity and mdstait the end stage of all
chronic liver diseases. An early manifestation aftal hypertension is the development of esophageates, which are
distended and weakened veins in the lower patt@esophagus that can burst and cause catasttdpbding. More than 40%
of patients with cirrhosis have varices at the tohdiagnosis. The standard assessment of pon@ugepressure is to measure
the hepatic venous pressure gradient, or HVPGgchmnidally significant portal hypertension is defithas an HVPG of greater
than ten millimeters of mercury, or mm Hg, where ¢m five mm Hg HVPG is considered normal. Patievita an HVPG of
greater than 12 mm Hg are at particularly high askariceal bleeding, with each episode carrying@pproximately 20%
mortality risk. There are no approved therapiegHertreatment of portal hypertension, althougla idckers are commonly
used to treat patients. However, they are effedtivanly 25% to 33% of patients and have signiftcsafety issues in patients
with portal hypertension. Among other concernsalidockers lower systemic blood pressure in thesemts who already tend
to have low blood pressure, or hypotension, whigltligposes them to fainting and inadequate bloddigien of vital organs.

Phase 2 Trial for Portal Hypertension

It has been shown clinically that reducing pressutée portal vein, as determined by HVPG measergntan lower the
risk of adverse outcomes such as the incidencarideal bleeding. We therefore believe that HVP@uotion is an appropriate
therapeutic endpoint to demonstrate clinical prafetoncept in patients with portal hypertension.

We are currently conducting an open label Phageélaf OCA, called the PESTO trial, in patienti&iwalcoholic liver
cirrhosis and portal hypertension in order to eztithe ability of OCA to reduce HVPG in patienithvend-stage liver
disease. The primary endpoint of the trial is #uction of HVPG after seven days of treatment® br more, or to less than
12 mm Hg, a level at which the risk of adverseicihoutcomes has been shown to be significantlyced. We presented
results from a 10 mg dose group of the PESTOadtiethe 2012 AASLD annual meeting. The results ftbenfirst 10 mg dose
group showed that OCA was well tolerated in alllti@epatients in the trial and five of eight patemtho underwent portal
circulation pressure assessments met the primicaef endpoint. A sixth patient experienced sligitore than a 14%
reduction in HVPG. Importantly, patients who respet to OCA therapy with a reduction in HVPG did arperience a
concomitant reduction in systemic blood pressure.

The PESTO trial is ongoing with a 25 mg dose of Qstrently being evaluated and another 10 mg domepgoeing tested
at a second center. We anticipate completing takitrthe fourth quarter of 2013. We are utilizithg safety data from the
PESTO trial to supplement our safety data set domptanned NDA and MAA filings for PBC to includeetlevaluation of OCA
in patients with end-stage liver disease. If th&P@ trial supports the further development of OGAthe treatment of portal
hypertension, we intend to initiate a placebo-adlgd, randomized Phase 2 clinical trial in patsewith portal hypertension for
a longer treatment period. However, we will needaoure funding to continue to advance OCA beybatigoint for this
indication.

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Nonalcoholic Steatqiaditis (NASH)

FXR activation has been shown to play a key rohéregulation of the metabolic pathways reletalASH,
highlighting FXR as a potential drug target foratraent of the disease. Nonalcoholic fatty liveedise, or NAFLD, is believed
to be the most common chronic liver disease wodévénd we believe that more than 75 million pasieme affected in the
United States alone. The disease is associatedtvettWestern diet, which is rich in processed faweils high fat and sugar
content. NAFLD can lead to excessive fat accumaiaith the liver, insulin resistance and increasskl of developing
metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes and cardiolasdisease. A subset of approximately 30% of NARiddients develop
NASH,
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which is a more serious liver disease. In thesemiast for reasons that are still not completelglerstood, the fat build-up in the
liver induces chronic inflammation which leads togressive fibrosis that can lead to cirrhosis laret failure.

NASH is currently diagnosed by liver biopsy. Stedave shown that at least 15% of NASH patientisdeielop liver
cirrhosis over a ten to 15 year period. In the &thiBtates, the most recent epidemiological studige concluded that more
than 12% of the general population has NASH, wédproximately 2.7%, or more than eight million pats, have advanced
liver fibrosis or cirrhosis due to the diseasethi@ past decade, the proportion of liver transplatiributed to NASH increased
from 1% to 10%, establishing NASH as the third Iegdand a rapidly increasing indication for livearisplant in the United
States. The epidemiological data from other devedamuntries in Europe and Japan are similar, ak@&HNhas also become a
highly prevalent liver disease in developing coiastsuch as India and China.

There are currently no drugs approved for the tneat of NAFLD or NASH. It has been reported tha2@10, there were
approximately $615 million in off-label sales ofricus therapeutics for the treatment of NASH, saslinsulin sensitizers (e.g.,
metformin), antihyperlipidemic agents (e.g., gemditl), pentoxifylline and ursodiol. Lifestyle chges and exercise to reduce
body weight and treatment of concomitant diabetesdyslipidemia are accepted as the standard efta#irhave not
conclusively been shown to prevent disease proigress

Ongoing Phase 2 Trial for NASH

OCA is currently being tested in a Phase 2b NASH, tralled the FLINT trial, which is testing a #%g single daily dose of
OCA versus placebo in 280 patients with NASH. Weespponsoring the FLINT trial in collaboration witie U.S. National
Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Bss#s, or NIDDK, which oversees a clinical reseamtivork of eight leading
NASH centers in the United States. The NIDDK sukedian IND to the FDA for OCA for the treatmentNdASH in 2010. The
primary endpoint in the 72-week double-blind FLINiRI is based on liver biopsy and is defined asmgrovement of two or
more points in the NAFLD activity score (a systefhseoring the histopathological features in thetjwvith no worsening of
liver fibrosis. The NIDDK is providing the majoriyf funding for the trial.

In June 2012, the NIDDK's data and safety monitpiiard, or DSMB, for the FLINT trial completed aterim analysis
and recommended that the trial should continueasalata from 101 patients who had completedast 24 weeks and up to
15 months of the trial. The interim analysis revéeMthe change from baseline in ALT levels as tfiealy criterion variable
and all available safety data. Based on the recardat®n of the DSMB, the NIDDK steering committeeided to continue
the FLINT trial.

In November 2012, the NIDDK completed enrolimentref FLINT trial, achieving the target of 280 patifor this trial.
We anticipate that final results will be availabidate 2014. If this trial supports the furthevdipment of OCA as a treatment
for NASH, we anticipate that we will need to secadelitional funding to advance OCA for this indioat

In addition, our collaborator DSP has initiateceasd Phase 2 NASH trial in Japan. This trial ileating the efficacy and
safety of a once-daily dose of OCA as comparedaogbo, with a targeted enrollment of 200 patiefikss trial is anticipated
to be completed in the first half of 2016.

Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Therapy in Type 2 Diabetitiétds with NAFLD

We have also completed a Phase 2 clinical tri@®GA in 64 type 2 diabetic patients with NAFLD. Thisuble-blind,
placebo-controlled trial tested 25 mg and 50 mgdadg OCA over a six-week period and assessedfieieof OCA on
insulin sensitivity. The trial demonstrated that®tBerapy significantly improved insulin sensitivivoth in the liver and
peripheral tissues, thereby meeting the primaryeimd in the trial. Significant improvements in \ght loss and reductions in
liver enzymes such as GGT and ALT were also ndikd.trial also showed that OCA was well-toleratgdhe trial patients,
with side effects no different than those repodeglacebo (apart from mild constipation in thend group).

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Bile Acid Diarrhea

In July 2012, investigators at the Imperial Collegé.ondon initiated enrollment of an open labebBé 2a trial, called the
OBADIAH trial, to investigate whether OCA can stilate fibroblast growth factor 19, or FGF19, in pats with PBAD.
PBAD, also known as idiopathic bile acid malabsorptis a common
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chronic diarrheal condition due to excessive biiel #0ss. PBAD is estimated to affect approximatatg percent of the
population and about one-third of patients diagdasi¢h diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndsgrar IBS-D. Prior
studies have shown these patients have low le¥&i&B19, a protein hormone released by the ileurdeu FXR control, which
suppresses bile acid production by the liver. Eseilting excess bile acids spill into the intestireere they produce diarrhea
by stimulating intestinal secretion. FGF19 is sysibed in the small intestine under the direct letgan of FXR and we have
shown in all three of our completed Phase 2 ttteds OCA markedly stimulates the release of FGF19.

The primary outcome measure of the OBADIAH trialdsassess the change in FGF19 levels and symputorassover a
two-week period in ten patients with PBAD and imteontrol groups, one enrolling patients with setzog bile acid diarrhea
due to Crohn’s disease and the other enrolling IBfgatients who have normal FGF19 levels. The Ingb&ollege of London
is acting as the sponsor of the OBADIAH trial. Tihiéial results from this trial in the PBAD groughonstrate that treatment
with OCA is associated with a statistically sigcéfint improvement in clinical symptoms and level§6#19. An abstract based
on initial results in the PBAD group from this syugtas accepted for presentation at the Digestise&es Week annual
conference in May 2013. We currently anticipate thatenroliment for the OBADIAH trial will be comgtied in mid-2013 and
that final results for all three study groups Wil available in the second half of 2013. If thialtsupports the further
development of OCA as a treatment for PBAD, wecgpdite that we will need to secure additional fagdio advance OCA for
this indication.

Other OCA Clinical Trials

The Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Sweden enspring and has initiated a Phase 2a pharmacodgtidah of OCA in
patients undergoing bariatric surgery or gallstemeyery, or the OCABSGS trial. The primary purpofthe trial is to evaluate
the effects of OCA on bile acid, lipid and gluc@smover in 20 morbidly obese patients and 20 gaiks patients who will be
administered a 25 mg dose of OCA once daily foedhweeks prior to undergoing bariatric and galistsurgery, respectively.
We anticipate that the OCABSGS trial will be contptein 2014.

Other Potential Indications for OCA

We believe that OCA may have potential therapeajlication in other chronic diseases such as B8@her autoimmune
cholestatic liver disease; inflammatory bowel dssgancluding Crohn’s disease and/or ulcerativéispbiliary atresia, a
pediatric disease characterized by deficient hilet development; and Alagille Syndrome, a very gameetic disorder that
affects the liver and other organs. We anticipa# we will need to secure additional funding fog advancement of OCA for
any of these indications.

Potential Future Product Candidates

In addition to OCA, we have other novel bile aamhi@g compounds targeting FXR and a second deditéiteacid
receptor called TGR5, which is a target of intefesthe treatment of type 2 diabetes. We intendotatinue advancing these
and other product candidates as we build our pipelh some cases subject to the procurement d@i@uhd funding.

INT-767

INT-767 is an orally administered dual FXR and TGRf@nist that, like OCA, is derived from the primhuman bile acid
CDCA. This product candidate has been shown tgpeoaimately five-times more potent than OCA ag=iR agonist. In
animal models of chronic liver, intestinal and legirdiseases, INT-767 has consistently demonstgagater anti-fibrotic and
anti-inflammatory effects than OCA. We own exclesiworldwide, royalty-free rights to INT-767.

We currently plan to advance INT-767 through thecpinical studies required to support the advancermkthis product
candidate to an IND, with an intended focus on ®ping it as a novel treatment for chronic kidnéseases, such as diabetic
nephropathy, that involve progressive fibrosis iegdo kidney failure. If the preclinical and Phdselinical data support the
advancement of INT-767 into Phase 2 clinical triale anticipate that we will need to secure add#ldunding for the further
development of this compound.
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INT-777

INT-777 is an orally administered TGR5 agonist featerived from the primary human bile acid chalgid. We have
completed the preclinical studies necessary fofiling of an IND. We own exclusive worldwide, rdyafree rights to INT-
777. In order to advance this product candidate éfihical trials, we will need to secure additibhanding and may seek a
strategic collaborator.

Our in vitro studies of INT-777 showed that thedqurot candidate has the potential to selectivelyelaf GR5, a receptor
that has been shown to directly regulate the rele&glucagon like peptide-1, or GLP-1, in the gtitge with resulting insulin
sensitizing effects. There are several importadtedfective marketed drugs that enhance the eftdd®_P-1 through different
mechanisms, but none are able to induce the endaggmoduction of this hormone, and we believedli®interest in the
potential for a TGR5 agonist to provide additivediés. TGR5 has also been shown in animal modelsgulate other
metabolic pathways in brown fat and skeletal musw¢ drive energy expenditure. The receptor mag play a role in the
control of inflammation, which is increased in ifisuesistant diabetic conditions.

In animal models of diabetes, treatment with INT~Mduced GLP-1 secretion, with resulting insukmsitivity and
normalization of glycemic control, increased bas@rgy expenditure and prevention of weight gaid, areduction in blood
lipid levels together with liver steatosis and @ibis. We believe that these preclinical resultdctsupport further development
of INT-777 and our other TGR5 agonists in the tresit of type 2 diabetes and associated metabalicdirs.

Strategic Collaborations and Research Arrangements

Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma

On March 29, 2011, we entered into a license agreewith Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co. Ltd., undéioh we
granted DSP an exclusive license to research, ole\eld commercialize OCA as a therapeutic forrettnent of PBC and
NASH in Japan and China (excluding Taiwan). Unlerterms of the agreement, DSP is required to aisenercially
reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize @Crapan and China for the treatment of PBC an&NAand we are
obligated under the agreement to use commercigdlganable efforts to develop OCA outside of JapdanCGhina. DSP has
agreed during the term of the agreement to not cemtialize any compound that is a FXR agonist far inshe treatment of
PBC or NASH other than pursuant to the agreement.

We granted DSP an option under the agreement &noaih exclusive license to commercialize OCA fali¢ations other
than PBC and NASH on the same terms as are shtifotthe agreement. DSP may exercise this optidin kgspect to any
indication at any time during the two-year peri@intnencing on the date we notify DSP of the commeece of a Phase 3
clinical trial involving OCA for such indicationubject to DSP’s payment of an option fee for eaddtiteonal indication. No
option fee is required to be paid by DSP if it eXses its option for any additional indication omyChina.

We also granted DSP an option under the agreemetd Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Vietnam, the Philiggi, Thailand,
Singapore and/or Indonesia to its exclusive licarsthe same terms as are set forth in the agraeB8R may exercise this
option with respect to any such country at any tirpaintil the date on which regulatory approvatéonmercialize OCA is
granted in Japan, subject to DSP’s payment of &inrofee for each country. We may not offer rigtatsa third party to develop
and commercialize OCA in any of these countriesafoegreed upon time period, and, if after thig dat accept or make a
bona fide offer of exclusive rights to a third yaid develop and commercialize OCA in any of thementries, we must first
notify DSP and DSP has the right to exercise iteoapwith respect to any such country. In additiprior to accepting or
making a bona fide offer of any exclusive developt@nd commercialization rights involving OCA iretbinited States and
Canada to a third party, we must first engage oddaith negotiations with DSP with respect to gnant to DSP of exclusive
rights to develop and commercialize OCA in suchntoes.

DSP made an up-front payment to us in the amou$156f0 million upon execution of the agreementddition, DSP may
be required to pay us up to an aggregate of appaiely $30.0 million for the achievement of develgmt milestones, $70.0
million for the achievement of regulatory appromalestones and $200.0 million for the achievemérsiates milestones based
on aggregate sales amounts. DSP is also
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obligated to pay us tiered royalties ranging fréva tens to the twenties in percent based on neg shlOCA products in Japan
and the other Asian countries covered by this agese. The term of the agreement, and DSP’s obtigab pay royalties to us
for each OCA product, expires on a country-by-coubtsis on the later of the expiration of the egility period in such
country, whether through the expiration of appliegiatents or the introduction of generic drugs doenpete with the OCA
product, or ten years after the first commercitd s such OCA product for the first or second @adion in that country.
Royalty rates are subject to reduction under theagent in specified circumstances, including, \wépect to any country in
the exclusive territory, if sales of generic progueach a certain threshold market share in thattcy over a specified period.

DSP may terminate the agreement in its entiretynos country-by-country or indication by indicatibasis upon 90 days’
written notice. Either we or DSP may terminatedgeeement in the event of the uncured materialchrbg or bankruptcy of
the other party, subject to certain dispute regmiyprocedures. If DSP were to terminate the ageserior our material breach,
it would have a perpetual license following theeefive date of termination, subject to the payngnbDSP of a royalty based
on net sales of OCA products, the amount of whighdspend on whether the effective date of termioraoccurs prior to or
after the date of first commercial sale of an OGaédulct. If we were to terminate the agreement f8PB3 material breach or if
DSP were to voluntarily terminate the agreemenfB3dcense under the agreement would terminate.

Les Laboratories Servier and Institut de Recherctgsrvier

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a research,ldewent, license and commercialization agreemettt kés
Laboratories Servier and Institut De Recherchesi&gior Servier, under which we granted Serviergkclusive license to
research, develop and commercialize novel TGR5iatgofother than INT-767 and INT-777) for use ia treatment of
diabetes, obesity, atherosclerosis and reperfusjory in all countries other than the United Staéamd Japan, and Servier
granted us an exclusive royalty-free license teassh and develop such compounds for use in thenient of diabetes,
obesity, atherosclerosis and reperfusion injuthéUnited States and Japan. Under the terms @fgre=ment, Servier is
required to use commercially reasonable effortdeteelop compounds outside the United States arahJaml we are required
to use commercially reasonable efforts to devetwpgounds in the United States and Japan.

We are obligated to conduct and are conductingeareh program under the agreement to identifyoptichize compounds
that meet certain specified criteria sufficient fiarther development by Servier. The initial terfritee research program is one
year, subject to extension by mutual agreementai®@bligated under the agreement to provide Semite a specified
number of full time equivalent employees for thee@ch program up to a specified maximum per yealuly 2012 and again
in February 2013, we entered into amendments scetipieement to extend the term of the researchigamgvhich now expires
on July 31, 2013, on the same financial terms a®tlyinal research program, including the reimborent by Servier of the
full time equivalent costs incurred by us in theduact of the research program, up to a set maxiemnount.

Servier has agreed to pay for the development egestsr Servier incur in conducting certain predaiitrials and clinical
trials with respect to any compound that meetsipdariteria. We have agreed to reimburse Seneto a mid-double digit
percentage of the total historical developmentscimgturred by Servier in relation to clinical dey@nent activities aimed at
achieving regulatory approval in the European Urgind the United States if we enter into a partnpragreement, or
commence development or commercialization act&itie our own, with respect to a compound in theddnStates. Servier
may credit a portion of any such reimbursable dgwalent costs against any milestone or royalty paysngue and payable by
Servier under the agreement until all such reimdtlesamounts are repaid. We have not incurred acty development costs
since inception, and we do not anticipate incureing such development costs during fiscal 201adutition, if we enter into a
partnership agreement with respect to a compouwelaiged under the agreement solely in Japan, wé&ander have agreed
to enter into good faith negotiations regardingtdrens and conditions applicable to the reimburserobdevelopment costs. If
we do not enter into a partnership agreement \epect to the compound in the United States omJafihin three years from
the date regulatory approval is received for a ammpl in the European Union, Servier will have tingt fight to negotiate with
us regarding the terms and conditions applicabteeéayrant to Servier of an exclusive license teetlgp and commercialize the
product in the United States and/or Japan.
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We have the right to conduct clinical trials andait regulatory approvals involving compounds depetl under the
agreement at our sole expense in the United Statedapan, and Servier has the right to condugtalitrials and obtain
regulatory approvals involving compounds developeder the agreement at its sole expense in alf cthentries. We and
Servier have agreed during the term of the resqanadram not to research or develop any TGR5 agani$ during the term
of the agreement, not to commercialize any TGRS &gcovered by the agreement other than pursoahetagreement.
However, this provision does not restrict us froeweloping INT-767 and INT-777.

Servier has made an up-front payment to us initheuat of €1.0 million upon execution of the agreatrand has agreed to
reimburse us for a portion of the full time equéesa costs incurred by us in the conduct of theaneseprogram, up to a set
maximum amount. In addition, Servier may be requtcepay us up to an aggregate of approximately g8llion for the
achievement of development milestones, €10.0 mifiay the achievement of regulatory submission @pgloval milestones
and €90.0 million for the achievement of sales stdaes based on aggregate sales amounts. Serigo isbligated to pay us
tiered single digit percentage royalties basedeirsales of products developed under the agreesnestountry-by-country
basis. Servier's obligation to pay royalties focke@roduct expires on a country-by-country bassnuje later of the expiration
of the last to expire patent licensed by us thaecothe product and ten years from the date stff émmmercial sale of that
product. Royalty rates are subject to reductiorenide agreement in specified circumstances, inmududith respect to any
country if sales of generic products reach a aettaieshold in that country.

The agreement expires when no payment obligatimnerawill become due. Servier may terminate theagent at any
time for any reason or if we consummate a changewtrol transaction. Either we or Servier may teate the agreement in
the event of the uncured material breach or insmly®f the other party. Upon the termination of sigeeement by Servier for
our material breach or insolvency, Servier maytsatlection, have its license from us under theagent become perpetual
and royalty-free following the effective date ofrteénation. Upon termination of the agreement bygemwithout cause, we
will maintain our rights to the technology licengedServier outside of the United States and JaparServier will pay us the
balance of any unpaid funding under the researaram. Upon the termination of the agreement bfpuServier's material
breach or insolvency, we may, at our election, fmwdicense from Servier under the agreement beqmenpetual following
the effective date of termination.

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive anddfiey Diseases

In July 2010, we entered into a cooperative re$eand development agreement, or CRADA, with the DKDa division
within the National Institutes of Health, to contloar ongoing Phase 2b FLINT trial for the treattneNASH with OCA. In
June 2012, the DSMB for the FLINT trial completedirterim analysis and recommended that the trialkhcontinue based
on data from 101 patients who had completed at Bhweeks and up to 15 months of the trial. Therim analysis reviewed
the change from baseline in ALT levels as the affjccriterion variable and all available safetyaddte primary endpoint of
the FLINT trial is based on liver biopsy. Basedtiba recommendation of the DSMB, the NIDDK steeringhmittee decided to
continue the FLINT trial. In November 2012, the NOR completed enroliment of the FLINT trial, achiagithe target of 280
NASH patients for this trial.

The NIDDK is providing the majority of funding fdhe trial. In accordance with the terms of the CR\We have made
payments of $3.0 million to date and no furtherrpeyts are required under the agreement.

Under the terms of the CRADA, any inventions urttier CRADA will be owned by the party that produsedh
inventions. However, any inventions jointly deveddpby the parties will be jointly owned. We willvgathe first opportunity to
file patent applications in respect of any joirdgveloped inventions under the CRADA. If we do exxércise our rights, the
NIDDK will be able to file a patent application iespect of such inventions.

The CRADA provides that we have an exclusive opt@man exclusive or nonexclusive commercializatioense on any
inventions made solely by the NIDDK under the CRADOAe U.S. government has also been granted a widegl
nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paidiagnse in
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respect of any subject inventions under the CRADAuding inventions made solely by us to the ektkat such license is for
research or other government purposes.

The CRADA has a term of four years, ending in 20¢4. The parties to the CRADA may terminate thédDR by mutual
written consent. Either party may terminate the CRAat any time by providing 60 days prior writteatice to the other party.
However, if we unilaterally terminate the CRADAgtNIDDK may be entitled to retain any funds transfé to the NIDDK
under the CRADA and, unless the termination wasédety reasons, we may be required to supplycserfii quantities of OCA
and placebos to complete the trial. We have agitegdhe NIDDK may continue developing OCA if wespand the
development of OCA without transferring our develegmt efforts, assets and obligations to a thirdypaithin 90 days of
discontinuation. In such circumstances, we woud &le required to grant a nonexclusive, irrevoceloiddwide, paid up
license for any of our inventions relating to OG®#,manufacture and any method of use of OCA fertthatment of NASH,
including the right to sublicense.

If the FLINT trial supports the further developmeftOCA for NASH, we anticipate that we will neexigecure additional
funding for the further development of OCA in NASH.

University of Perugia and Professor Roberto Peliiag

On January 1, 2012, we entered into a sponsorednasagreement with the University of PerugiaRrafessor Roberto
Pellicciari, whom we refer to as the Research artb research and realize improvements to theepsdfor synthesizing and
supplying gram scale reference standard quantgfiexCA, INT-767 and INT-777. Professor Pelliccisrione of our founders.

Pursuant to this agreement, we are obligated tahmainiversity of Perugia an aggregate of €80M@Gng the term of the
agreement in quarterly installments of €20,000.

Under the terms of the sponsored research agreeweliiave been assigned all rights, title and éstein patent rights and
technology upon creation related to the researofeqt; effective as of the date of creation. Weehtne right and final decision-
making ability as to the filing, prosecution or mizinance of all patents or patent applications wogeny patent rights or
technology developed through the agreement. ThedRels Parties are required to promptly and fulfcldise to us in writing
any invention conceived and/or reduced to pradtithe conduct of the agreement. Under the terntBeoigreement, we have
a right of first refusal to negotiate terms to exghghe agreement prior to the end of its term,pamurenewal, to include certain
other research programs.

The sponsored research agreement has a term geanéom the date of execution. Since the exmiratif the previous
term on December 31, 2012, we have been ascedaininspecific requirements concerning the suppleaain reference
standards relating to OCA, INT-767 and INT-777 aredare currently negotiating a revised agreemeptduide for their
supply. Either we or the Research Parties may textaithe agreement in the event of the uncuredriaiddeeach of the other
party after receipt of notice in writing of suckebch from the other party. If the agreement is itgted by the Research Parties
for a material breach by us during any quarterlygok the agreement provides that the ResearcieRavill be entitled to all
rights, title and interest in and to the pateniitsgand technology created and assigned to usgdila quarterly period. If the
agreement is terminated by us for a material brégdhe Research Parties, the agreement providésalttfunds paid by us to
the Research Parties not expended or irrevocabiyritied upon the effective date of termination Wil refunded to us. Also,
Professor Pellicciari will be required to returhrabterials and tangible documentation containioigfidential information. We
may also terminate the agreement if Professordellii is unable or unwilling to continue to contitesearch or otherwise
perform his obligations under the agreement.

TES Pharma Srl

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a research amelapment agreement with TES Pharma Srl, or T&&phduct
research and development activities for our TGRIgf@m. The research program is managed by ProfBsgmrto Pellicciari,
who is an owner of TES.

We are required under the agreement to pay TEggmegate amount of €250,000 each quarter duringethe of the
agreement. Payments will be made on a quarterig.bEse agreement provides that any funds paid8® that have not been
expended or irrevocably committed will be refundeds.
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Under the terms of the agreement, any inventiogated in connection with the activities performeder the agreement
will be our sole and exclusive property and algoral works of authorship made by TES within thepee of the project that are
protectable by copyright are works made for hifeSThas agreed to assign to us all of its rightestand interests in all
inventions and other intellectual property rightsler the agreement.

The agreement has a term of one year unless wey isole discretion, extend the term of this ages@rfor one additional
year on the same terms and conditions as the ¢wargeeement. In July 2012 and February 2013, weredtinto amendments to
extend the term of this agreement, which now esgire July 31, 2013, in conjunction with the extensf the term of our
research program with Servier, on the same finaterias as our original agreement with TES. Eitlveror TES may terminate
the agreement in the event of an uncured mategalch after receipt of written notice in of suchdwh from the other party. If
we terminate the agreement for a material breachit$y, any funds paid to TES that have not beenredgztor irrevocably
committed by them will be returned to us. TES soalbligated to deliver to us all remaining compsiand tangible
documentation containing confidential informatiqron our request. If the agreement is terminate@d®y for a material
breach by us, TES is entitled to the balance ofrfamts owed to them once the appropriate quarteplgris have been
submitted to us.

Consulting Agreements with Professor Pellicciari
Servier TGR5 Agonists

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a consultingeagent with Professor Roberto Pellicciari to prewdientific guidance
for a research program relating to selective orselective TGR5 agonists to be undertaken by TES@supervise and
coordinate this research program. Professor Pigltiogill also act as our designated representaiiva joint steering
committee formed pursuant to our collaboration egrent with Servier.

The agreement provides that Professor Pelliccidrr@ceive compensation at an annual rate of €1@Dfor his services
during the term of the agreement in quarterly itwtents of €37,500. The agreement also providesRhafessor Pellicciari will
be eligible for a €50,000 performance bonus baseth® success of the research collaboration. THerpgance bonus is a
discretionary bonus based upon our assessmenrg stititess of the initial work performed under thiéaboration, as extended.
No such bonus has been agreed upon by the pastad<ecember 31, 2012.

Under the terms of the agreement, all inventioesiterd in connection with the activities performeder the agreement are
our sole and exclusive property and all originatkgoof authorship made by Professor Pellicciari #ra protectable by
copyright are works made for hire. Professor PaHic has also assigned to us all rights, title emerest in all inventions and
any other intellectual property rights created uride agreement from January 1, 2011 through tHeoéits term. Professor
Pellicciari must provide timely written notice afiyainventions that he develops during the ternhefagreement.

The agreement has a term of one year. Howeveunratabe discretion, we may extend the term of treement by one
additional year. In July 2012 and February 2013emered into amendments to extend the term oftirieement, which now
expires on July 31, 2013, in conjunction with tixéeesion of the term of our research program wéhv/@r, on the same
financial terms as our original consulting agreetwath Professor Pellicciari. Either we or ProfesBellicciari may terminate
the agreement in the event of a material breachdwyther party that is not remedied within 30 dafysr receipt of written
notice of such breach from the other party.

OCA, INT-767 and INT-777

On January 1, 2012, we entered into a consultingesgent with Professor Pellicciari to provide stifenguidance for our
research program relating to OCA, INT-767 and INI-&nd to supervise and coordinate this reseacgrgm.

The agreement provides that Professor Pelliccidirfr@ceive compensation at an annual rate of €1@Dfor his services
during the term of the agreement in quarterly ihstents of €25,000.
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Under the terms of the agreement, all inventioesiterd in connection with the activities performeder the agreement are
our sole and exclusive property and all originatkgoof authorship made by Professor Pellicciari #ra protectable by
copyright are works made for hire. Professor PaHic has also assigned to us all rights, title emerest in all inventions and
any other intellectual property rights created uride agreement. Professor Pellicciari must protiidely written notice of any
inventions that he develops during the term ofapeeement.

The agreement has a term of one year. Howeveuratabe discretion, we may extend the term of time@ment by one
additional year. We are currently contemplatingekiension of this agreement in conjunction with megotiations with
Professor Pellicciari and the University of Perugigarding the revised agreement to supply us efdgrence standards relating
to OCA, INT-767 and INT-777. Either we or ProfesBailicciari may terminate the agreement in thenewé a material breach
by the other party that is not remedied within 3@<lafter receipt of written notice of such bresom the other party.

WIL Research Laboratories, LLC

On October 2, 2007, we entered into a master lafngraervices agreement with WIL Research Laboiegpt.LC, or WIL,
to perform certain research and laboratory servitks agreement was amended on October 28, 2011.

On November 16, 2011, we finalized work orders With. for the FDA-required studies in mice and ratsnvestigate the
presence or absence of carcinogenic potential &.Q0@e have agreed to pay WIL an aggregate of $4lliomfor the studies,
consisting of a combination of quarterly installrhpayments of approximately $300,000 and milesfmmgnents totaling
approximately $400,000 upon delivery of final résaports. If additional costs are incurred beythmlamounts specified in the
work orders, we have agreed to pay such reasoadbigonal costs upon receipt of proper invoice. &décipate that the
studies will continue through completion, all miteses will be satisfied and that we will pay to Wdh aggregate of $4.0
million under this agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, we own all wooklpct and data prepared or generated by WIL ircthese of its
services, assuming our payment of all required ansospecified in the contract. We have no propegtyts in WIL's
intellectual property.

The agreement has a term ending on October 2, ¥Hi8h automatically extends for successive one pedods, unless
either party gives written notice to the other pattleast 60 days prior to the end of the curtemm. Either we or WIL may
terminate the agreement upon 90 days written ndtogvever, if a work order pertaining to the ongpstudies is outstanding,
WIL may not terminate the agreement with 90 dayitewr notice until the work order has been completeotherwise
terminated.

Commercialization

Given our stage of development, we have not y#t &dtablished a commercial organization or distiin capabilities. In
the United States and Europe, due to the rareenafd?BC and the limited options for treatmentjgrds suffering from PBC
and their physicians often have a high degreegdrirzation and are well informed, which may makeaiier to identify target
populations if and when OCA is approved. The mafixethe treatment of PBC is a specialty care madkieen by key opinion
leaders. Most patients with PBC are treated at iddmumber of academic centers or otherwise bgiplans who specialize
in the treatment of liver disease. If OCA is apm@Yor the treatment of patients with PBC, we heithat it will be possible to
commercialize OCA for this indication with a relatly small specialty sales force that calls omatéd and focused group of
physicians.

Our current plan is to commercialize OCA for PBCsalves in the United States and Europe if it jgraped. We have
started the initial phase of assessing our com@alestriategy. We anticipate that our commerciala@agfforts will include both
our internal commercial organization and contre@hbursement specialists, sales people and mesticahtion specialists, and
other outside resources. Outside of the UniteceStaind Europe, subject to obtaining necessary tiragkagpprovals, we likely
will seek to commercialize OCA through distributionother collaboration arrangements for PBC. Assallt of our ongoing
clinical work, we have been engaged in dialogué wtecialists who treat patients with PBC. We belignat these activities
have provided us with a growing knowledge of thggitians we plan to target for commercial
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launch of OCA for PBC, subject to marketing apptdnahe United States and Europe. In March 2011ewausively licensed
rights to OCA to DSP in Japan and China, along aitloption to expand this exclusive license inttade other Asian
countries. If we pursue approval for OCA in morevaient liver diseases such as NASH, we would fdato so selectively
either on our own or by establishing collaboratiwsiih one or more pharmaceutical companies.

Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizethbynse competition and rapid innovation. Althowgh believe that we
hold a leading position in bile acid chemistry, campetitors may be able to develop other compoondsugs that are able to
achieve similar or better results. Our potentiahpetitors include major multinational pharmaceuteampanies, established
biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceutimaipanies and universities and other researchuitistis. Smaller or early-
stage companies may also prove to be significampetitors, particularly through collaborative agaments with large,
established companies. We believe the key compefitictors that will affect the development and owarcial success of our
product candidates are efficacy, safety and toliaprofile, reliability, convenience of dosingrice and reimbursement.

Our most advanced product candidate, OCA, is ctlyréring developed as a second line treatmerfPBE. Currently,
ursodiol is the only therapy that is approved Far treatment of PBC. Although there are currentlpther drugs approved for
the treatment of PBC, we are aware of other congaimicluding Eli Lilly, Exelixis, Inc. and Phen&harmaceuticals AG that
have FXR agonists in Phase 1 or earlier stageeegfipical development that could be used to tRBE and the other liver
diseases we are targeting. In addition, Johnsoohfasbn and Novimmune SA are each currently comuilgi®hase 2a proof-of-
concept open label clinical trials of monoclondilamdies as potential treatments for PBC. Findlly, Falk Pharma GmbH,
which markets ursodiol, is conducting a Phaser8aal trial of combination ursodiol and budesonideteroid, as a treatment
for PBC.

For the treatment of portal hypertension, the éhérapeutic products available are beta blockengwclinical studies
have shown are effective only in approximately 26%83% of patients, while having significant safestyues. We are aware of
only one other company, Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, whia$ a new product candidate in Phase 2 clinicaldpment for the
treatment of portal hypertension.

There are currently no therapeutic products apptéoethe treatment of NASH or NAFLD. There are esed marketed
therapeutics that are currently used off labetliertreatment of NASH, such as insulin sensitizerg., metformin),
antihyperlipidemic agents (e.g., gemfibrozil), pediflylline and ursodiol, but none has been cleaHgwn in clinical trials to
alter the course of the disease. We are awarevefalecompanies that have product candidates isd”halinical development
for the treatment of NASH, including Dr. Falk Phar@&mbH, Galmed Medical Research Ltd., Immuron INth¢hida
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., NasVax Ltd. and RaptarRiaceutical Corp., and there are other comparitescandidates in
earlier stage programs. In addition, it is possib& one or more of the FXR agonist product caateisl mentioned above that
are being developed by our competitors could bd fmethe treatment of NASH.

For the treatment of PBAD, bile acid binding ressosh as cholestyramine are currently used asrtlyeawailable targeted
therapy. Patients with this disease represent sesulb patients diagnosed with IBS-D, and we ararawf several companies
with product candidates in Phase 2 or 3 clinicakdtgoment for the treatment of IBS-D, including élis Pharma US, Inc.,
AstraZeneca, Salix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and TRigermaceuticals, Inc. In addition, there are séwveaaketed products
indicated for the treatment of IBS-D, including €3&mithKline's Lotronex and the over-the-countesdarct Imodium.

We believe that OCA offers key potential advantamess ursodiol and other products in developmeat tould enable
OCA, if approved for these indications, to captueaningful market share. However, many of our pg@keoompetitors have
substantially greater financial, technical and homesources than we do, as well as greater experiarthe discovery and
development of product candidates, obtaining FDé ather regulatory approvals of products and thrernercialization of
those products. Accordingly, our competitors mayrtmee successful than us in obtaining approval fileenFDA or from other
regulators for drugs and achieving widespread miageeptance. Our competitors’ drugs may be mdeetafe, or more
effectively marketed and sold, than any productidate we may commercialize and may render ourymochndidates
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obsolete or non-competitive before we can recdwveekpenses of their development and commerciaizat/e anticipate that
we will face intense and increasing competitiomes drugs enter the market and other advanceddkxdias become
available. Finally, the development of new treattmaathods for the diseases we are targeting ceuldar our product
candidates non-competitive or obsolete.

Intellectual Property

The proprietary nature of, and protection for, product candidates and our discovery programs ggsss and know-how
are important to our business. We have sought patetection in the United States and internatilyrfalr OCA, INT-767 and
INT-777, and our discovery programs, and any othentions to which we have rights, where availabyid when appropriate.
Our policy is to pursue, maintain and defend patights, whether developed internally or licensehf third parties, and to
protect the technology, inventions and improvemérds are commercially important to the developnwérdur business. We
also rely on trade secrets that may be importatiteé@evelopment of our business.

Our commercial success will depend in part on abigiand maintaining patent protection and tradeetgrotection of our
current and future product candidates and the ndstbsed to develop and manufacture them, as wsllaessfully defending
these patents against third-party challenges. Bilityeto stop third parties from making, using|lsw, offering to sell or
importing our products depends on the extent takviie have rights under valid and enforceable patmtrade secrets that
cover these activities. We cannot be sure thanpmteill be granted with respect to any of our peggatent applications or
with respect to any patent applications filed byruthe future, nor can we be sure that any ofexisting patents or any patents
that may be granted to us in the future will be owrtially useful in protecting our product candegtdiscovery programs and
processes. For this and more comprehensive ritkedeo our intellectual property, please see ltefy“Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Intellectual Property.”

OCA (formerly called INT-747) (first-in-class FXRgonist)

The patent portfolio for OCA contains patents aatépt applications directed to compositions of erathanufacturing
methods, and methods of use. As of March 15, 20&3wned five U.S. patents, four pending U.S. pagptications, and
corresponding foreign patents and patent applicatiboreign patents have been granted in Europsyadyo Spain, Denmark,
Germany, Austria, Australia, Japan, Canada, BelgiDyprus, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Isttay;, Luxembourg,
Monaco, Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden, Switzerlndkey and the United Kingdom. We expect the coritjposof matter
patent, if the appropriate maintenance, renewalignor other governmental fees are paid, to expir2022 (worldwide). It is
possible that the term of the composition of mattgtent in the United States may be extended fipe@dditional years under
the provisions of the Drug Price Competition anteRBTerm Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-War Act. Patent term
extension may be available in certain foreign coestupon regulatory approval. We expect the gpla¢ents and patent
applications in the portfolio, if issued, and iethppropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity, @ragbvernmental fees are paid,
to expire from 2022 to 2028.

INT-767 (dual FXR/TGR5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-767 contains a patantl patent applications directed to compositionmatter and methods of
use. As of March 15, 2013, we owned one U.S. patiergte pending U.S. patent applications, and cpomaging foreign patent
applications have been filed in Australia, Candtt@ina, Europe, India, Israel, Japan and Hong Kivig expect the issued
composition of matter patent in the U.S., if thempriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or oth@eguamental fees are paid, to
expire in 2029. It is possible that the term of ¢benposition of matter patent in the United Statey be extended up to five
additional years under the provisions of the Haddxman Act. We expect the pending foreign pateptiegtions in the
portfolio, if issued, and if the appropriate maigace, renewal, annuity, or other governmental &epaid, to expire in 2027.
Patent term extension may be available in cert@igign countries upon regulatory approval. We haeeived assignments of
rights to the INT-767 patent portfolio from all iemtors, other than one inventor. That inventooistactually obligated to
provide an assignment to us. We believe that weha@rewner of the INT-767 patent portfolio by vetof this contractual
obligation and the other patent assignments we rengived.
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INT-777 (TGR5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-777 contains a patantl patent applications directed to compositionmatter and methods of
use. As of March 15, 2013, we owned one U.S. patwotpending U.S. patent applications, and corredjpy foreign patent
applications have been filed in Australia, Bra@i§nada, China, Eurasia, Europe, India, Israel,njdfarea, Mexico, Singapore,
South Africa and Hong Kong. We expect the compasitf matter patent in the United States, if therapriate maintenance,
renewal, annuity or other governmental fees aré, paiexpire in 2030. It is possible that the tefithe composition of matter
patent in the United States may be extended upéaafiditional years under the provisions of thécHaVaxman Act. We
expect the corresponding foreign patent applicateomd other patent applications in the portfoficssued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity, or adbeernmental fees are paid, to expire from 2028020. Patent term
extension may be available in certain foreign coestupon regulatory approval.

Trade Secrets

In addition to patents, we rely on trade secretskarmow-how to develop and maintain our competipesition. Trade
secrets and know-how can be difficult to protece ¥éek to protect our proprietary processes, i) paconfidentiality
agreements and invention assignment agreementsuithmployees, consultants, scientific advisarstractors and
commercial partners. These agreements are dedigmedtect our proprietary information. We alsokseepreserve the
integrity and confidentiality of our data, tradegs and know-how by maintaining physical secuwftpur premises and
physical and electronic security of our informattenhnology systems.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans
to develop our own manufacturing operations infthheseeable future. We currently rely on third-paantract manufacturers
for all of our required raw materials, active phaosutical ingredient, or API, and finished prodiectour preclinical research
and clinical trials, including the Phase 3 triads ©CA for the treatment of PBC. We are currendglsng to contract to qualify
a back-up APl manufacturer. We do not have longrtagreements with any of these third parties. \We db not have any
current contractual relationships for the manufiectf commercial supplies of any of our productdidates if they are
approved. As OCA and any of our other product adeitéis continue to progress towards potential régylapproval, we
intend to enter into agreements with a third-padgtract manufacturer and one or more back-up naatwrers for the
commercial production of those products. Developraed commercial quantities of any products thatiexelop will need to
be manufactured in facilities, and by processed,dbmply with the requirements of the FDA andribgulatory agencies of
other jurisdictions in which we are seeking apptowse currently employ internal resources to managemanufacturing
contractors.

Government Regulation and Product Approval

Governmental authorities in the United Stateshatféderal, state and local level, and other caséxtensively regulate,
among other things, the research, developmeningeshanufacture, labeling, packaging, promotidorage, advertising,
distribution, marketing and export and import abgucts such as those we are developing. Our pradinctidates must be
approved by the FDA through the NDA process befioey may be legally marketed in the United Statektey the EMA
through the MAA process before they may be legallykated in Europe. Our product candidates will ddgect to similar
requirements in other countries prior to marketmthose countries. The process of obtaining regofeapprovals and the
subsequent compliance with applicable federale statal and foreign statutes and regulations reghie expenditure of
substantial time and financial resources.

22




TABLE OF CONTENTS

United States Government Regulation
NDA Approval Processes

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs utideFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or thEK, and
implementing regulations. Failure to comply witle @ipplicable U.S. requirements at any time dutegproduct development
process or approval process, or after approval,sabject an applicant to administrative or judisahctions, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on us. Theesetisns could include:

« refusal to approve pending applications;

¢ withdrawal of an approval;

¢ imposition of a clinical hold;

e warning letters;

e product seizures;

« total or partial suspension of production or rilisttion; or

¢ injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil orraihal penalties.

The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invotiiesollowing:

« completion of nonclinical laboratory tests, anisidies and formulation studies conducted acogrth Good
Laboratory Practices, or GLPs, or other applicabtgpilations;

¢ submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beeoeffective before human clinical trials may begin;

« performance of adequate and well-controlled huot@ical trials according to Good Clinical Praets; or GCPs, to
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed tbr its intended use;

e submission to the FDA of an NDA,;

¢ satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection loé imanufacturing facility or facilities at whichetproduct is produced
to assess compliance with current Good ManufactiRiagtices, or cGMPs, to assure that the facilitrethods and
controls are adequate to preserve the drug’s igestrength, quality and purity; and

* FDA review and approval of the NDA.

Once a pharmaceutical candidate is identified &metbpment, it enters the preclinical or nonclihtesting stage.
Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluationgafduct chemistry, toxicity and formulation, aslivees animal studies. An
IND sponsor must submit the results of the noncéihiests, together with manufacturing informatéowl analytical data, to the
FDA as part of the IND. Some nonclinical testingyncantinue even after the IND is submitted. In &ddito including the
results of the nonclinical studies, the IND wilsalinclude a protocol detailing, among other thjtige objectives of the clinical
trial, the parameters to be used in monitoringtgadad the effectiveness criteria to be evaludtéuki first phase lends itself to
an efficacy determination. The IND automaticallgbmes effective 30 days after receipt by the FD#Aess the FDA, within
the 30-day time period, places the IND on clinivald. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDAtmesolve any
outstanding concerns before clinical trials canihedy clinical hold may occur at any time duringetlife of an IND, and may
affect one or more specific studies or all studi@sducted under the IND.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the swyision of one or more qualified investigatoragtordance with GCPs.
They must be conducted under protocols detailiegthjectives of the trial, dosing procedures, nesesubject selection and
exclusion criteria and the safety and effectivereitsria to be evaluated. Each protocol must tevstted to the FDA as part of
the IND, and progress reports detailing the stafule clinical trials must be submitted to the FBAnually. Sponsors also
must timely report to FDA serious and unexpecteceegk reactions, any clinically important incregsthe rate of a serious
suspected
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adverse reaction over that listed in the protocahweestigation brochure, or any findings from atktidies or animal or in vitro
testing that suggest a significant risk in humatsosed to the drug. An institutional review board|RB, at each institution
participating in the clinical trial must review aagprove the protocol before a clinical trial conmezes at that institution and
must also approve the information regarding tre &nd the consent form that must be provided ¢h easearch subject or the
subject’s legal representative, monitor the studlyl sompleted and otherwise comply with IRB redigas.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imgl sequential phases that may overlap or be cewhbin

« Phase 1. The drug is initially introduced into healthyrhan subjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerabsorptior
metabolism, distribution and elimination. In theseaf some products for severe or life-threatedisgases, such as
cancer, especially when the product may be inhlgréod toxic to ethically administer to healthy uateers, the initial
human testing is often conducted in patients.

« Phase 2 Clinical trials are performed on a limited pati@opulation intended to identify possible advesfects and
safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the effigaxf the product for specific targeted diseasestardktermine dosage
tolerance and optimal dosage.

¢« Phase . Clinical trials are undertaken to further evédudosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an exjeainpatient
population at geographically dispersed clinicatlgtsites. These studies are intended to establesbwerall risk-benefit
ratio of the product and provide an adequate asjgroduct labeling.

Human clinical trials are inherently uncertain d&fthse 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may notdessiuily completed.
The FDA or the sponsor may suspend a clinical &i@ny time for a variety of reasons, includinfinding that the research
subjects or patients are being exposed to an upkadie health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspenteaminate approval of a
clinical trial at its institution if the clinicakigl is not being conducted in accordance withlR@’s requirements or if the drug
has been associated with unexpected serious hgvatients.

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgi@en opportunities to meet with the FDA at certa@ints. These points
may be prior to the submission of an IND, at the ehPhase 2 and before an NDA is submitted. Mestaigther times may
be requested. These meetings can provide an opggrtar the sponsor to share information aboutdhta gathered to date and
for the FDA to provide advice on the next phasdexfelopment. Sponsors typically use the meetiriigeaénd of Phase 2 to
discuss their Phase 2 clinical results and prabentplans for the pivotal Phase 3 clinical ttizt they believe will support the
approval of the new drug. If a Phase 2 clinicalltis the subject of discussion at the end of PRaseeting with the FDA, a
sponsor may be able to request a Special Protass#gsment, or SPA, the purpose of which is to ragetement with the
FDA on the Phase 3 clinical trial protocol desigwl @analysis that will form the primary basis ofefficacy claim.

According to published guidance on the SPA procsponsor which meets the prerequisites may magedific request
for a SPA and provide information regarding theiglesind size of the proposed clinical trial. TheAD supposed to evaluate
the protocol within 45 days of the request to assdwether the proposed trial is adequate, ancetl@tiation may result in
discussions and a request for additional infornmatfo SPA request must be made before the proposgthégins, and all open
issues must be resolved before the trial begirswifitten agreement is reached, it will be docure@mnd made part of the
record. The agreement will be binding on the FDA aray not be changed by the sponsor or the FDA tiiéetrial begins
except with the written agreement of the sponsdrtha FDA or if the FDA determines that a substmitientific issue
essential to determining the safety or efficacthefdrug was identified after the testing began.

Concurrent with clinical trials, sponsors usualynplete additional animal safety studies and a¢seelbp additional
information about the chemistry and physical chi@rstics of the drug and finalize a process fonofacturing commercial
quantities of the product in accordance with cGMjuneements. The manufacturing process must be tapébonsistently
producing quality batches of the drug and the mectufer must develop methods for testing the gualitrity and potency of
the drug. Additionally,
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appropriate packaging must be selected and testedtability studies must be conducted to demotestreat the drug candidate
does not undergo unacceptable deterioration ov@rdposed shelf-life.

The results of product development, nonclinicatiigts and clinical trials, along with descriptioridtee manufacturing
process, analytical tests and other control meshas)iproposed labeling and other relevant infolnadre submitted to the
FDA as part of an NDA requesting approval to matketproduct. The submission of an NDA is subje¢he payment of user
fees, but a waiver of such fees may be obtaineénspkcified circumstances. The FDA reviews all NB#Abmitted to ensure
that they are sufficiently complete for substantieeiew before it accepts them for filing. It magguest additional information
rather than accept an NDA for filing. In this evethie NDA must be resubmitted with the additiomébimation. The
resubmitted application also is subject to reviefoke the FDA accepts it for filing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Ri2dyins an in-depth review. NDAs receive eithendtad or priority
review. A drug representing a significant improveitie treatment, prevention or diagnosis of diseaag receive priority
review. The FDA may refuse to approve an NDA if épplicable regulatory criteria are not satisfiedmay require additional
clinical or other data. Even if such data are stieahj the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDAedmot satisfy the criteria
for approval. The FDA reviews an NDA to determiamong other things, whether a product is safe #edtive for its
intended use and whether its manufacturing is cGbtRpdiant. The FDA may refer the NDA to an advisoommittee for
review and recommendation as to whether the agjgitahould be approved and under what conditibhs. FDA is not bound
by the recommendation of an advisory committeejttgénerally follows such recommendations. Befgpproving an NDA,
the FDA will inspect the facility or facilities wie the product is manufactured and tested.

Expedited Review and Approval

The FDA has various programs, including Fast Tracirity review, and accelerated approval, whioh iatended to
expedite or simplify the process for reviewing drugnd/or provide for the approval of a drug onlihsis of a surrogate
endpoint. Even if a drug qualifies for one or mof¢hese programs, the FDA may later decide thatthig no longer meets the
conditions for qualification or that the time petifor FDA review or approval will be shortened. @mlly, drugs that are
eligible for these programs are those for serigugesthreatening conditions, those with the pdi@rto address unmet medical
needs and those that offer meaningful benefits existing treatments. For example, Fast Trackpeoaess designed to
facilitate the development and expedite the revaédrugs to treat serious or life-threatening dissaor conditions and fill
unmet medical needs. Priority review is designegive drugs that offer major advances in treatnoemtrovide a treatment
where no adequate therapy exists an initial revigtwin six months as compared to a standard retiies of ten months.
Although Fast Track and priority review do not afféhe standards for approval, the FDA will attetaptacilitate early and
frequent meetings with a sponsor of a Fast Trasigdated drug and expedite review of the applicafiio a drug designated
for priority review. Accelerated approval, whichdescribed in Subpart H of 21 CFR Part 314, pra/fde an earlier approval
for a new drug that is intended to treat a serauge-threatening disease or condition and tikst &n unmet medical need
based on a surrogate endpoint. A surrogate endisa@ntaboratory measurement or physical sign asezh indirect or
substitute measurement representing a clinicallgmmgful outcome. As a condition of approval, tii@Fmay require that a
sponsor of a drug candidate receiving accelergiptbaal perform post-marketing clinical trials.

In the recently enacted Food and Drug AdministraBafety and Innovation Act, or FDASIA, Congress@maged the
FDA to utilize innovative and flexible approacheshie assessment of products under acceleratedvagbpfhe law requires the
FDA to issue related draft guidance within a ydteraghe law’s enactment and also promulgate conifig regulatory changes.
For example, sponsors may request that their deudebignated as a Breakthrough Therapy. A reqae8réakthrough
Therapy designation should be submitted concusrevith, or as an amendment to an IND. FDA is in phecess of developing
guidance related to this designation, but in therim has posted on its website criteria that sthbel followed and has already
granted the designation to several new drugs.
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We currently plan to seek accelerated approval@A@or the treatment of PBC assuming satisfactatyievement of a
surrogate endpoint in our Phase 3 POISE trialvleabelieve is reasonably likely to predict clinib&nefit. We also intend to
have commenced a clinical outcomes trial to confilimcal benefit at the time of the NDA submissiwhich we plan to
complete on a post-marketing basis if the NDA igraped.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivity

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificS@A approval of the use of our drug candidatesyes of our U.S.
patents may be eligible for limited patent termeesion under the Drug Price Competition and Pdtenth Restoration Act of
1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act. The iH&lttaxman Act permits a patent restoration termpofaufive years as
compensation for patent term lost during produeetijpment and the FDA regulatory review processwvéler, patent term
restoration cannot extend the remaining term cdtart beyond a total of 14 years from the prodwgtisroval date. The patent
term restoration period is generally one-half theetbetween the effective date of an IND, and thesssion date of an NDA,
plus the time between the submission date of an ldBd\the approval of that application. Only oneepaiapplicable to an
approved drug is eligible for the extension andapplication for extension must be made prior tpition of the patent. The
United States Patent and Trademark Office, in detettson with the FDA, reviews and approves the agpion for any patent
term extension or restoration. In the future, werid to apply for restorations of patent term fume of our currently owned or
licensed patents to add patent life beyond thenect expiration date, depending on the expectegtkeof clinical trials and
other factors involved in the submission of thevaht NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA alsa cielay the submission or the approval of certpplieations. The
FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent nedirig exclusivity within the United States to thmstfapplicant to gain
approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A glig a new chemical entity if the FDA has not poexly approved any
other new drug containing the same active moiehjclvis the molecule or ion responsible for thécecof the drug substance.
During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not aecfor review an abbreviated new drug applicatmmANDA, or a 505(b)
(2) NDA submitted by another company for anothesiom of such drug where the applicant does not ommave a legal right
of reference to all the data required for approMalwever, an application may be submitted after f@ars if it contains a
certification of patent invalidity or non-infringeant. The FDCA also provides three years of margetixclusivity for an NDA,
505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an approved NDA&fwclinical investigations, other than bioavaildpistudies, that were
conducted or sponsored by the applicant are debméte FDA to be essential to the approval of {haliaation, for example,
for new indications, dosages or strengths of astiexj drug. This three-year exclusivity covers dlg conditions associated
with the new clinical investigations and does nathibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugs caitting the original
active agent. Five-year and three-year exclusivitynot delay the submission or approval of a NIDA; however, an
applicant submitting a full NDA would be requiradonduct or obtain a right of reference to allraf preclinical studies and
adequate and well-controlled clinical trials neegegso demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adesease or
condition, which is generally a disease or conditimat affects fewer than 200,000 individuals & tnited States, or more than
200,000 individuals in the United States and forchtihere is no reasonable expectation that theafaeveloping and making
available in the United States a drug for this tgpdisease or condition will be recovered fromesah the United States for
that drug. Orphan drug designation must be reqdédmttore submitting an NDA. After the FDA grantploan drug designation,
the identity of the therapeutic agent and its pidéorphan use are disclosed publicly by the FD#phan drug designation
does not convey any advantage in or shorten thetidorof the regulatory review and approval process

If a product that has orphan drug designation sylesgtly receives the first FDA approval for theedise for which it has
such designation, the product is entitled to orghraauct exclusivity, which means that the FDA may approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the sadieation, except in very limited circumstances,deven years. Orphan drug
exclusivity, however, could also block the approsfabne of our products for seven years if a coitqmedbtains approval of the
same drug as defined by the FDA or if our drug @date is determined to be contained within the cetibgr’'s product for the
same indication or disease.
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Pediatric Exclusivity and Pediatric Use

Under the Best Pharmaceuticals for Children AcBBCA, certain drugs may obtain an additional sonths of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information wegted in writing by the FDA, or a Written Requesltating to the use of the
active moiety of the drug in children. The FDA mat issue a Written Request for studies on unagatav approved
indications or where it determines that informatietating to the use of a drug in a pediatric papah, or part of the pediatric
population, may not produce health benefits in prgtulation.

We have not received a Written Request for suchapézistudies, although we may ask the FDA toesaWritten Request
for such studies in the future. To receive thersbath pediatric market exclusivity, we would haveédceive a Written Request
from the FDA, conduct the requested studies in@zte with a written agreement with the FDA othére is no written
agreement, in accordance with commonly accepteshisic principles, and submit reports of the sasdiA Written Request
may include studies for indications that are natemtly in the labeling if the FDA determines tisatch information will benefit
the public health. The FDA will accept the repant®n its determination that the studies were cotedlin accordance with and
are responsive to the original Written Requestoonmonly accepted scientific principles, as appatpriand that the reports
comply with the FDA's filing requirements.

In addition, the Pediatric Research Equity ACtP&EA, requires a sponsor to conduct pediatric sguftir most drugs and
biologicals, for a new active ingredient, new iradion, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or reeuerof administration.
Under PREA, original NDAs, biologics license apption and supplements thereto, must contain a predéssessment unless
the sponsor has received a deferral or waiver.régeired assessment must assess the safety adtiveffess of the product for
the claimed indications in all relevant pediatiibgopulations and support dosing and administrdtioeach pediatric
subpopulation for which the product is safe andaife. The sponsor or FDA may request a defefrpédiatric studies for
some or all of the pediatric subpopulations. A defenay be granted for several reasons, includifigding that the drug or
biologic is ready for approval for use in adultédoe pediatric studies are complete or that additicafety or effectiveness data
needs to be collected before the pediatric stuzbgin. After April 2013, the FDA must send a nomagdiance letter to any
sponsor that fails to submit the required assessrkeep a deferral current or fails to submit auesy for approval of a pediatric
formulation.

As part of the FDASIA, Congress made a few revisitnBPCA and PREA, which were slated to expir&eptember 30,
2012, and made both laws permanent.

Post-approval Requirements

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withditasvapproval if compliance with regulatory requirerses not
maintained or if problems occur after the prodeeiches the market. Later discovery of previousknown problems with a
product may result in restrictions on the produat\een complete withdrawal of the product from inerket. After approval,
some types of changes to the approved product,aaialding new indications, manufacturing changdsaaditional labeling
claims, are subject to further FDA review and apptoln addition, the FDA may require testing andveillance programs to
monitor the effect of approved products that haserbcommercialized, and the FDA has the powerdwegnt or limit further
marketing of a product based on the results ofetpest-marketing programs.

Any drug products manufactured or distributed bypussuant to FDA approvals are subject to contiguegulation by the
FDA, including, among other things:

« record-keeping requirements;

« reporting of adverse experiences with the drug;

¢ providing the FDA with updated safety and efficawformation;

¢ drug sampling and distribution requirements;

« notifying the FDA and gaining its approval of siieed manufacturing or labeling changes; and

¢ complying with FDA promotion and advertising r@gments.
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Drug manufacturers and other entities involvechenmanufacture and distribution of approved drugsequired to register
their establishments with the FDA and certain stagencies, and are subject to periodic unannounseedctions by the FDA
and some state agencies for compliance with cGMPotret laws.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiadties for the production of clinical and commekgiaantities of our
products. Future FDA and state inspections maytiiyerompliance issues at the facilities of our rant manufacturers that
may disrupt production or distribution, or requitgbstantial resources to correct.

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introédcand passed in Congress that could significahtiyige the statutory
provisions governing the approval, manufacturind ararketing of products regulated by the FDA. Ididdn, FDA
regulations and guidance are often revised oregintted by the agency in ways that may signifigaaftect our business and
our products. It is impossible to predict whetlegi$lative changes will be enacted, or FDA regatetj guidance or
interpretations changed or what the impact of sungnges, if any, may be.

Regulation Outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States,wiéébe subject to regulations of other countrigerning clinical trials
and commercial sales and distribution of our présiud/hether or not we obtain FDA approval for adoret, we must obtain
approval by the comparable regulatory authoritfesoantries outside of the United States beforecare commence clinical
trials in such countries and approval of the regu$aof such countries or economic areas, sucheaEuropean Union, before
we may market products in those countries or afi@s approval process and requirements governsgdhduct of clinical
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimburseingry greatly from place to place, and the timeyipe longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaaysubmit marketing authorization applicationk@itunder a
centralized or decentralized procedure. The ceéméprocedure, which is compulsory for medicinesdpced by
biotechnology or those medicines intended to #¢BS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders or désbetd optional for those
medicines which are highly innovative, providestfue grant of a single marketing authorization thatalid for all European
Union member states. The decentralized procedorédas for mutual recognition of national approdetisions. Under this
procedure, the holder of a national marketing aightion may submit an application to the remainimgmber states. Within
90 days of receiving the applications and assessmejport, each member state must decide whethiectgnize approval. If a
member state does not recognize the marketing azgiion, the disputed points are eventually reféto the European
Commission, whose decision is binding on all menstetes.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif a product as an orphan drug for the treatmeatspecific
indication in the European Union before the appilicafor marketing authorization is made. Orphamgdrin Europe enjoy
economic and marketing benefits, including up toytears of market exclusivity for the approved @adiion unless another
applicant can show that its product is safer, nedfective or otherwise clinically superior to thepban-designated product.

ATU

We may apply to make OCA available for use undestert Autorisation Temporaire d’Utilisation, ormporary
Authorization for Use, or ATU, in France. UnderAnU, the French Health Products Safety Agency, fasAps, allows the use
of a drug in France before marketing approval leentobtained in France in order to treat seriouarerdiseases for which no
other treatment is available in that country. Afsswill only grant an ATU where the benefit of {ir@duct outweighs the risk.
An ATU is granted for one year and may be renewWeh ATU is granted for OCA, we will be requireal gather and analyze
data concerning OCA's use and submit a periodiontep Afssaps. We also will be responsible forraitbng
pharmacovigilance reports, as necessary. An ATU beamodified, suspended, or withdrawn for reasdnmiblic health or if
the conditions under which the ATU was grantedreréonger met. We believe the granting of an ATd anbsequent use by
patients in France prior to marketing approval ragble us to begin recognizing some product selesue for OCA prior to
its approval in the United States and the remainfléte European Union.
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Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, ondktnt to which the costs of our products will lbeered by third-party
payors, such as government health programs, comahgrsurance and managed healthcare organizafldvese third-party
payors are increasingly challenging the pricesgidfor medical products and services. Additionahg containment of
healthcare costs has become a priority of fedediséate governments and the prices of drugs hese & focus in this effort.
The U.S. government, state legislatures and forgigy@rnments have shown significant interest inlémgnting cost-
containment programs, including price controlstrietsons on reimbursement and requirements fosstution of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-comteent measures, and adoption of more restrictoligips in jurisdictions
with existing controls and measures, could furtimeit our net revenue and results. If these thiedtp payors do not consider
our products to be cost-effective compared to diferapies, they may not cover our products aftpr@ved as a benefit under
their plans or, if they do, the level of paymentymat be sufficient to allow us to sell our prodsioh a profitable basis.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Moidation Act of 2003, or the MMA, imposed new reganents
for the distribution and pricing of prescriptioruds for Medicare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medidaneficiaries may enroll
in prescription drug plans offered by private eesitwhich will provide coverage of outpatient prgstion drugs. Part D plans
include both stand-alone prescription drug bempddihs and prescription drug coverage as a suppleiméfedicare Advantage
plans. Unlike Medicare Part A and B, Part D coveliageot standardized. Part D prescription drug gleonsors are not
required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, amchedrug plan can develop its own drug formulaat tentifies which drugs
it will cover and at what tier or level. HowevearPD prescription drug formularies must includagh within each therapeutic
category and class of covered Part D drugs, thooghecessarily all the drugs in each categoryamsc Any formulary used
by a Part D prescription drug plan must be develapel reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic caegniGovernment
payment for some of the costs of prescription dragy increase demand for our products for whichreeeive marketing
approval. However, any negotiated prices for oodpcts covered by a Part D prescription drug pldnilkely be lower than
the prices we might otherwise obtain. Moreover, ettie MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicaeméficiaries,
private payors often follow Medicare coverage polcyl payment limitations in setting their own paypt@tes. Any reduction
in payment that results from the MMA may result isimilar reduction in payments from non-governmeptalors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@®ides funding for the federal government to careghe
effectiveness of different treatments for the sdmess. A plan for the research will be developgdhe Department of Health
and Human Services, the Agency for Healthcare Relsead Quality and the National Institutes for kteaand periodic
reports on the status of the research and relagehditures will be made to Congress. Althoughréseilts of the comparative
effectiveness studies are not intended to manaeterage policies for public or private payorssihbt clear what effect, if any,
the research will have on the sales of any prodiuahy such product or the condition that it iseimded to treat is the subject of
a study. It is also possible that comparative éffeness research demonstrating benefits in a ctitmpe product could
adversely affect the sales of our product candiddtehird-party payors do not consider our praduo be cost-effective
compared to other available therapies, they maygowgr our products as a benefit under their ptaing they do, the level of
payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell products on a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acam&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordpiftleconciliation
Act of 2010, collectively referred to as the ACAaeted in March 2010, is expected to have a sigmifiompact on the health
care industry. ACA is expected to expand coveragéhe uninsured while at the same time containwverall healthcare costs.
With regard to pharmaceutical products, among dtiegs, ACA is expected to expand and increasesiny rebates for drugs
covered under Medicaid programs and make changés tmverage requirements under the Medicare Ppro@ram. We
cannot predict the impact of ACA on pharmaceutizehpanies, as many of the ACA reforms require toenplgation of
detailed regulations implementing the statutoryjsions which has not yet occurred. In additioth@lgh the United States
Supreme Court recently upheld the constitutionalftynost of the ACA, some states have indicatetttiey intend to not
implement certain sections of the ACA, and some bem
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of the U.S. Congress are still working to repeatpaf the ACA. These challenges add to the uniceytaf the legislative
changes enacted as part of ACA.

In addition, in some non-U.S. jurisdictions, thegused pricing for a drug must be approved betareay be lawfully
marketed. The requirements governing drug priceny widely from country to country. For exampleg tBuropean Union
provides options for its member states to restiietrange of medicinal products for which theiniowal health insurance
systems provide reimbursement and to control tleegiof medicinal products for human use. A menshbegie may approve a
specific price for the medicinal product or it magtead adopt a system of direct or indirect cdstoa the profitability of the
company placing the medicinal product on the markieére can be no assurance that any country ésapfice controls or
reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical pradwaill allow favorable reimbursement and pricimgagagements for any of
our products. Historically, products launched ie BEuropean Union do not follow price structurethef United States and
generally tend to be significantly lower.

Employees

As of March 15, 2013, we had 25 employees, of whitlare involved in our drug development operatenms eight are in
general and administrative functions. None of gupleyees are represented by a labor union and n&der our employee
relations to be good.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware qute®aber 4, 2002. Our principal executive offices lacated at 18
Desbrosses Street, New York, NY 10013, and ouplelee number is (646) 747-1000.

Our corporate website addresswsw.interceptpharma.com@ur Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporisForm
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendmentsports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 1&fthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchactjeafe available free of charge on our websiteoas as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eadlge Commission. The
Securities and Exchange Commission maintains amniet site that contains our public filings witle tBecurities and Exchange
Commission and other information regarding our canyp atwww.sec.govl hese reports and other information concerning our
company may also be accessed at the SecuritieBxadnge Commission’s Public Reference Room atF18@eet, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infatioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbagroalling the
Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SE©-0R@% contents of these websites are not incorpeiato this Annual
Report. Further, our references to the URLs fose¢heebsites are intended to be inactive textuateate only.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definethinJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012willeemain an
“emerging growth company” until the earliest oftfig last day of the fiscal year in which we hasaltannual gross revenues
of $1 billion or more; (ii) December 31, 2017;Xiihe date on which we have issued more than $trbih nonconvertible debt
during the previous three years; or (iv) the datevbich we are deemed to be a large acceleragzdifiider the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. We refer tddingpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 hergithe “JOBS Act,”
and references herein to “emerging growth compahgll have the meaning associated with it in thBS@ct.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Except for the historical information contained &igr or incorporated by reference, this report ahd tnformation
incorporated by reference contains forward-lookstgtements that involve risks and uncertaintiegs€rstatements include
projections about our accounting and finances, pland objectives for the future, future operatimgl @conomic performance
and other statements regarding future performafit®se statements are not guarantees of future noeafice or events. Our
actual results could differ materially from thosealissed in this report. Factors that could causeantribute to these
differences include, but are not limited to, thdseussed in the following section, as well aséhdiscussed in Part Il, Item 7
entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis imlaRcial Condition and Results of Operations” arglesvhere throughout
this report and in any documents incorporated is tieport by reference.

You should consider carefully the following riskttas, together with all of the other informatiarciuded or incorporated
in this report. If any of the following risks, egthalone or taken together, or other risks not pres/ known to us or that we
currently believe to not be significant, develoiactual events, then our business, financial @@rd results of operations or
prospects could be materially adversely affectethdt happens, the market price of our commonkstoald decline, and
stockholders may lose all or part of their investine

Risks Relating to Our Financial Position and Needdr Additional Capital

We have never been profitable. Currently, we havepnoducts approved for commercial sale, and to dathave not
generated any revenue from product sales. As a leswr ability to reduce our losses and reach pitability is unproven,
and we may never achieve or sustain profitability.

We have never been profitable and do not expdut forofitable in the foreseeable future. We haveyabsubmitted any
product candidates for approval by regulatory adties in the United States or elsewhere for oadl@dication, primary
biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, or any other indicatidie have incurred net losses in each year sincenoeption, including net
losses of $15.1 million, $12.7 million and $43.6lion for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2012912, respectively.
We had an accumulated deficit of $118.2 millioroBBecember 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2012wauking capital was
$98.8 million and our cash, cash equivalents amdstment securities available for sale was $110lm

To date, we have devoted most of our financialueses to our corporate overhead and research adbgenent, including
our drug discovery research, preclinical developraetivities and clinical trials. We have not geated any revenues from
product sales. We expect to continue to incur pésethe foreseeable future, and we expect thesses$ to increase as we
continue our development of, and seek regulatopyajals for, obeticholic acid, or OCA, which is dead product candidate,
and our other product candidates, prepare for agéththe commercialization of any approved produantsl add infrastructure
and personnel to support our product developméottefand operations as a public company. We gatieithat any such
losses could be significant for the next severatyas we complete our Phase 3 clinical trial oAQCPBC, which we call the
POISE trial, and related activities required fayukatory approval of OCA and continue pursuing iddal indications for
OCA in clinical trials, and initiate pre-commerdition activities. If OCA or any of our other prozt candidates fails in
clinical trials or does not gain regulatory appipea if our product candidates do not achieve retdcceptance, we may never
become profitable. As a result of the foregoing,expect to continue to experience net losses agdtive cash flows for the
foreseeable future. These net losses and negatseflows have had, and will continue to have,dreese effect on our
stockholders’ equity and working capital.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesiassd with pharmaceutical product developmentareeunable to
accurately predict the timing or amount of increasgpenses or when, or if, we will be able to aghigrofitability. In addition,
our expenses could increase if we are requiretidytS. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, a¢ furopean Medicines
Agency, or EMA, to perform studies or trials in agluh to those currently expected, or if there arg delays in completing our
clinical trials or the development of any of ouoguct candidates. The amount of future net lossiéslepend, in part, on the
rate of future growth of our expenses and our gttili generate revenues.
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We will require substantial additional funding, whitmay not be available to us on acceptable termsatcall, and, if not so
available, may require us to delay, limit, reduceaease our operations.

We are currently advancing OCA through clinical elepment for multiple indications and other prodcemhdidates through
preclinical development. Developing pharmaceutizabucts, including conducting preclinical studéesl clinical trials, is
expensive. We will require substantial additionalfe capital in order to complete clinical develmmt and commercialize
OCA, and to conduct the research and developmehtlarical and regulatory activities necessaryriadpother product
candidates to market. If the FDA or EMA required thea perform additional preclinical studies or @ trials, our expenses
would further increase beyond what we currentlyeex@nd the anticipated timing of any potential N&¥AVAA would likely
be delayed.

Our existing cash and cash equivalents will nasdféicient to complete advanced clinical developtwrany of our
product candidates other than OCA for PBC. Accaglyinwe will continue to require substantial adulital capital to continue
our clinical development and commercialization\atiis. Because successful development of our mtockndidates is
uncertain, we are unable to estimate the actualsfwe will require to complete research and develagt and commercialize
our products under development.

The amount and timing of our future funding regoiemts will depend on many factors, including butlimited to:

¢ the progress, costs, results of and timing ofRhase 3 POISE trial of OCA for the treatment o€CPBnd the clinical
development of OCA for other potential indications;

¢ the willingness of the FDA and EMA to accept o@I8E trial, as well as our other completed and méahclinical and
preclinical studies and other work, as the bagise€eiew and approval of OCA for PBC,;

« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinbig FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

« the number and characteristics of product camelédénat we pursue, including our product candglatereclinical
development, such as INT-767 and INT-777,

« the ability of our product candidates to progrseugh clinical development successfully;

¢ our need to expand our research and developrotnitias;

« the costs associated with securing and estabfsfommercialization and manufacturing capabiljties
« market acceptance of our product candidates;

« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindirsinesses, products, product candidates anddietfies;

¢ our ability to maintain, expand and defend thapscof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to makéhat we may receive, in connection with thergiag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemther intellectual property rights;

« our need and ability to hire additional manageneewl scientific and medical personnel,
« the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;
« our need to implement additional internal systemd infrastructure, including financial and repagtsystems; and

¢ the economic and other terms, timing of and ss&©é our existing licensing arrangements and aligtmoration,
licensing or other arrangements into which we magrein the future.

Some of these factors are outside of our contrasell upon our currently expected level of operaimenditures, we
believe that we will be able to fund our operatitm®ugh mid-2015. This estimate reflects our dnreht of a greater number
of patients in our POISE trial than originally pfesd; additional
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nonclinical studies and clinical trials to suppout planned regulatory submissions for OCA in PB@] an anticipated increase
in pre-commercial activities for OCA in PBC. Thierfod could be shortened if there are any significacreases in planned
spending on development programs or more rapidressgof development programs than anticipatedwe ibccelerate pre-
commercialization activities. We do not expect existing capital resources to be sufficient to émals to complete the
commercialization of OCA, if approved, or to intgaall of the clinical trials or additional devetopnt work needed for any of
our other product candidates. Accordingly, we exglest we will need to raise additional funds ie fature.

We may seek additional funding through a combimatibequity offerings, debt financings, governmenother third-party
funding, marketing and distribution arrangements atter collaborations, strategic alliances anehiging arrangements.
Additional funding may not be available to us onegtable terms or at all. In addition, the termaryf financing may
adversely affect the holdings or the rights of stackholders. In addition, the issuance of add#tiaihares by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the mamket of our shares to decline.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely bagie may be required to significantly curtail amemore of our research
or development programs. We also could be requoregek funds through arrangements with collabgegiartners or
otherwise that may require us to relinquish rightsome of our technologies or product candidategterwise agree to terms
unfavorable to us.

Our revenues to date have been generated throughamliaboration agreements and we may not receivg additional
revenues under such agreements.

To date, our sources of revenue have been theoupfayments received under our collaboration aethée agreements
with Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co. Ltd., or DSR] kas Laboratoires Servier and Institut de Rectes@ervier, which are
collectively referred to as Servier. Additional pagnts under each of the DSP and Servier agreemenbmased on the
achievement of various research, development, aggyl and commercial sales milestones and royalyynents based on the
sales of the products covered by such agreemauttg:efpayments from DSP and Servier under thepes/e collaboration
and license agreements are uncertain because D&#haer, as the case may be, may choose not tmoenesearch or
development of activities for the product candidateder license in their licensed territory, thedurct candidates may not be
approved for the proposed indications or, evemyf groduct candidate is approved for one or madécations, it may not be
commercially successful. If we are unable to dgvelod commercialize one or more of our product ichids, either alone or
with collaborators, or if revenues from any suchiatmration product candidate that receives mankedipproval are
insufficient, we will not achieve profitability. Ewn if we achieve profitability, we may not be atesustain or increase
profitability.

We have a limited operating history and we expeciuanber of factors to cause our operating resultsflactuate on a
quarterly and annual basis, which may make it dfilt to predict our future performance.

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical compiiim a limited operating history. Our operatidodate have been
limited to developing our technology and undertgkimeclinical studies and clinical trials of oupgduct candidates. We have
not yet obtained regulatory approvals for any af meduct candidates. Consequently, any predictioade about our future
success or viability may not be as accurate asabeld be if we had a longer operating historympraved products on the
market. Our financial condition and operating reshhve varied significantly in the past and angeeted to continue to
significantly fluctuate from quarter-to-quartery@ar-to-year due to a variety of factors, many biol are beyond our control.
Factors relating to our business that may contibathese fluctuations include:

¢ any delays in regulatory review and approvalwfproduct candidates in clinical development,udahg our ability to
receive approval from the FDA and the EMA for OCA fioe treatment of PBC based on our Phase 3 PQOi8FEand
our other completed and planned clinical and pnéxdi studies and other work, as the basis forerand approval of
OCA for PBC;

« delays in the commencement, enroliment and timindinical trials;

« difficulties in identifying and treating patiergsiffering from our target indications, and PBQarticular, which is
considered to be a rare disease;

33




TABLE OF CONTENTS

¢ the success of our clinical trials through alapés of clinical development, including our POI8& tf OCA for the
treatment of PBC;

« potential side effects of our product candid&ites could delay or prevent approval or cause anoyed drug to be
taken off the market;

« our ability to obtain additional funding to degplour product candidates;
e our ability to identify and develop additionabpiuct candidates;
« market acceptance of our product candidates;

e our ability to establish an effective sales arathating infrastructure directly or through collaations with third
parties;

« competition from existing products or new produttat may emerge;
« the ability of patients or healthcare provider®btain coverage or sufficient reimbursement fargroducts;

e our ability to adhere to clinical study requirartedirectly or with third parties such as contrastearch organizations,
or CROs;

¢ our dependency on third-party manufacturers taufaecture our products and key ingredients;

¢ our ability to establish or maintain collaboraiso licensing or other arrangements;

¢ the costs to us, and our ability and our thirdypaollaborators’ ability to obtain, maintain aptbtect our intellectual
property rights;

« costs related to and outcomes of potential ie¢élial property litigation;

e our ability to adequately support future growth;

« our ability to attract and retain key personefiianage our business effectively;

¢ our ability to build our finance infrastructuracaimprove our accounting systems and controls;

¢ potential product liability claims;

¢ potential liabilities associated with hazardoustenials; and

¢ our ability to obtain and maintain adequate iasge coverage.

In addition, our financial results may vary dudlt@tuations in our warrant liability. Because @ammon stock is publicly
traded, these fluctuations are expected to increadecrease significantly based on changes iprilce of our common stock.
For example, the fair value of the warrant liagilitcreased from $6.3 million at September 30, 2@12pproximately $30.4
million at December 31, 2012 primarily due to irese in the fair value of our common stock from $11per share as of
September 30, 2012, prior to our IPO, to $34.24spare as of December 31, 2012,. Accordingly, mamiial results for any
period should not be relied upon as indicationfutifre operating performance.

Our recurring losses from operations may raise stdrgtial doubt regarding our ability to continue a going concern.

Our recurring losses from operations may raisetantial doubt about our ability to continue as amgaoncern. If in the
future, our independent registered public accogrfitm were to include an explanatory paragrapitsimeport on our
consolidated financial statements stating thesellisstantial doubt about our ability to continu@aming concern, such an
opinion could materially limit our ability to raisedditional funds through the issuance of new deleiquity securities or
otherwise. There is no assurance that sufficienicing will be available when needed to allowaisdntinue as a going
concern. The perception that we may not be abtemtinue as a going concern may cause others twsehwot to deal with us
due to concerns about our ability to meet our @mttral obligations.
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Risks Relating to Regulatory Review and Approval oDur Product Candidates

We cannot be certain that OCA or any of our othergluct candidates will receive regulatory approvahd without
regulatory approval we will not be able to markeirgroduct candidates.

We are initially developing OCA for the treatmemipatients with PBC, portal hypertension, nonaldmhsteatohepatitis, or
NASH, and bile acid diarrhea, and are also comgyitiith investigators to develop protocols for otimelications. Our business
currently depends entirely on the successful degveémt and commercialization of OCA. Our abilitygenerate revenue related
to product sales, if ever, will depend on the sesfié development and regulatory approval of OCrtlie treatment of PBC
and other indications and our other product carndsla

We currently have no products approved for saleveedannot guarantee that we will ever have mabketaroducts. The
development of a product candidate and issuesnglat its approval and marketing are subject temsive regulation by the
FDA in the United States, the EMA in Europe and fetguy authorities in other countries, with regidas differing from
country to country. We are not permitted to mardkatproduct candidates in the United States or gitotil we receive
approval of an NDA from the FDA or an MAA from th&/&, respectively. We have not submitted any marlkgépplications
for any of our product candidates.

NDAs and MAAs must include extensive preclinical atidical data and supporting information to esttbthe product
candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each e gidication. NDAs and MAAs must also include siigaint information
regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and confiaishe product. Obtaining approval of an NDA arMAA is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process, and we may maidmessful in obtaining approval. The FDA and tMAEeview processes
can take years to complete and approval is newaagteed. If we submit an NDA to the FDA, the FDAsindecide whether to
accept or reject the submission for filing. We aatrive certain that any submissions will be accefueéiling and review by the
FDA. Regulators of other jurisdictions, such asEMA, have their own procedures for approval of preiccandidates. Even if
a product is approved, the FDA or the EMA, as tleeaaay be, may limit the indications for which greduct may be
marketed, require extensive warnings on the proldibetiing or require expensive and time-consumiimgoal trials or
reporting as conditions of approval. Regulatonhatities in countries outside of the United Stated Europe also have
requirements for approval of drug candidates willictv we must comply prior to marketing in those rioies. Obtaining
regulatory approval for marketing of a product ddatk in one country does not ensure that we wilhble to obtain regulatory
approval in any other country. In addition, delayapprovals or rejections of marketing applicasiamthe United States,
Europe or other countries may be based upon matgré including regulatory requests for additiomadlyses, reports, data,
preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatgpyestions regarding different interpretations atidand results, changes in
regulatory policy during the period of product deyenent and the emergence of new information reggrour product
candidates or other products. Also, regulatory eygdrfor any of our product candidates may be wilagh.

We have completed three Phase 2 trials for OCA:itwmatients with PBC and one in patients with t@pdiabetes with co-
morbid nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. We comgdieenroliment in our POISE trial in December 204& anticipate that
results from the 12 month double-blind portiontwé POISE trial will be available in the second ¢eraof 2014. Before we
submit an NDA to the FDA or an MAA to the EMA for OG#ér the treatment of patients with PBC, we musicessfully
complete this trial. In addition, we must completier preclinical and clinical studies, such atudyto evaluate the potential
effects and clinical significance of OCA on thediprofile of patients with PBC and a Phase 1 chitrial in healthy
volunteers to evaluate the effect of OCA on thatfgalectrical cycle, known as the QT interval and-year, two-species
carcinogenicity studies. We cannot predict whetherfuture trials and studies will be successfulvbether regulators will
agree with our conclusions regarding the preclirstadies and clinical trials we have conductedate or require us to conduct
additional studies or trials.

If we are unable to obtain approval from the FCi#e EMA or other regulatory agencies for OCA andather product
candidates, or if, subsequent to approval, we aable to successfully commercialize OCA or our otireduct candidates, we
will not be able to generate sufficient revenubdécome profitable or to continue our operations.
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We may never reach an agreement with the FDA on aregate endpoint for the accelerated approval of @@r the
treatment of PBC. The FDA, EMA and other regulatorsay require us to complete additional Phase 3 tsialrior to the
submission of an application for OCA for the treagnt of PBC.

Typically, the FDA requires two pivotal clinicaldfs to approve an NDA. However, for OCA as a treait for PBC, we
currently plan to request accelerated approval fiteer-DA based on the Phase 3 POISE trial, thegoyirandpoint of which is
a surrogate endpoint that we believe is reasorielly to predict clinical benefit, therefore mewithe FDA's requirements for
consideration under its accelerated approval réignlaHowever, the FDA has not yet provided anyessce that it will accept
our approach, and we do not know if we will recefiveher written guidance from the FDA prior to suitting an NDA as to
the acceptability of the POISE trial surrogate amidipto support an approval of OCA for the treatirafrPBC.

In order to build additional consensus regardirggdimical utility of the surrogate endpoint, we aponsoring an
independent study pooling and analyzing long-teB& Patient data from a number of leading PBC acacleamters.
Furthermore, an academic consortium in the Unitedyfom recently published the results of anotheydabservational study
in PBC patients in the United Kingdom. Although bedieve the results of both studies are suppodftie clinical utility of
our surrogate endpoint, the supporting data méynsti be accepted by the FDA in its consideratibthe adequacy of our
surrogate endpoint under an NDA for OCA for thetneent of PBC. The FDA has informed us that, e¥@mprovides us an
accelerated approval for OCA, we will be required¢dnduct a post-approval clinical outcomes toatanfirm the clinical
benefit of OCA in PBC by demonstrating the corielabf biochemical therapeutic response in patitaking OCA with a
significant reduction in adverse clinical outcoroesr time. We believe that this clinical outcomgsl will need to be
substantially underway at the time we submit an ND#s possible that our NDA submission for redofst approval will not
be accepted by the FDA for review or, even if ibéeepted for review, that there may be delayBerRDA’s review process
and that the FDA may determine that our NDA dodswmerit the approval of OCA for the treatment of@®Bn which case the
FDA may require that we conduct and/or completetemial clinical trials and preclinical studies bed it will reconsider our
application for approval.

Because the FDA normally requires two pivotal catitrials to approve an NDA, even if we achiewofable results in our
ongoing POISE trial, the FDA may not accept thisl tis an adequate basis for approval and recuatente conduct and
complete a second Phase 3 clinical trial beforesiceming an NDA for OCA for the treatment of PBQirfhermore, the EMA
and regulatory authorities in other countries inolitwe may seek approval for, and market, OCA, neayire additional
preclinical studies and/or clinical trials priorgeanting approval. It may be expensive and timesoming to conduct and
complete additional preclinical studies and clihicals that the FDA, EMA and other regulatory awilies may require us to
perform. As such, any requirement by the FDA, EMAtirer regulatory authorities that we conduct add#l preclinical
studies or clinical trials could materially and adsely affect our business, financial condition eggllts of operations.
Furthermore, even if we receive regulatory approv&®CA for the treatment of PBC, the labeling @CA in the United
States, Europe or other countries in which we sggkoval may include limitations that could impt commercial success of
OCA.

Delays in the commencement, enrollment and completof clinical trials could result in increased ctsto us and delay or
limit our ability to obtain regulatory approval fo©OCA and our other product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enrollment and conguletdf clinical trials could increase our productelepment costs or
limit the regulatory approval of our product caraties. We completed enrollment of our Phase 3 P@18En December 2012
and anticipate that results from the 12 month dexihd portion of the POISE trial will be availath the second quarter of
2014. Although we anticipate that our existing ¢astsh equivalents and investment securities dlaifar sale, and interest on
our cash balances, will be sufficient to fund oroj@cted operating requirements through the conapietf our POISE trial, the
results from this trial may not be available whem@xpect or we may be required to conduct additicivacal trials or
preclinical studies not currently planned to reeapproval for OCA as a treatment for PBC, in whiake we would require
additional funding. In addition, we do not know iner any future trials or studies of our other prttccandidates, including
any clinical outcomes trial of OCA, will begin ome or
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will be completed on schedule, if at all. The comg®ment, enroliment and completion of clinicalltriean be delayed or
suspended for a variety of reasons, including:

¢ inability to obtain sufficient funds required farclinical trial;

« inability to reach agreements on acceptable tevitisprospective CROs and trial sites, the terfstich can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary fiantly among different CROs and trial sites;

« clinical holds, other regulatory objections tarcoencing or continuing a clinical trial or the iilélp to obtain
regulatory approval to commence a clinical triatountries that require such approvals;

¢ discussions with the FDA or non-U.S. regulategarding the scope or design of our clinical trials

« inability to identify and maintain a sufficienumber of trial sites, many of which may alreadyebgaged in other
clinical trial programs, including some that mayfbethe same indications targeted by our prodantates;

« inability to obtain approval from institutionaview boards, or IRBs, to conduct a clinical taatheir respective sites;
« severe or unexpected drug-related adverse efgperienced by patients;
« inability to timely manufacture sufficient quatigs of the product candidate required for a clihtoal,

« difficulty recruiting and enrolling patients tagicipate in clinical trials for a variety of reass, including meeting the
enrollment criteria for our study and competitioonfi other clinical trial programs for the same gadions as our
product candidates; and

« inability to retain enrolled patients after anatial trial is underway.

For example, in the past, we experienced delagsiirPhase 2 clinical trial of OCA given as a moeodpy to patients with
PBC because we were unable to find and enrollfecgrft number of trial patients who met the spieaginroliment criteria in
accordance with our anticipated trial schedule.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidanceaisayoccur and we or any of our collaborators megd to amend
clinical trial protocols to reflect these changegwappropriate regulatory authorities. Amendmenésy require us or any of our
collaborators to resubmit clinical trial protoctdsIRBs for re-examination, which may impact thetsptiming or successful
completion of a clinical trial. In addition, a digal trial may be suspended or terminated at ang toy us, our current or future
collaborators, the FDA or other regulatory authesitdue to a number of factors, including:

« our failure or the failure of our collaboratocsdonduct the clinical trial in accordance withukgory requirements or
our clinical protocols;

« unforeseen safety issues or any determinatidratblinical trial presents unacceptable healtkstis
¢ lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicial due to unforeseen costs or other businesisides; and

* abreach of the terms of any agreement withppahy other reason by, current or future collatmeathat have
responsibility for the clinical development of amfyour product candidates, including DSP and Servie

In addition, if we or any of our collaborators aeguired to conduct additional clinical trials aher preclinical studies of
our product candidates beyond those contemplatediholity to obtain regulatory approval of thegeduct candidates and
generate revenue from their sales would be simitatmed.
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Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinicalevelopment and we have never conducted a Phasal3r submitted an
NDA or MAA before. The results of earlier clinicatifls are not necessarily predictive of future rdsiand any product
candidate we, DSP, Servier or our potential futurellaborators advance through clinical trials mayoh have favorable
results in later clinical trials or receive regulaty approval.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of our ictih development. Clinical trials may produce negabr inconclusive
results, and we or our collaborators may decideegulators may require us, to conduct additiotialaal trials or preclinical
studies. In addition, data obtained from trials andlies are susceptible to varying interpretatians regulators may not
interpret our data as favorably as we do, which delgy, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Suexe preclinical studies
and early clinical trials does not ensure that eghent clinical trials will generate the same ariksir results or otherwise
provide adequate data to demonstrate the efficadysafety of a product candidate. A number of cargsin the
pharmaceutical industry, including those with geeaesources and experience than us, have sugpeificant setbacks in
Phase 3 clinical trials, even after seeing prorgisesults in earlier clinical trials.

Both of our Phase 2 clinical trials of OCA in PB@&tipnts showed statistically significant resultaiagt a primary endpoint
that is similar to the endpoint of our Phase 3 HO#&l protocol currently underway. However, ir®hase 2 PBC trials, the
primary endpoint was a reduction in alkaline pha@gpke, or ALP, to a threshold below 1.5 times uppetr normal, or ULN,
compared to placebo after 12 weeks of treatmenthieuprimary endpoint for our POISE trial is batheduction in ALP to
below a threshold of 1.67 times ULN, with a minimofril5% reduction in ALP from baseline, and a ndrhilirubin level,
compared to placebo after 12 months of therapycvmot assure you that our POISE trial will achipesitive results.
Moreover, the fact that a retrospective analysihefdata from our Phase 2 PBC trials appears todstrate that the defined
endpoint in our POISE trial was achieved basecherPhase 2 data does not mean that this endpdimevguccessfully
achieved in the POISE trial.

In addition, the design of a clinical trial canel@hine whether its results will support approvaagfroduct and flaws in the
design of a clinical trial may not become appatetiil the clinical trial is well-advanced. We hdimited experience in
designing clinical trials and may be unable to giesind execute a clinical trial to support regulatgpproval. Further, clinical
trials of potential products often reveal thasinhbt practical or feasible to continue developnediutrts.

If OCA or our other product candidates are founteainsafe or lack efficacy, we will not be able@ktain regulatory
approval for them and our business would be harfredexample, if the results of our Phase 3 POiBiEdf OCA do not
achieve the primary efficacy endpoints or demontsteapected safety, the prospects for approval@A @ould be materially
and adversely affected.

In some instances, there can be significant vaitiai safety and/or efficacy results between eliéint trials of the same
product candidate due to numerous factors, inctudiranges in trial protocols, differences in conipms of the patient
populations, adherence to the dosing regimen amet ¢tial protocols and the rate of dropout amdirgaal trial participants.
We do not know whether any Phase 2, Phase 3 or dthieal trials we or any of our collaborators ynaonduct will
demonstrate consistent or adequate efficacy amedys@f obtain regulatory approval to market ourdoici candidates. If we are
unable to bring any of our current or future pradiandidates to market, or to acquire any markgtesiously approved
products, our ability to create long-term stockleoldalue will be limited.

Our product candidates may have undesirable side&s which may delay or prevent marketing approwa, if approval is
received, require them to be taken off the marketjuire them to include safety warnings or otherwimit their sales.

A substance that binds to a receptor of a celltagders a response by that cell is called an &goBICA has been shown to
be a potent agonist of the farnesoid X receptoFXR. With the exception of the bile acid CDCA, whihas been approved to
treat cholesterol gallstone dissolution and a lipt@ storage disease, there are no approved FXRisig and the adverse
effects from long-term exposure to this drug cEssunknown. Unforeseen side effects from any ofppoduct candidates
could arise either during clinical developmentibapproved, after the approved product has beaheted. The most common
side effects observed in clinical trials of OCA weruritus, or itching, headaches, fatigue, nausmastipation and diarrhea. In
our Phase 2 PBC clinical trial of OCA in combinatiwith ursodiol, approximately 8% of the
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patients enrolled in the 10 milligram (mg) and 2§ dose groups withdrew from the trial due to seyetgitus. At the 50 mg
dose, approximately 25% of the patients withdremmfthe trial due to severe pruritus. Additionalioforeseen side effects
from these or any of our other product candidatesdcarise either during clinical development bapproved, after the
approved product has been marketed. Although geodtinuation rate due to pruritus in our Phas©8SE trial has been
lower than that seen in the 10 mg OCA dose growuirPhase 2 combination study, the trial is etijoing and severe pruritus
or other adverse events may occur.

The range and potential severity of possible sftbzts from systemic therapies is significant. Tesults of future clinical
trials may show that our product candidates canslesirable or unacceptable side effects, whichccmbérrupt, delay or halt
clinical trials, and result in delay of, or failut@ obtain, marketing approval from the FDA andeotregulatory authorities, or
result in marketing approval from the FDA and otteggulatory authorities with restrictive label wisugs.

If any of our product candidates receives markedipgroval and we or others later identify unde$&ralp unacceptable side
effects caused by such products:

« regulatory authorities may require the additiomabiling statements, specific warnings, a contieatin or field alert:
to physicians and pharmacies;

* we may be required to change instructions reggrttie way the product is administered, conducitiadel clinical
trials or change the labeling of the product;

¢ we may be subject to limitations on how we maynpote the product;

« sales of the product may decrease significantly;

¢ regulatory authorities may require us to takeapproved product off the market;
* we may be subject to litigation or product lidtgiklaims; and

e our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us, DSP, Seorieur potential future collaborators from achigyvor maintaining
market acceptance of the affected product or csuitdstantially increase commercialization costsexpnses, which in turn
could delay or prevent us from generating signiftagvenues from the sale of our products.

Reimbursement decisions by third-party payors mayé an adverse effect on pricing and market accept If there is not
sufficient reimbursement for our products, it isgs likely that they will be widely used.

Market acceptance and sales of OCA or any othewptarhndidates that we develop, if approved, vépehd on
reimbursement policies and may be affected by éub@althcare reform measures. Government auttsoaitid third-party
payors, such as private health insurers and hesdthtenance organizations, decide which drugswikkgover and establish
payment levels. We cannot be certain that reimiboese will be available for OCA or any other prodoahdidates that we
develop. Also, we cannot be certain that reimbuesgmolicies will not reduce the demand for, or phiee paid for, our
products. If reimbursement is not available oniailable on a limited basis, we may not be ablsuccessfully commercialize
OCA or any other product candidates that we develop

In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Dhugprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMAanged the
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceuticalymtsd The legislation established Medicare Part ickvexpanded
Medicare coverage for outpatient prescription drugcpases by the elderly but provided authoritylifaiting the number of
drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic clage MMA also introduced a new reimbursement mettogyobased on
average sales prices for physician- administeraddrAny negotiated prices for our products covéned Part D prescription
drug plan will likely be lower than the prices wégimt otherwise obtain. Moreover, while the MMA appl@dy to drug
benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payaften follow Medicare coverage policy and paymemititions in setting
their own payment rates. Any reduction in paymaat tesults from the MMA may result in a similar retion in payments
from non-governmental payors.
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The United States and several other jurisdictiorscansidering, or have already enacted, a nunfdegislative and
regulatory proposals to change the healthcaremyistevays that could affect our ability to sell quroducts profitably. Among
policy makers and payors in the United States #selvdere, there is significant interest in promptihanges in healthcare
systems with the stated goals of containing healthcosts, improving quality and/or expanding esteiealthcare. In the
United States, the pharmaceutical industry has begarticular focus of these efforts and has begmfieantly affected by
major legislative initiatives. We expect to expade pricing pressures in connection with the sAfe@A and any other
products that we develop, due to the trend towaadaged healthcare, the increasing influence otthezdintenance
organizations and additional legislative proposals.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordaége Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edaocatfordability
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, ACA, becameman the United States. The goal of ACA is to regltite cost of health care
and substantially change the way health care anfiad by both governmental and private insurersléMre cannot predict
what impact on federal reimbursement policies fgggslation will have in general or on our businspscifically, the ACA may
result in downward pressure on pharmaceutical reisgament, which could negatively affect market ptanece of OCA or any
future product candidates. In addition, althoughlmited States Supreme Court upheld the constitality of most of the
ACA, some states have indicated that they intembtamplement certain sections of the ACA, and senembers of the U.S.
Congress are still working to repeal the ACA. Wargat predict whether these challenges will contiouether proposals will
be made or adopted, or what impact these efforjshmaae on us.

If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxma\ct and similar legislation outside of the Unitestates by extending
the patent terms and obtaining data exclusivity four product candidates, our business may be matiéyiharmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and speciffcB@A marketing approval of OCA and our other prodcandidates, if
any, one or more of our U.S. patents may be ebditn limited patent term restoration under the diuice Competition and
Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred tthasHatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act permigatent
restoration term of up to five years as compensdtio patent term lost during product developmertt #he FDA regulatory
review process. However, we may not be granteckamsion because of, for example, failing to appigin applicable
deadlines, failing to apply prior to expirationrefevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfplagable requirements.
Moreover, the applicable time period or the scopgadént protection afforded could be less thanegeest. If we are unable to
obtain patent term extension or restoration ortéhe of any such extension is less than we reqtiesperiod during which we
will have the right to exclusively market our pratiwill be shortened and our competitors may obégiproval of competing
products following our patent expiration, and oewanue could be reduced, possibly materially. énethent that we are unable
to obtain any patent term extensions, the issuetposition of matter patents for OCA are expecteekigire in 2022 assuming
they withstand any challenge. We expect that thergbatents and patent applications for the OCAf@a, if issued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or g@gbgernmental fees are paid, would expire from 2022028.

If we market products in a manner that violates Héwecare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate gowment price reporting
laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal periaf.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pfmaceutical products, several other types of statefederal healthcare
laws, commonly referred to as “fraud and abuse’slavave been applied in recent years to restritdioemarketing practices in
the pharmaceutical industry. Other jurisdictionstsas Europe have similar laws. These laws indalde claims and anti-
kickback statutes. If we market our products andpsaducts are paid for by governmental progratris,possible that some of
our business activities could be subject to chgletnder one or more of these laws.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fiarowingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for
payment to the federal government or knowingly mgkbor causing to be made, a false statement ta fpd$e claim paid. The
federal healthcare program anti-kickback statutdipits, among other things, knowingly and willfubffering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration to inducejror
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return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering or armagdor the purchase, lease or order of any heafthitem or service covered by
Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed hezltle programs. This statute has been interpretepdly to arrangements
between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the org dvzoh prescribers, purchasers or formulary managetise other.

Although there are several statutory exemptionsragdlatory safe harbors protecting certain comadivities from
prosecution, the exemptions and safe harbors avendnarrowly, and practices that involve remuneratntended to induce
prescribing, purchasing or recommending may beestllbp scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exeiop or safe harbor. Most
states also have statutes or regulations similtretdederal anti-kickback law and federal falssrok laws, which apply to

items and services covered by Medicaid and oth& ptagrams, or, in several states, apply regasdiethe payor.
Administrative, civil and criminal sanctions may ibgposed under these federal and state laws.

Over the past few years, a number of pharmacewtichbther healthcare companies have been prodaouter these laws
for a variety of promotional and marketing actiedj such as: providing free trips, free goods, sbamsulting fees and grants
and other monetary benefits to prescribers; rempitiflated average wholesale prices that were tisex by federal programs
to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-labefrtion; and submitting inflated best price infation to the Medicaid
Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid teba

If the FDA and EMA and other regulatory agencies dmt approve the manufacturing facilities of our fute contract
manufacturers for commercial production, we may no¢ able to commercialize any of our product careties.

We do not intend to manufacture the pharmaceypicalucts that we plan to sell. We currently haveeaments with a
contract manufacturer for the production of thevacpharmaceutical ingredients and the formulatibaufficient quantities of
drug product for our Phase 3 POISE trial of OCAtf@ treatment of PBC and the other trials andlimieal studies that we
believe we will need to conduct prior to seekingulatory approval. However, we do not have agreesfen commercial
supplies of OCA or any of our other product canttidand we may not be able to reach agreementsheitle or other contract
manufacturers for sufficient supplies to commeiz&aDCA if it is approved. Additionally, the fadigs used by any contract
manufacturer to manufacture OCA or any of our ofiteduct candidates must be the subject of a aat@fy inspection before
the FDA or the regulators in other jurisdictionpagve the product candidate manufactured at tluéitfa We are completely
dependent on these third-party manufacturers fimptiance with the requirements of U.S. and non-lte8ulators for the
manufacture of our finished products. If our mawtdeers cannot successfully manufacture materaldbnform to our
specifications and current good manufacturing jgacequirements of any governmental agency whassdjction to which
we are subject, our product candidates will noajpgroved or, if already approved, may be subjentdalls. Reliance on third-
party manufacturers entails risks to which we wadtibe subject if we manufactured the product ichies, including:

« the possibility that we are unable to enter mimanufacturing agreement with a third party to uf@acture our product
candidates;

« the possible breach of the manufacturing agre&srsnthe third parties because of factors beyamdontrol; and

« the possibility of termination or nonrenewal bétagreements by the third parties before we dectatarrange for a
qualified replacement third-party manufacturer.

Any of these factors could cause the delay of agdror commercialization of our product candidatesjse us to incur
higher costs or prevent us from commercializingmaduct candidates successfully. Furthermoreyyfaf our product
candidates are approved and contract manufactiaiets deliver the required commercial quantit@dinished product on a
timely basis and at commercially reasonable préceswe are unable to find one or more replacemenufacturers capable of
production at a substantially equivalent costubssantially equivalent volumes and quality ancadimely basis, we would
likely be unable to meet demand for our products@uld lose potential revenue. It may take sewarals to establish an
alternative source of supply for our product caatid and to have any such new source approveclgotfernment agencies
that regulate our products.
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Even if our product candidates receive regulatorgmoval, we may still face future development aretjulatory difficulties.

Our product candidates, if approved, will also bejact to ongoing regulatory requirements for latgelpackaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, record-keeping and subroissif safety and other post-market informationadidition, approved
products, manufacturers and manufacturers’ fezdliire required to comply with extensive FDA and EMdd@uirements and
requirements of other similar agencies, includinguging that quality control and manufacturing jgawares conform to current
Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs. As such, wekoaur contract manufacturers are subject to coatireview and
periodic inspections to assess compliance with cGMPBsordingly, we and others with whom we work mesitinue to
expend time, money and effort in all areas of ratguyy compliance, including manufacturing, prodaictand quality control.
We will also be required to report certain adveesections and production problems, if any, to tbé\lRand EMA and other
similar agencies and to comply with certain requieats concerning advertising and promotion forproducts. Promotional
communications with respect to prescription drugssaibject to a variety of legal and regulatoryrietions and must be
consistent with the information in the product'pegved label. Accordingly, we may not promote oppraved products, if
any, for indications or uses for which they are aygproved.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unkng@swblems with a product, such as adverse evenisanfticipated
severity or frequency, or problems with the fagilithere the product is manufactured, or disagrattsthhe promotion,
marketing or labeling of a product, it may imposstrictions on that product or us, including reimpgiwithdrawal of the
product from the market. If our product candiddggisto comply with applicable regulatory requirent& a regulatory agency
may:

¢ issue warning letters;

« mandate modifications to promotional materialsemuire us to provide corrective information tallecare
practitioners;

* require us or our collaborators to enter int@asent decree or permanent injunction, which celudée imposition of
various fines, reimbursements for inspection caoetglired due dates for specific actions and pesdibr
noncompliance;

¢ impose other administrative or judicial civil ciminal penalties;
e withdraw regulatory approval,

« refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapproved applications filed by us, DSP, S=rer our potenti
future collaborators;

¢ impose restrictions on operations, including lyaséw manufacturing requirements; or

¢ seize or detain products.

Risks Relating to the Commercialization of Our Prodicts

Even if approved, our product candidates may nohewe broad market acceptance among physiciansigras and
healthcare payors, and as a result our revenueseated from their sales may be limited.

The commercial success of OCA or our other prodantlidates, if approved, will depend upon theieatance among the
medical community, including physicians, healthecpayors and patients. For PBC, the current stdrafarare is
ursodeoxycholic acid, which is available genericalt ursodiol. In order for OCA to be commercialyccessful, we will need
to demonstrate that it is safe and effective fertteatment of patients who have an inadequat®mespto or who are unable to
tolerate ursodiol, referred to as second line meat, and is more effective than any other altéreatthat may be developed as
a second line treatment for PBC, particularly gitteemuch higher price that we anticipate char@md@CA compared to the
price of generically available ursodiol. The degnéenarket acceptance of our product candidatdsdepend on a number of
factors, including:

« limitations or warnings contained in our prodoahdidates’ FDA or EMA-approved labeling;
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« changes in the standard of care or availabilitglté#frnative therapies at similar or lower coststfartargeted indicatior
for any of our product candidates, such as ursddighe treatment of PBC;

« limitations in the approved clinical indicatiofts our product candidates;

« demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy comg@aceother products;

« lack of significant adverse side effects;

¢ sales, marketing and distribution support;

« availability of reimbursement from managed cdemp and other third-party payors;

¢ timing of market introduction and perceived effeeness of competitive products;

« the degree of cost-effectiveness;

« availability of alternative therapies at simitarlower cost, including generics and over-the-teuproducts;

¢ the extent to which our product candidates apg@ped for inclusion on formularies of hospitalslananaged care
organizations;

« whether our product candidates are designatedritysician treatment guidelines for the treatneéihe indications
for which we have received regulatory approval;

¢ adverse publicity about our product candidatefmworable publicity about competitive products;
« convenience and ease of administration of oudycbcandidates; and
¢ potential product liability claims.

If our product candidates are approved, but danbteve an adequate level of acceptance by phygsigatients, the
medical community and healthcare payors, sufficieménue may not be generated from these prododtera may not become
or remain profitable. In addition, efforts to edtecthe medical community and third-party payorstenbenefits of our product
candidates may require significant resources andmager be successful.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution expergerand we will have to invest significant additidmasources to develop
those capabilities or enter into acceptable thirdrfy sales and marketing arrangements.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution expegeand have only recently started the initial peasf developing an
internal commercial organization. To develop in&sales, distribution and marketing capabilities,will have to invest
significant additional amounts of financial and ragement resources, some of which will be commititéat to any
confirmation that OCA or any of our other produahdidates will be approved. For product candidatesre we decide to
perform sales, marketing and distribution functionsselves or through third parties, we could faceimber of additional
risks, including:

« we or our third-party sales collaborators mayb®tble to attract and build an effective marlkgtnsales force;
« the cost of securing or establishing a marketingales force may exceed the revenues generataayiyroducts; and
¢ our direct sales and marketing efforts may nasuiecessful.

We have entered into an agreement with DSP fodéivelopment and commercialization of OCA in Japath @hina and
other potential Asian countries, if approved, aadéhentered into an agreement with Servier totassike development and
commercialization of certain of our earlier stagerists of a dedicated bile acid receptor calledRb®utside of the United
States and Japan, if approved, and may elect koaskhtional strategic collaborators for our prodeendidates. We may have
limited or no control over the sales, marketing distribution activities of these third parties.rQuture revenues may depend
heavily on the success of the efforts of thesel tharties.
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If any of our current strategic collaborators fail perform its obligations or terminates its agraent with us, the
development and commercialization of the produchdalates under such agreement could be delayedceamtnated and our
business could be substantially harmed.

We currently have strategic collaborations in pletating to certain of our product candidates. &tered into an exclusive
license agreement with DSP regarding the developarehcommercialization of OCA for PBC and NASHJapan and China
and provided DSP with an option to extend its esiglel license to different indications as well adaia other Asian countries.
We entered into a strategic collaboration with &arinitially focused on the identification and opization of novel TGR5
agonists for the treatment of type-2 diabetes a@hdra@ssociated disorders. These strategic coliéibas may not be
scientifically or commercially successful due touanber of important factors, including the follogin

« DSP and Servier have significant discretion in aeteing the efforts and resources that each witlapo their strategi
collaboration with us. The timing and amount of @agh payments, milestones and royalties that wereteive under
such agreements will depend on, among other ththgsfforts, allocation of resources and succésselopment and
commercialization of our product candidates by 8B Servier under their respective agreements;

*  Our agreement with Servier provides it with witlscretion in deciding which novel compounds toatbe through the
preclinical and clinical development process. fiassible for Servier to reject certain compourtdag point in the
research, development and clinical trial procesbawit triggering a termination of their agreemeithws. In the event
of any such decision, our business and prospectdmadversely affected due to our inability togress such
compounds ourselves;

e Our agreement with DSP restricts it from developngommercializing any FXR agonist to treat PBAN&SH during
the term of the agreement other than pursuanet®®P agreement and our agreement with Servieictest from
developing or commercializing any TGR5 receptorrastaduring the term of the agreement other thasyant to the
Servier agreement. Subject to these restrictioms piossible that DSP or Servier may develop amdroercialize, either
alone or with others, or be acquired by a comphayhas, products that are similar to or competitisith the product
candidates that they license from us;

« DSP or Servier may change the focus of their lbgweent and commercialization efforts or pursuéhbigpriority
programs;

« DSP or Servier may, under specified circumstarteesiinate their strategic collaborations withomsshort notice and
for circumstances outside of our control, whichldaunake it difficult for us to attract new strategiollaborators or
adversely affect how we are perceived in the sifiemind financial communities;

« DSP and Servier have, under certain circumstaricesight to maintain or defend our intellectpedperty rights
licensed to them in their territories, and, altHowge may have the right to assume the maintenarteefense of our
intellectual property rights if our strategic cditaators do not, our ability to do so may be compsed by our strategic
collaborators’ acts or omissions;

« DSP or Servier may utilize our intellectual prageights in such a way as to invite litigatioratttould jeopardize or
invalidate our intellectual property rights or egpais to potential liability; and

« DSP or Servier may not comply with all applical@gulatory requirements, or fail to report safédéya in accordance
with all applicable regulatory requirements.

If either DSP or Servier fails to develop or effeely commercialize OCA or any TGR5 compounds, eesipely, we may
not be able to replace them with another collaloor&¥e may also be unable to obtain, on terms dabkpto us, a license from
such strategic collaborator to any of its intelledtproperty that may be necessary or useful fdao w®ntinue to develop and
commercialize a product candidate. Any of thesetsveould have a material adverse effect on ounbss, results of
operations and our ability to achieve future pedfility, and could cause our stock price to decline
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We may not be successful in establishing and maintiag development and commercialization collaborat& which could
adversely affect our ability to develop certainair product candidates and our financial conditicend operating results.

Because developing pharmaceutical products, coimduciinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvastablishing
manufacturing capabilities and marketing approvedipcts are expensive, we have entered into, aiydseek to enter into,
collaborations with companies that have more eepeg. For example, we have entered into collalmrativith DSP for OCA
and Servier for our earlier stage TGR5 program.ritég establish additional collaborations for deveiept and
commercialization of OCA in territories outsidetbbse licensed by DSP or for our earlier stage T@Rgram in the United
States or Japan and product candidates and reggagriams, including INT-767 and INT-777. Additidigaif any of our
product candidates receives marketing approvaimas enter into sales and marketing arrangemenisthiid parties with
respect to our unlicensed territories. If we arehla to maintain our existing arrangements or énterany new such
arrangements on acceptable terms, if at all, we lmeaynable to effectively market and sell our paislin our target markets.
We expect to face competition in seeking appropriatiaborators. Moreover, collaboration arrangesant complex and time
consuming to negotiate, document and implementfadmay require substantial resources to maintdemay not be
successful in our efforts to establish and implensetiaborations or other alternative arrangemésttshe development of our
product candidates.

When we collaborate with a third party for devel@mnand commercialization of a product candidatecan expect to
relinquish some or all of the control over the fetsuccess of that product candidate to the ttartypFor example, DSP has
the exclusive rights to OCA in Japan and Chinataedption to exclusively license OCA in sever&lestAsian countries. Our
collaboration partner may not devote sufficienbreses to the commercialization of our product édaigs or may otherwise
fail in their commercialization. The terms of argllaboration or other arrangement that we estalofialy not be favorable to us.
In addition, any collaboration that we enter intajuding our collaborations with DSP and Servieay be unsuccessful in the
development and commercialization of our productidates. In some cases, we may be responsibt@ifitinuing preclinical
and initial clinical development of a product catade or research program under a collaboratiomgeraent, and the payment
we receive from our collaboration partner may tsfficient to cover the cost of this developmehtvé are unable to reach
agreements with suitable collaborators for our pob@dandidates, we would face increased costs, ayeba forced to limit the
number of our product candidates we can commeyaiaielop or the territories in which we commeiigiathem and we might
fail to commercialize products or programs for whicsuitable collaborator cannot be found. If wiktéaachieve successful
collaborations, our operating results and financoaddition will be materially and adversely affette

If we fail to develop OCA for additional indicatia) our commercial opportunity will be limited.

To date, we have focused the majority of our dguelent efforts on the development of OCA for theoselcline treatment
of PBC. One of our strategies is to pursue clinitealelopment of OCA for other orphan and more comindications, to the
extent that we have sufficient funding.

PBC is a rare disease and, as a result, the nsireetor treatments of PBC is limited. Furthermdrecause a significant
proportion of PBC patients do not exhibit any syomps at the time of diagnosis, PBC may be left ugntiged for a significant
period of time. Due to these factors, our abilidygtow revenues will be dependent on our abilitgdocessfully develop and
commercialize OCA for the treatment of additiomalications. The completion of development, secuohapproval and
commercialization of OCA for additional indicationdll require substantial additional funding ancgi®ne to the risks of
failure inherent in drug development. We cannovjol® you any assurance that we will be able toesssfully advance any of
these indications through the development pro¢egn if we receive FDA or EMA approval to market O@h the treatment
of any of these additional indications, we canrssuae you that any such additional indications bellsuccessfully
commercialized, widely accepted in the marketptarcaore effective than other commercially availaddternatives. If we are
unable to successfully develop and commercializ& @€ these additional indications, our commercipportunity will be
limited and our business prospects will suffer.
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If serious adverse events or other undesirable siffects are identified during the development o€@ for one indication,
we may need to abandon our development of OCA tbeoindications.

Product candidates in clinical stages of develofrhawe a high risk of failure. We cannot prediciewtor if OCA will
prove effective or safe in humans or will receiggulatory approval. To date, the most common di@gets observed in clinical
trials of OCA were pruritus, headaches, fatiguastipation and diarrhea. New side effects coulevéhwer, be identified as we
expand our clinical trials for OCA to other indimats. If new side effects are found during the dgweent of OCA for any
indication, if known side effects are shown to berensevere than previously observed or if OCA imfbto have other
unexpected characteristics, we may need to abasutodevelopment of OCA for PBC and other poteritidications. We
cannot assure you that additional or more severerae side effects with respect to OCA will noteleyp in future clinical
trials, which could delay or preclude regulatorpgval of OCA or limit its commercial use.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Strategy

We face competition from other biotechnology and pimaceutical companies and our operating results hgiliffer if we fail
to compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive and subject to rapid andi§icant technological
change. We have competitors in the United Stat@sfe and other jurisdictions, including major rmational pharmaceutical
companies, established biotechnology companiesjapepharmaceutical and generic drug companiésuaiversities and
other research institutions. Many of our competit@se greater financial and other resources, ssitdrger research and
development staff and more experienced marketidgn@mufacturing organizations. Large pharmaceuticaipanies, in
particular, have extensive experience in clinieatihg, obtaining regulatory approvals, recruitiradients and manufacturing
pharmaceutical products. These companies alsodigniicantly greater research, sales and marketapabilities and
collaborative arrangements in our target markets lgading companies and research institutionslfished pharmaceutical
companies may also invest heavily to acceleratsodesy and development of novel compounds or t@emse novel
compounds that could make the product candidateswh develop obsolete. As a result of all of tHfaskors, our competitors
may succeed in obtaining patent protection andik Br EMA approval or discovering, developing ananeoercializing drugs
for the chronic liver and other diseases that weet@ngeting before we do. Smaller or early-stagepamies may also prove to
be significant competitors, particularly throughlaborative arrangements with large, establishedpamies. Some of the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies we éxp@ommpete with include Aptalis Pharma US, IAstellas Pharma US,
Inc., AstraZeneca, Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, Eli Lilkelixis, Inc., Galmed Medical Research Ltd., Imoruttd., Johnson &
Johnson, Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., NasVdx INovimmune SA., Phenex Pharmaceuticals AG, Rapto
Pharmaceutical Corp., Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ind.Tdoga Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In addition, manyensities and private
and public research institutes may become actiweiirtarget disease areas. Our competitors mayesddo developing,
acquiring or licensing on an exclusive basis, tettgies and drug products that are more effectidess costly than OCA or
any other product candidates that we are currel@Weloping or that we may develop, which could egralir products obsolete
and noncompetitive.

We believe that our ability to successfully compeiédepend on, among other things:
« the results of our and our strategic collabositcdlinical trials and preclinical studies;
e our ability to recruit and enroll patients forralinical trials;

« the efficacy, safety and reliability of our prawandidates;

¢ the speed at which we develop our product canega

e our ability to design and successfully executgrapriate clinical trials;

¢ our ability to maintain a good relationship wittgulatory authorities;

¢ the timing and scope of regulatory approvalany;
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our ability to commercialize and market any of ptoduct candidates that receive regulatory apgrov

¢ the price of our products;

« adequate levels of reimbursement under privatiegawvernmental health insurance plans, includingibéed;
« our ability to protect intellectual property rigirelated to our products;

« our ability to manufacture and sell commerciahutities of any approved products to the marked; an

¢ acceptance of our product candidates by physicaaa other health care providers.

If our competitors market products that are mofeative, safer or less expensive than our futuoelpets, if any, or that
reach the market sooner than our future producasy, we may not achieve commercial success. ditiad, the
biopharmaceutical industry is characterized byd&pchnological change. Because our research agipimogrates many
technologies, it may be difficult for us to stayedst of the rapid changes in each technologyelfail to stay at the forefront
of technological change, we may be unable to comngiéectively. Technological advances or produetgetbped by our
competitors may render our technologies or prodaontiidates obsolete, less competitive or not ecaradm

We depend on third-party contractors for a substahfportion of our operations and may not be abledontrol their work as
effectively as if we performed these functions oeires.

We outsource substantial portions of our operatioriird-party service providers, including thendact of preclinical
studies and clinical trials, collection and anaysi data and manufacturing. Our agreements wittl-fharty service providers
and CROs are on a study-by-study and project-bjeprdasis. Typically, we may terminate the agreemeith notice and are
responsible for the supplier’s previously incurcedts. In addition, any CRO that we retain willdobject to the FDA's and
EMA’s regulatory requirements and similar standandgiside of the United States and Europe and weotlbave control over
compliance with these regulations by these prosideéonsequently, if these providers do not adresapplicable governing
practices and standards, the development and casiatization of our product candidates could be yetbor stopped, which
could severely harm our business and financial itiond

Because we have relied on third parties, our iadezapacity to perform these functions is limitedrtanagement oversight.
Outsourcing these functions involves the risk thatl parties may not perform to our standards, matyproduce results in a
timely manner or may fail to perform at all. Sevgm@ars ago, we experienced difficulties with adkparty contract
manufacturer for OCA, including delays in receivadpquate clinical trial supplies as requestedimitie requested time
periods. We subsequently replaced this manufactitbrother third-party contract manufacturers@tA. Although we have
not experienced any significant difficulties witbrahird-party contractors since then, it is pokesthat we could experience
difficulties in the future. In addition, the usetbfrd-party service providers requires us to diselour proprietary information
to these parties, which could increase the risktthia information will be misappropriated. There a limited number of third-
party service providers that specialize or havesttpertise required to achieve our business obgtidentifying, qualifying
and managing performance of third-party serviceiplers can be difficult, time consuming and causlaysk in our
development programs. We currently have a smallbauraf employees, which limits the internal resesrare have available
to identify and monitor third-party service provideTo the extent we are unable to identify, retaid successfully manage the
performance of third-party service providers infin@ire, our business may be adversely affectediwamay be subject to the
imposition of civil or criminal penalties if theionduct of clinical trials violates applicable law.

Our third-party service providers may not be prakibfrom providing their services to other biophaceutical companies,
including companies that currently or may in theifa compete with us. For example, certain of birdtparty service
providers and consultants may be able to devekatiestual property to which we are not entitledlenour agreements which
may eventually be used to develop products thaipetenwith our products. Although we generally hewefidentiality and
non-disclosure agreements in
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place with our third-party service providers andsdtants, such third parties may be able to pmsetvices to other
companies without violating the terms of our agreets. In addition, although we may seek to entermon-compete
arrangements with our key third-party service pievs, such arrangements are difficult to negotiattwe may be unable to
successfully enter into such arrangements.

A variety of risks associated with our internatiohlausiness operations and our planned internatioraisiness relationships
could materially adversely affect our business.

Prior to April 2011, we operated a wholly-owned sidiary in Italy where our bile acid receptor resbavas primarily
conducted. Subsequently, until March 15, 2013, tliah subsidiary was in the process of voluntagyitlation under Italian
law. Effective March 15, 2013, we have decided toaee our Italian subsidiary from the liquidatioropess and it will
continue to act as our legal representative forctinical trials in the European Union to satisfyrBpean Union regulatory
requirements. In addition, we have entered intagreement with DSP for the development of OCA aitd &ervier for our
earlier stage TGR5 program, and we may enter igteeanents with other third parties for the develeptand
commercialization of OCA or our other product caladeés in international markets. Our internationmdrations and business
relationships subject us to additional risks thaymaterially adversely affect our ability to attair sustain profitable
operations, including:

e differing regulatory requirements for drug appatsvinternationally;
* potentially reduced protection for intellectuabperty rights;
e potential third-party patent rights in countr@sside of the United States;

e the potential for so-called “parallel importingyhich is what occurs when a local seller, faceithwelatively high local
prices, opts to import goods from another jurisdictvith relatively low prices, rather than buyitigem locally;

» unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriersragdlatory requirements;

* economic weakness, including inflation, or pobfiinstability, particularly in non-U.S. economisd markets,
including several countries in Europe;

» compliance with tax, employment, immigration daldor laws for employees traveling abroad,;
* taxes in other countries;

« foreign currency fluctuations, which could redolincreased operating expenses and reduced reyvend other
obligations incident to doing business in anotlmemdry;

« workforce uncertainty in countries where laborast is more common than in the United States;
» production shortages resulting from any everfiscihg raw material supply or manufacturing cafitdes abroad; and

e business interruptions resulting from geo-pdiitigctions, including war and terrorism, or natutighsters, including
earthquakes, volcanoes, typhoons, floods, hurrcand fires.

We will need to expand our operations and increae size of our company, and we may experience ditfies in managing
growth.

As of March 15, 2013, we had 25 employees. As weeage the number of ongoing product developmermgranes and
advance our product candidates through preclisitealies and clinical trials, we will need to ineaur product development,
scientific and administrative headcount to managse programs. In addition, to meet our obligatema public company, we
will need to increase our general and administeatizpabilities. Our management, personnel andragstarrently in place may
not be adequate to support this future growth.@ed to effectively manage our operations, growth\arious projects
requires that we:

e successfully attract and recruit new employeesoasultants with the expertise and experience iNeeguire;
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« manage our clinical programs effectively, whicé anticipate being conducted at numerous clinitas;s
« develop a marketing and sales infrastructure; and
e continue to improve our operational, financiatlananagement controls, reporting systems and puoesd

If we are unable to successfully manage this gr@mithincreased complexity of operations, our bissimeay be adversely
affected.

We may not be able to manage our business effegtiifele are unable to attract and retain key persmh and consultants.

We may not be able to attract or retain qualifie@hagement, finance, scientific and clinical pergbamd consultants due
to the intense competition for qualified persorama consultants among biotechnology, pharmacewiwhbther businesses. If
we are not able to attract and retain necessasppeel and consultants to accomplish our businggstives, we may
experience constraints that will significantly indeethe achievement of our development objectivesability to raise
additional capital and our ability to implement diwsiness strategy.

Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnofenanagement personnel in recent years. Weighdytdependent on
the development, regulatory, commercialization lnsiness development expertise of Mark Pruzanskicedounder and
president and chief executive officer; David Shapaur chief medical officer; Barbara Duncan, ohie€ financial officer and
treasurer; Daniel Regan, our chief commercial effigired in March 2013; Luciano Adorini, our chiefentific officer; and our
other key employees and consultants, such as BovfB®berto Pellicciari, our co-founder who progidegoing consulting
services to us. If we lose one or more of our etieewfficers or key employees or consultants, ahility to implement our
business strategy successfully could be seriowsiynéd. Any of our executive officers or key empleyer consultants may
terminate their employment at any time. Replacixeceative officers, key employees and consultantg beedifficult and may
take an extended period of time because of theddmumber of individuals in our industry with theeadth of skills and
experience required to develop, gain regulatory@ of and commercialize products successfullym@etition to hire and
retain employees and consultants from this limgedl is intense, and we may be unable to hirep tratain or motivate these
additional key personnel and consultants. Our ffaita retain key personnel or consultants coulcenadty harm our business.

We have scientific and clinical advisors and cotesus, such as our co-founder Professor Robertwétati, who assist us
in formulating our research, development and dlihstrategies. These advisors are not our emplayeegsnay have
commitments to, or consulting or advisory contragith, other entities that may limit their availlityi to us and typically they
will not enter into non-compete agreements withlfus.conflict of interest arises between their kvéor us and their work for
another entity, we may lose their services. In taldi our advisors may have arrangements with atberpanies to assist those
companies in developing products or technologiasriray compete with ours.

Failure to build our finance infrastructure and impove our accounting systems and controls could inrgaur ability to
comply with the financial reporting and internal edrols requirements for publicly traded companies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasidgiyanding regulatory environment, which requiresousomply with
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the relategsrahd regulations of the Securities and Exchamgen@ission, expanded
disclosure requirements, accelerated reportingir@agents and more complex accounting rules. Compasponsibilities
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include esthiolgscorporate oversight and adequate internakebaver financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedurfective internal controls are necessary for uprtiuce reliable financial
reports and are important to help prevent finarfczald.

We have begun implementing our system of interoatrols over financial reporting and preparing doeumentation
necessary to perform the evaluation needed to gowifh Section 404(a) of the
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We anticipate that we will neetktain additional finance capabilities and éaiur financial
infrastructure as a public company, including cormg with the requirements of Section 404 of theb&aes-Oxley Act. We
plan to continue improving our financial infrasttuie with the retention of additional financial aactounting capabilities, the
enhancement of internal controls and additionahitng for our financial and accounting staff.

Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requinggial management assessments of the effectiveheas ioternal
control over financial reporting, starting with thecond annual report that we would expect tosfith the Securities and
Exchange Commission. However, for as long as wairean “emerging growth company” as defined int@8S Act, we
have and intend to continue to take advantagertdioeexemptions from various reporting requirersehtt are applicable to
other public companies that are not “emerging gnoseimpanies” including, but not limited to, notigirequired to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Sectio4(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We may contiouake advantage of
these reporting exemptions until we are no longéeteaerging growth company.” We will remain an “egieg growth
company” until the earliest of (i) the last daytioé fiscal year in which we have total annual gresenues of $1 billion or
more; (ii) December 31, 2017; (iii) the date on efhwe have issued more than $1 billion in noncaitlerdebt during the
previous three years; or (iv) the date on whichaweedeemed to be a large accelerated filer undeuths of the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Until we are able to expand our finance and adrmatige capabilities and establish necessary firneporting
infrastructure, we may not be able to prepare asclabe, in a timely manner, our financial statete@md other required
disclosures or comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Aabadsting or new reporting requirements. If wenatprovide reliable
financial reports or prevent fraud, our business @sults of operations could be harmed and investwuld lose confidence in
our reported financial information.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherrioper activities, including noncompliance with regatory standards
and requirements and insider trading, which coul@sificantly harm our business.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud ceratiisconduct. Misconduct by employees could inciatentional
failures to comply with the regulations of the FRAd non-U.S. regulators, provide accurate inforomatb the FDA and non-
U.S. regulators, comply with health care fraud ahdse laws and regulations in the United Statesiarahd, report financial
information or data accurately or disclose unautear activities to us. In particular, sales, margand business arrangements
in the health care industry are subject to extenkiws and regulations intended to prevent frauscomduct, kickbacks, self-
dealing and other abusive practices. These lawseandations may restrict or prohibit a wide rag@ricing, discounting,
marketing and promotion, sales commission, custénoentive programs and other business arrangertemisloyee
misconduct could also involve the improper usenifrimation obtained in the course of clinical sialivhich could result in
regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our réipataWWe have adopted a code of conduct, butribtsalways possible to
identify and deter employee misconduct, and theagurgéons we take to detect and prevent this agtivily not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses @rotecting us from governmental investigation®ther actions or
lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with skdaws or regulations. If any such actions arttitted against us, and we
are not successful in defending ourselves or asgestrr rights, those actions could have a sigaiftdmpact on our business,
including the imposition of significant fines othetr sanctions.

We face potential product liability exposure, andsificcessful claims are brought against us, we maguir substantial
liability for a product candidate and may have tinit its commercialization.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $rhd the sale of any products for which we magiobmarketing approval
expose us to the risk of product liability clairffsoduct liability claims may be brought againsbusur collaborators by
participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patis, health care providers or others using, adieinigy or selling our products. If
we cannot successfully defend ourselves againssacty claims, we would incur substantial liabistiRegardless of merit or
eventual outcome, product liability claims may tesu

« withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

¢ termination of clinical trial sites or entiredtiprograms;
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« costs of related litigation;

« substantial monetary awards to patients or attemants;

¢ decreased demand for our product candidatesossdf revenues;

« impairment of our business reputation;

« diversion of management and scientific resoufi@@a our business operations; and
¢ the inability to commercialize our product caratis.

We have obtained limited product liability insurarmverage for our clinical trials in the Uniteét®s and in selected other
jurisdictions where we are conducting clinical IsidDur product liability insurance coverage fanidal trials in the United
States is currently limited to an aggregate of #lllon and outside of the United States we haweecage for lesser amounts
that vary by country. As such, our insurance cayemaay not reimburse us or may not be sufficiemetmburse us for any
expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insereonerage is becoming increasingly expensive, iartie future, we may
not be able to maintain insurance coverage atsonedle cost or in sufficient amounts to protechgainst losses due to
product liability. We intend to expand our insurarmoverage for products to include the sale of ceraial products if we
obtain marketing approval for our product candidatedevelopment, but we may be unable to obtamnsercially reasonable
product liability insurance for any products apgdvor marketing. Large judgments have been awardeldss action lawsuits
based on drugs that had unanticipated side effdécaccessful product liability claim or seriesotdims brought against us,
particularly if judgments exceed our insurance cage, could decrease our cash resources and dghegffeet our business.

Our insurance policies are expensive and only praitas from some business risks, which will leaveaxposed to significant
uninsured liabilities.

We do not carry insurance for all categories d&f tigt our business may encounter. Some of theipslive currently
maintain include general liability, employment giees liability, property, auto, workers’ compernsat products liability and
directors’ and officers’ insurance. We do not knomyvever, if we will be able to maintain insurandiéh adequate levels of
coverage. Any significant uninsured liability maquire us to pay substantial amounts, which wodleeesely affect our
financial position and results of operations.

If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization oudiness combination, we will incur a variety of kis that could adversely
affect our business operations or our stockholders.

From time to time we have considered, and we wilitmue to consider in the future, strategic bussniaitiatives intended
to further the expansion and development of ouimiess. These initiatives may include acquiring besses, technologies or
products or entering into a business combinatidgh amother company. If we pursue such a strategycauld, among other
things:

e issue equity securities that would dilute ourent stockholders’ percentage ownership;
e incur substantial debt that may place strainswnoperations;

¢ spend substantial operational, financial and rgameent resources to integrate new businesses dlegies and
products;

¢ assume substantial actual or contingent liabgiti
« reprioritize our development programs and evessealevelopment and commercialization of our prodaedidates; or

* merge with, or otherwise enter into a businesshination with, another company in which our staaklers would
receive cash and/or shares of the other compatgroms that certain of our stockholders may not ddesirable.

Although we intend to evaluate and consider actjoiiss, reorganizations and business combinatiotiseriuture, we have
no agreements or understandings with respect t@eamyisition, reorganization or business combimadibthis time.
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Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirgernal computer systems, and those of our C&@sother third
parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to danfeg® computer viruses, unauthorized access, nadisasters, terrorism, war
and telecommunication and electrical failuresutffsan event were to occur and cause interrupiioosr operations, it could
result in a material disruption of our drug devehgmt programs. For example, the loss of clinidal ttata from completed or
ongoing or planned clinical trials could resuldielays in our regulatory approval efforts and digantly increase our costs to
recover or reproduce the data. To the extent tatésruption or security breach were to resubt ioss of or damage to our
data or applications, or inappropriate disclosdreonfidential or proprietary information, we coufttur liability and the
further development of our product candidates cbeldelayed.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to protect our proprieta rights, and we may not be able to ensure thaiotection. If our patent
position does not adequately protect our produchdalates, others could compete against us moredatiye which would
harm our business, possibly materially.

Our commercial success will depend in part on abigiand maintaining patent protection and traadeetgrotection of our
current and future product candidates and the mdetheed to manufacture them, as well as successkfitnding these patents
against third-party challenges. Our ability to stioipd parties from making, using, selling, offegito sell or importing our
product candidates is dependent upon the extemhitth we have rights under valid and enforceabternga or trade secrets that
cover these activities.

The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmiézaicompanies can be highly uncertain and invalplex legal and
factual questions for which important legal pridegremain unresolved. No consistent policy regaydle breadth of claims
allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emergedt®idahe United States or in many jurisdictionssale of the United States.
Changes in either the patent laws or interpretatafrpatent laws in the United States and othentcms may diminish the
value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, wannot predict the breadth of claims that mayrifereed in the patents that
may be issued from the applications we currentlsnay in the future own or license from third pastiEurther, if any patents
we obtain or license are deemed invalid and uneaédle, our ability to commercialize or license mahnology could be
adversely affected.

Others have filed, and in the future are likelyil®, patent applications covering products andhtedogies that are similar,
identical or competitive to ours or important ta dusiness. We cannot be certain that any pateaticapon owned by a third
party will not have priority over patent applicat®filed or in-licensed by us, or that we or ogeiisors will not be involved in
interference, opposition or invalidity proceedirmggore U.S. or non-U.S. patent offices.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afforg lamited protection and
may not adequately protect our rights or permiiougain or keep our competitive advantage. For gem

« others may be able to develop a platform sintdapr better than, ours in a way that is not cesdsy the claims of our
patents;

« others may be able to make compounds that ali@asiim our product candidates but that are noeced by the claims
of our patents;

« we might not have been the first to make the miees covered by our pending patent applications;

* we might not have been the first to file patgoplecations for these inventions;

« others may independently develop similar or alitive technologies or duplicate any of our tecbgias;
¢ any patents that we obtain may not provide ub @ity competitive advantages;

« we may not develop additional proprietary techgas that are patentable; or

« the patents of others may have an adverse effectir business.
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As of March 15, 2013, we were the owner of recor8bfssued or granted U.S. and non-U.S. pateratinglto OCA with
claims directed to pharmaceutical compounds, phegmtacal compositions, methods of making these @amgs, and methods
of using these compounds in various indications Wiee also the owner of record of 9 pending U.8.reon-U.S. patent
applications relating to OCA in these areas.

In addition, as of March 15, 2013, we were the ovafeecord of issued or granted U.S. and non-UaBergs relating to our
product candidates other than OCA, with claimsaiéé to pharmaceutical compounds, pharmaceuticapositions and
methods of using these compounds in various inditsit We were also the owner of record of pendit. @nd non-U.S.
patent applications relating to such other prodaddidates in these areas.

Patents covering the composition of matter of OQpire in 2022 if the appropriate maintenance fegweal, annuity, or
other government fees are paid. We expect thatttier patents and patent applications for the OG®#fdio, if issued, and if
the appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuityleerajovernmental fees are paid, would expire fro222o0 2028. We expect
the issued INT-767 composition of matter paterthenUnited States, if the appropriate maintenaeegrenewal, annuity, or
other governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2028 expect the other pending patent applicatioribe INT-767 portfolio, if
issued, and if the appropriate maintenance, renemality or other governmental fees are paidxpire in 2027. We expect
the issued INT-777 composition of matter patenthsUnited States, if the appropriate maintenaaeerenewal, annuity, or
other governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2088 expect the other pending patent applicatiorike INT-777 portfolio, if
issued, and if the appropriate maintenance, renenabity or other governmental fees are paidxpre from 2028 to 2029.

Without patent protection on the composition of texadf our product candidates, our ability to alsear patents to stop
others from using or selling our product candidates non-pharmaceutically acceptable formulatiay e limited.

Due to the patent laws of a country, or the deosiof a patent examiner in a country, or our owndistrategies, we may
not obtain patent coverage for all of our prodwstdidates or methods involving these candidatéseiparent patent
application. We plan to pursue divisional paterglig@gtions or continuation patent applicationsha tUnited States and other
countries to obtain claim coverage for inventiorigol were disclosed but not claimed in the paratemt application.

We may also rely on trade secrets to protect almiglogy, especially where we do not believe pabeotection is
appropriate or feasible. However, trade secretsliffieult to protect. Although we use reasonalfferts to protect our trade
secrets, our employees, consultants, contractotside scientific collaborators and other advisoey unintentionally or
willfully disclose our information to competitor&nforcing a claim that a third party illegally olited and is using any of our
trade secrets is expensive and time consumingthendutcome is unpredictable. In addition, coudside the United States
are sometimes less willing to protect trade seck@tseover, our competitors may independently dgvelguivalent
knowledge, methods and know-how.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litiigen or other proceedings relating to patent anchet intellectual property
rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop another padynfusing the inventions claimed in any patentobin, that individual
or company has the right to ask the court to ttude $uch patents are invalid or should not be eatbagainst that third party.
These lawsuits are expensive and would consumeaideesources and divert the attention of manalgand scientific
personnel even if we were successful in stoppiegrtfringement of such patents. In addition, there risk that the court will
decide that such patents are not valid and thatomeot have the right to stop the other party fu@img the inventions. There is
also the risk that, even if the validity of suchiguds is upheld, the court will refuse to stopdkiger party on the ground that
such other party’s activities do not infringe oights to such patents. In addition, the U.S. Supr@uurt has recently modified
some tests used by the U.S. Patent and Tradem#éde Qfr USPTO, in granting patents over the p@sgears, which may
decrease the likelihood that we will be able tcaobpatents and increase the likelihood of chabenfgany patents we obtain or
license.
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We may infringe the intellectual property rights others, which may prevent or delay our product deyenent efforts and
stop us from commercializing or increase the costcommercializing our product candidates.

Our success will depend in part on our ability pem@te without infringing the proprietary rightstbird parties. We cannot
guarantee that our products, or manufacture oofiear product candidates, will not infringe thipdsty patents. Furthermore, a
third party may claim that we or our manufacturargcommercialization collaborators are using iniard covered by the third
party’s patent rights and may go to court to stefiram engaging in our normal operations and & including making or
selling our product candidates. These lawsuitcastly and could affect our results of operationd divert the attention of
managerial and scientific personnel. There islkathiat a court would decide that we or our comnadiation collaborators are
infringing the third party’s patents and would arde or our collaborators to stop the activitiesered by the patents. In that
event, we or our commercialization collaboratorymat have a viable way around the patent and rneay o halt
commercialization of the relevant product. In aiddit there is a risk that a court will order usoar collaborators to pay the
other party damages for having violated the otlaetyfs patents. In the future, we may agree tonmgié our commercial
collaborators against certain intellectual proparfsingement claims brought by third parties. f&rmaceutical and
biotechnology industries have produced a proliferadf patents, and it is not always clear to induparticipants, including us,
which patents cover various types of products ahous of use. The coverage of patents is subjdantegpretation by the
courts, and the interpretation is not always unifor

If we are sued for patent infringement, we wouldd&d demonstrate that our products or methodsreith not infringe the
patent claims of the relevant patent or that tiemgaclaims are invalid, and we may not be abl@ahis. Proving invalidity is
difficult. For example, in the United States, prayinvalidity requires a showing of clear and coring evidence to overcome
the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued ptteBven if we are successful in these proceedimgsnay incur substantial
costs and divert management’s time and attentigruiauing these proceedings, which could have anmbhtdverse effect on
us. If we are unable to avoid infringing the pateégiits of others, we may be required to seekemBe, which may not be
available, defend an infringement action or chaéethe validity of the patents in court. Patengdition is costly and time
consuming. We may not have sufficient resourcdsitgy these actions to a successful conclusioadtition, if we do not
obtain a license, develop or obtain non-infringieghnology, fail to defend an infringement actioecessfully or have
infringed patents declared invalid, we may inclsstantial monetary damages, encounter significelatyd in bringing our
product candidates to market and be precluded framufacturing or selling our product candidates.

We cannot be certain that others have not filedmiapplications for technology covered by our fregpépplications, or
that we were the first to invent the technologyaiese:

¢ some patent applications in the United States lbeagpaintained in secrecy until the patents areiss
« patent applications in the United States arecsipyi not published until 18 months after the ptiodate; and
« publications in the scientific literature ofteaglbehind actual discoveries.

Our competitors may have filed, and may in therfile, patent applications covering technologpikir to ours. Any such
patent application may have priority over our pasggplications, which could further require us biain rights to issued patents
covering such technologies. If another party haslfa U.S. patent application on inventions sintitaours, we may have to
participate in an interference proceeding declasethe USPTO to determine priority of inventiortlie United States. The
costs of these proceedings could be substantidlit ampossible that such efforts would be unsesfid if, unbeknownst to us,
the other party had independently arrived at timeesar similar invention prior to our own inventiaesulting in a loss of our
U.S. patent position with respect to such invergtiddther countries have similar laws that pernttesgy of patent applications,
and may be entitled to priority over our applicaion such jurisdictions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustaircdlsés of complex patent litigation more effectiviign we can because
they have substantially greater resources. In adgliany uncertainties resulting from the
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initiation and continuation of any litigation coutdve a material adverse effect on our abilityaise the funds necessary to
continue our operations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee
payment and other requirements imposed by governtakepatent agencies, and our patent protection abble reduced or
eliminated for non-compliance with these requirentsn

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annwty d@d various other governmental fees on patedtsraapplications will
be due to be paid to the USPTO and various govertahpatent agencies outside of the United Statesveral stages over the
lifetime of the patents and/or applications. Weehaystems in place to remind us to pay these &ekwe employ an outside
firm and rely on our outside counsel to pay thessfdue to non-U.S. patent agencies. The USPT®aaiwdis non-U.S.
governmental patent agencies require compliandeavwtumber of procedural, documentary, fee paymedtother similar
provisions during the patent application process.amploy reputable law firms and other professmit@help us comply, and
in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be curpdysyent of a late fee or by other means in acomelavith the applicable
rules. However, there are situations in which noamgitlance can result in abandonment or lapse op#tent or patent
application, resulting in partial or complete l@dgatent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. brch an event, our competitors
might be able to enter the market and this circantst would have a material adverse effect on osinbss.

We may be subject to claims that our employees harangfully used or disclosed alleged trade secwftsheir former
employers. If we are not able to adequately prewvaistlosure of trade secrets and other proprietéamfjormation, the value of
our technology and products could be significantlyminished.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceluticstries, we employ individuals who were prexsty employed at
other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companiedyding our competitors or potential competitorse YWay be subject to
claims that these employees, or we, have inadwgrtenotherwise used or disclosed trade secretghar proprietary
information of their former employers. Litigationaybe necessary to defend against these claims.iEwe are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation couklhein substantial costs and be a distractiondaoagement.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprieteinologies, especially where we do not belieatenqt protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secretslifficult to protect. We rely in part on confittéality agreements with our
employees, consultants, outside scientific collatms, sponsored researchers and other advispretert our trade secrets and
other proprietary information. These agreements nmeffectively prevent disclosure of confidentigbrmation and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of unaatwdisclosure of confidential information. In #dzth, others may
independently discover our trade secrets and ptapyi information. For example, the FDA, as pait®fransparency
Initiative, is currently considering whether to neadditional information publicly available on aitime basis, including
information that we may consider to be trade seaebther proprietary information, and it is nkgas at the present time how
the FDA's disclosure policies may change in thefetif at all. Costly and time-consuming litigatioould be necessary to
enforce and determine the scope of our proprietghts, and failure to obtain or maintain traderseprotection could
adversely affect our competitive business position.

We have not yet registered our trademarks and fadlio secure those registrations could adverselgeiffour business.

If we seek to register any of our trademarks, casteémark applications may not be allowed for regi&in or our registered
trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. Qurademark registration proceedings, we may recejections. Although
we are given an opportunity to respond to thosectigins, we may be unable to overcome such rejectio addition, in the
USPTO and in comparable agencies in many othesdigtions, third parties are given an opporturstpppose pending
trademark applications and to seek to cancel m@gdttrademarks. Opposition or cancellation proogsdnay be filed against
our trademarks, and our trademarks may not sustied proceedings. If we do not secure registrafionsur trademarks, we
may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them imgathird parties than we otherwise would.

55




TABLE OF CONTENTS

In addition, we have not yet proposed a proprietemyie for any of our product candidates, includ@A, in any
jurisdiction. Any proprietary name we propose te usth OCA in the United States must be approvethbyFDA, regardless
of whether we have registered it, or applied tastegit, as a trademark. The FDA typically conduztreview of proposed
product names, including an evaluation of poteritietonfusion with other product names. If the FBBjects to any of our
proposed proprietary product names, we may be negdjtd expend significant additional resourcesnireffort to identify a
suitable proprietary product name that would qyalifider applicable trademark laws, not infringeeRisting rights of third
parties and be acceptable to the FDA.

Risks Relating to Owning Our Common Stock

The trading market in our common stock has beenrextely limited and substantially less liquid thahd average trading
market for a stock quoted on the NASDAQ Global Matke

Since our initial listing on the NASDAQ Global Matken October 11, 2012, the trading market in oumicmn stock has
been extremely limited and substantially less tighian the average trading market for companiesegumn the NASDAQ
Global Market. The quotation of our common stocklenNASDAQ Global Market does not assure that a ingéu,
consistent and liquid trading market currently &xi8Ve cannot predict whether a more active mddcedur common stock will
develop in the future. An absence of an activeitigacharket could adversely affect our stockholdatslity to sell our common
stock at current market prices in short time pesjasdt possibly at all. Additionally, market visilyl for our common stock may
be limited and such lack of visibility may haveepdessive effect on the market price for our comstook. As of December
31, 2012, approximately 63.0% of our outstandirgrest of common stock was held by our officers,aimes, beneficial owners
of 5% or more of our securities and their respectiffiliates, which adversely affects the liquiditfithe trading market for our
common stock, in as much as federal securities fastsict sales of our shares by these stockholtfeoar affiliates continue to
hold their shares of common stock, there will patid trading volume in our common stock, which magke it more difficult
for investors to sell their shares or increasevtilatility of our stock price. In addition, as oePember 31, 2012, 11,594,188
shares of common stock, or 70.2% of our outstansirages, were restricted from resale under segsitdivs or as a result of
lock-up agreements, further limiting the liquidd§ our common stock; however, such lock-up agreesnill expire at the
close of business on April 8, 2013.

Our share price may be volatile, which could suljes to securities class action litigation and rdsin substantial losses to
our stockholders.

The trading price of our common stock is highlyatdé and could be subject to wide fluctuationsasponse to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. &imgr initial public offering which occurred in @tter 2012, the price of our
common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Marketraaged from $17.96 per share to $42.67 per sha=dition to the
factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” sectiod alsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kséhfactors include:

¢ adverse results or delays in our clinical trials;
« inability to obtain additional funding;

« any delay in filing an IND, NDA, MAA or comparabsibmission for any of our future product candidated any
adverse development or perceived adverse develdpmithrrespect to the regulatory review of suchraigsion;

« failure to successfully develop and commercia@@A and any of our future product candidates;
¢ failure to maintain our existing strategic alkk@s or enter into new alliances;

« failure of our strategic alliance partners tocete develop and commercialize product candidateter our alliance
agreements or the termination of any programs uodealliance agreements;

¢ inability to obtain adequate product supply faZ®and our future product candidates or the inghiib do so at
acceptable prices;

¢ results of clinical trials of our competitors'quucts;
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« regulatory actions with respect to our productewr competitors’ products;

¢ changes in laws or regulations applicable tofoture products;

« failure to meet or exceed financial projectioresway provide to the public;

« failure to meet or exceed the estimates and gtiojes of the investment community;

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our finaaondition and operating results;

« actual or anticipated changes in our growth rel&ive to our competitors;

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our comime’ operating results or changes in their groratie;
« competition from existing products or new produttat may emerge;

e announcements by us, our collaborators or oumpetitors of significant acquisitions, strategiclabbrations, joint
ventures, collaborations or capital commitments;

¢ issuance of new or updated research or reporsetyrities analysts;

¢ fluctuations in the valuation of companies perediby investors to be comparable to us;

« share price and volume fluctuations attributablanconsistent trading volume levels of our shares
¢ additions or departures of key management onsfiiepersonnel;

« disputes or other developments related to pragsieights, including patents, litigation mattersd our ability to obtain
patent protection for our technologies;

¢ announcement or expectation of additional finag@fforts;

¢ significant lawsuits, including patent or stoclder litigation;

¢ sales of our common stock by us, our insidersunrother stockholders;
« market conditions for biopharmaceutical stockgemeral; and

¢ general economic and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have adi@etnd continue to
affect the market prices of equity securities ohgneompanies. These fluctuations often have beeglated or disproportionate
to the operating performance of those companieasdbroad market and industry fluctuations, as agetieneral economic,
political and market conditions such as recessiosrest rate changes or international currenagtiations, may negatively
impact the market price of shares of our commockstieegardless of our actual operating performalmaddition, such
fluctuations could subject us to securities clat®a litigation, which could result in substantcalsts and divert our
management’s attention from other business congcetrish could seriously harm our business. As altes this volatility, our
stockholders could incur substantial losses.

We have a significant stockholder, which will limyour ability to influence corporate matters and maye rise to conflicts
of interest.

Genextra S.p.A., together with its affiliates, wham refer to collectively as Genextra, is our latggtockholder. As of
December 31, 2012, Genextra owned 7,187,217 shhmes common stock and warrants to purchase aitiewmial 865,381
shares of our common stock. The shares of comnoek stvned by Genextra represented approximateB24&f our
outstanding shares of common stock as of Decenthe2@®.2. Accordingly, Genextra exerts significarfluience over us and
any action requiring the approval of the holderswf common stock, including the election of dicesf amendments to our
organizational documents, such as increases inuthorized shares of common stock, and approvsbafficant corporate
transactions. This concentration of voting powekesait less likely that any other holder of comnstock or directors of our
business will be able to affect the way we are madand could delay or prevent an acquisition afrugerms that other
stockholders may desire. In addition, if Genextitams a majority of our common stock, Genextralddae able to control all
matters submitted to our stockholders for approval,
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as well as our management and affairs. For exar@gaextra would be able to control the electiodigéctors, amendments to
our organizational documents and approval of anggere consolidation, sale of all or substantiallyofour assets or other
business combination or reorganization. In additib@enextra obtains a majority of our common ktage would be deemed a
“controlled company” for purposes of NASDAQ listingquirements. Under NASDAQ rules, a “controllednpany” may elect
not to comply with certain NASDAQ corporate goveroa requirements, including (i) the requirement ¢heajority of our
board of directors consist of independent dire¢t@i)sthe requirement that the compensation of afficers be determined or
recommended to the board by a majority of independieectors or a compensation committee that ispmsed entirely of
independent directors, and (jii) the requiremeat tlirector nominees be selected or recommendgttboard by a majority of
independent directors or a nominating committeeitheomposed of entirely independent directors.

Furthermore, the interests of Genextra may notysweaincide with your interests or the intereststbier stockholders and
Genextra may act in a manner that advances itdriieststs and not necessarily those of other btaldkrs, including seeking a
premium value for its common stock, and might aftbe prevailing market price for our common std®kir board of directors,
which consists of seven directors, including twidliafed with Genextra, has the power to set theber of directors on our
board from time to time.

Being a public company has increased and will canté to increase our expenses and administrativedsmir.

As a public company, we are incurring, and will toae to incur, significant legal, insurance, aaating and other
expenses. In addition, our administrative stafeuired to perform additional tasks and we areired to bear all of the
internal and external costs of preparing and thistimg periodic public reports in compliance witlr @bligations under the
securities laws.

In addition, laws, regulations and standards appl&to public companies relating to corporate guaece and public
disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act atated regulations implemented by the SecuritiesExehange Commission
and the NASDAQ Stock Market, are creating uncerydiot public companies, increasing legal and finahcompliance costs
and making some activities more time consuming séhaws, regulations and standards are subjeetrying interpretations,
in many cases due to their lack of specificity, ,aagla result, their application in practice magles over time as new guidance
is provided by regulatory and governing bodiessTduuld result in continuing uncertainty regardoognpliance matters and
higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisionsstdasure and governance practices. We intendviesirresources to comply
with evolving laws, regulations and standards, tiglinvestment will result in increased general administrative expenses
and may divert management’s time and attention foomduct development activities. If our effortscamply with new laws,
regulations and standards differ from the actigitrgended by regulatory or governing bodies duanbiguities related to
practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legadceedings against us and our business may breetatn connection with our
initial public offering, we increased our directoasd officers’ insurance coverage, which increasedinsurance cost. In the
future, it may be more expensive for us to obtaiaador and officer liability insurance, and we nag required to accept
reduced coverage or incur substantially highersctusbbtain coverage. These factors could also ritakere difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified members of our bodrdirectors, particularly to serve on our audit ¢oittee and compensation
committee, and qualified executive officers.

We are an “emerging growth company” and the reduagidclosure requirements applicable to emerging gtbwompanies
could make our common stock less attractive to stees.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definethénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201thedOBS Act,
and we have and intend to continue to take advardggertain exemptions from various reporting regfaents that are
applicable to other public companies that are ratérging growth companies” including not being ieggito comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 40dflihe Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure abbgs regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyestents, and exemptions from the requirements dfifigla nonbinding
advisory vote on executive compensation and shitehapproval of any golden parachute paymentpretiously approved.
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We cannot predict if investors will find our commstock less attractive because we have and mainoertb rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stesk attractive as a result, there may be a tgsedrading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more Velalle may take advantage of these reporting eXxengpuntil we are no
longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remaim“emerging growth company” until the earliestipthe last day of
the fiscal year in which we have total annual gresgnues of $1 billion or more; (ii) December 3@17; (jii) the date on
which we have issued more than $1 billion in nomeotible debt during the previous three yearsj\rtfie date on which we
are deemed to be a large accelerated filer unéeutas of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteall control over financial reporting in the futureywe may not be able to
accurately report our financial condition, resultsf operations or cash flows, which may adverselfeaf investor confidence
in us and, as a result, the value of our commondito

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we maintain effective internal controls fimancial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. Commencing evittannual report on Form 10-K for the year enddegember 31, 2013,
we will be required, under Section 404 of the SaesaOxley Act, to furnish a report by managementomong other things,
the effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting. This assessment will need to ideldisclosure of any material
weaknesses identified by our management in oumiateontrol over financial reporting. A materiaéakness is a control
deficiency, or combination of control deficienci@sjnternal control over financial reporting thasults in more than a
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroéatnual or interim financial statements will et prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyafso generally requires an attestation fromiodependent registered
public accounting firm on the effectiveness of miernal control over financial reporting. Howevfmn, as long as we remain
an emerging growth company, as defined in the J@&Swe intend to take advantage of certain exemmgtirom various
reporting requirements that are applicable to opidalic companies that are not emerging growth @mgs including, but not
limited to, not being required to comply with timelependent registered public accounting firm &it&st requirement.

Our compliance with Section 404 will require that imcur substantial accounting expense and expgniisant
management efforts. We currently do not have asriad audit group, and we will need to hire addisibaccounting and
financial staff with appropriate public company expnce and technical accounting knowledge, andderthe system and
process documentation necessary to perform theavah needed to comply with Section 404. We maybeaable to complete
our evaluation, testing and any required remediatica timely fashion. During the evaluation anstiteg process, if we identify
one or more material weaknesses in our internatabover financial reporting, we will be unabledesert that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective. Wantiot assure you that there will not be materia@kmesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal control over finanaieporting in the future. Any failure to maintairtérnal control over financial
reporting could severely inhibit our ability to acately report our financial condition, resultsopferations or cash flows. If we
are unable to conclude that our internal contr@rdinancial reporting is effective, or if our ingEndent registered public
accounting firm determines we have a material wes&mr significant deficiency in our internal cohver financial reporting
once that firm begin its Section 404 reviews, walddose investor confidence in the accuracy andpieteness of our
financial reports, the market price of our commtatk could decline, and we could be subject to sams or investigations by
the NASDAQ, the Securities and Exchange Commissiarther regulatory authorities. Failure to remeady material
weakness in our internal control over financialaimg, or to implement or maintain other effectaantrol systems required of
public companies, could also restrict our futureess to the capital markets.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not pet/or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requiretmefthe Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls prudedures are
designed to reasonably assure that informationinedjto be disclosed by us in reports we file dyrait under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to managementrded, processed, summarized and reported \titeitime periods
specified in the rules and forms of the Securitied Exchange Commission. We believe that any disotocontrols and
procedures or internal controls and
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procedures, no matter how well conceived and opératan provide only reasonable, not absoluterasse that the objectives
of the control system are met.

These inherent limitations include the realitiest fladgments in decision-making can be faulty, dnad breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additignaontrols can be circumvented by the individaats of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by an unauthedipverride of the controls. Accordingly, becaukthe inherent limitations
in our control system, misstatements or insuffit@ieclosure due to error or fraud may occur artchecdetected.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shas of common stock is restricted from resale butynb& sold into the
market in the near future. This could cause the nkat price of our common stock to drop significantigven if our business
is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market could occur in thiifa. These sales, or
the perception in the market that the holderslafge number of shares of common stock intendltskares, could reduce the
market price of our common stock and could impair ability to raise capital through the sale ofiitiddal equity securities.
We are unable to predict the effect that sales In@ag on the prevailing market price of our commiocls

As of December 31, 2012, we had 16,526,885 shdmememon stock outstanding. Of these shares, 493%hares may
be resold in the public market immediately andréreaining 11,594,188 shares are currently restricteler securities laws or
as a result of lock-up agreements entered intommection with our initial public offering but wille able to be resold on April
9, 2013, the first day after the lock-up expirefject to Rule 144. Sales of stock by these stddens could have a material
adverse effect on the trading price of our commonks

In addition, holders of an aggregate of 12,667 &&&es of our common stock, including shares uyidegrbptions and
warrants of such holders, will have rights, subfeatertain conditions, to require us to file région statements covering their
shares or to include their shares in registratiatements that we may file for ourselves or othecidolders. We have
registered 2,051,028 shares of common stock thatmassued under our equity compensation plansamsiuch, they can be
freely sold in the public market upon issuance @mck vested, subject to applicable lock-up agre&sn@my sales of securities
by these stockholders, option holders and warraldfehs could have a material adverse effect otréttbng price of our
common stock.

Future sales and issuances of our common stockights to purchase common stock pursuant to our dguncentive plans
and our outstanding warrants could result in addtal dilution of the percentage ownership of ounskholders and could
cause our share price to fall.

We expect that significant additional capital vié# needed in the future to continue our plannedatipas. To the extent we
raise additional capital by issuing equity secesitiour stockholders may experience substantigiati. We may sell common
stock, convertible securities or other equity siti@srin one or more transactions at prices aranmanner we determine from
time to time. If we sell common stock, convertibéurities or other equity securities in more thae transaction, investors
may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. Salds may also result in material dilution to existing stockholders, and
new investors could gain rights superior to oustng stockholders.

Pursuant to our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, or2®&2 Plan, our management is authorized to graok stptions and other
equity-based awards to our employees, directorsansdultants. As of January 1, 2013, we had oul@tgroptions to purchase
1,526,150 shares and restricted stock units for1BBsshares of common stock. Furthermore, as of date, 1,009,765 were
reserved for future issuance under the 2012 Phatuging 661,075 shares of common stock addedet@®i2 Plan in January
2013 in accordance with its terms). Sales of shgasted under our equity incentive plans or up@rase of warrants may
result in material dilution to our existing stockthers, which could cause our share price to fall.

The number of shares available for future graneutide 2012 Plan will automatically increase eagéryoy up to 4% of all
shares of our capital stock outstanding as of DéeerB1 of the prior calendar year, subject to thikty of our board of
directors to take action to reduce the size ofrtheease in any given

60




TABLE OF CONTENTS

year. Currently, we plan to register the 661,07ditazhal shares of common stock that were adde¢ldg@012 Plan on January
1, 2013 under this provision, and the increasedhaurof shares available for issuance under the Ptdr2 each year. If our
board of directors elects to increase the numbshafes available for future grant by the maximamoant each year, our
stockholders may experience additional dilutioniohltould cause our stock price to fall.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable resehrabout our business,
our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influethdy the research and reports that securitiasdaistry analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not hayeantrol over these analysts. There can be noasse that analysts will
continue to cover us or provide favorable coverdfigene or more of the analysts who cover us doadgrour stock or change
their opinion of our stock, our share price woukely decline. If one or more of these analystsseezoverage of our company
or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we abldse visibility in the financial markets, whichudd cause our share price or
trading volume to decline.

NASDAQ may delist our securities from its exchangehich could limit investors’ ability to make tramsgtions in our
securities and subject us to additional trading testions.

If we fail to maintain the listing of our commorosk on the NASDAQ Global Market, the liquidity foulocommon stock
would be significantly impaired, which may substalht decrease the trading price of our commonlsttée cannot assure you
that, in the future, our securities will meet tlimtinued listing requirements to be listed on NASRAf NASDAQ delists our
common stock from trading on its exchange, we cfadé significant material adverse consequencekiding:

« alimited availability of market quotations fourosecurities;

¢ adetermination that our common stock is a “pestogk” which will require brokers trading in ouwromon stock to
adhere to more stringent rules and possibly respiti a reduced level of trading activity in the@edary trading mark
for our common stock;

¢ alimited amount of news and analyst coverag®fwrcompany; and

¢ adecreased ability to issue additional secwritieobtain additional financing in the future.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delagvlaw may have anti-takeover effects that couldaiurage an
acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisitivould be beneficial to our stockholders, and magyent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current maeagent.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorpimmand by-laws, as well as provisions of Delawave, could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us or incssathe cost of acquiring us, even if doing so wdngdefit our stockholders.
These provisions include:

e authorizing the issuance of “blank check” conidetpreferred stock, the terms of which may balg&hed and shares
of which may be issued without stockholder apprpval

« prohibiting stockholder action by written consehereby requiring all stockholder actions to ddeeh at a meeting of
our stockholders, to the extent that no stockholgrether with its affiliates, holds more than 56#@ur voting stock;

¢ eliminating the ability of stockholders to calspecial meeting of stockholders;

¢ permitting our board of directors to acceleraie testing of outstanding equity awards upon aettansactions that
result in a change of control; and

¢ establishing advance notice requirements for nations for election to the board of directorsargroposing matters
that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.

These provisions may also frustrate or preventadtgmpts by our stockholders to replace or remaveorrent
management or members of our board of directoradttition, we are subject to Section 203 of the
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Delaware General Corporation Law, which generalbhibits a Delaware corporation from engaging ig eha broad range of
business combinations with an interested stockihdtitea period of three years following the datewdrich the stockholder
became an interested stockholder, unless suclattimss are approved by our board of directorss phovision could have the
effect of delaying or preventing a change of cdntsiether or not it is desired by or beneficiabuor stockholders. Further,
other provisions of Delaware law may also discoeralglay or prevent someone from acquiring us eogimeg with us.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and dffers may reduce our available funds to satisfy sessful stockholder
claims against us and may reduce the amount of mpagailable to us.

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the Delawaen&al Corporation Law, our restated certificatenobrporation limits
the liability of our directors to the fullest extgrermitted by law. In addition, as permitted byt®m 145 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our restated certificdtecorporation and restated bylaws provide thasieall indemnify, to the
fullest extent authorized by the Delaware GenemapGration Law, each person who is involved in Btigation or other
proceeding because such person is or was a diractdficer of our company or is or was servingaasofficer or director of
another entity at our request, against all expdnss,or liability reasonably incurred or suffeircconnection therewith. Our
restated certificate of incorporation provides thatright to indemnification includes the rightlte paid expenses incurred in
defending any proceeding in advance of its fingpdsition, provided, however, that such advanceneay will only be made
upon delivery to us of an undertaking, by or ondbedf the director or officer, to repay all amosiso advanced if it is
ultimately determined that such director is noitkd to indemnification. If we do not pay a promtaim for indemnification in
full within 60 days after we receive a written atefor such indemnification, except in the case ofaém for an advancement of
expenses, in which case such period is 20 daysestated certificate of incorporation and ouratest bylaws authorize the
claimant to bring an action against us and presasibat constitutes a defense to such action.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation pamnits a corporation to indemnify any directooéficer of the
corporation against expenses (including attorniggs), judgments, fines and amounts paid in se¢thtractually and
reasonably incurred in connection with any actgit or proceeding brought by reason of the faat $nch person is or was a
director or officer of the corporation, if such pen acted in good faith and in a manner that heoregbly believed to be in, or
not opposed to, the best interests of the cormorasind, with respect to any criminal action orgeexding, if he or she had no
reason to believe his or her conduct was unlaviug derivative actioni(e ., one brought by or on behalf of the corporation),
indemnification may be provided only for expensetsially and reasonably incurred by any directoofficer in connection
with the defense or settlement of such an acticsuitrif such person acted in good faith and inaaner that he or she
reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed wb#st interests of the corporation, except thahdemnification shall be
provided if such person shall have been adjudgée teable to the corporation, unless and onlyhextent that the court in
which the action or suit was brought shall detemtmat the defendant is fairly and reasonably ledtib indemnity for such
expenses despite such adjudication of liability.

The rights conferred in the restated certificatenobrporation and the restated bylaws are notuskat, and we are
authorized to enter into indemnification agreemevitk our directors, officers, employees and agant$to obtain insurance to
indemnify such persons. We have entered into indfesation agreements with each of our officers aiéctors.

The above limitations on liability and our indenicéttion obligations limit the personal liability ofir directors and officers
for monetary damages for breach of their fiduc@duty as directors by shifting the burden of sudsés and expenses to us.
Although we have increased the coverage undericentdrs’ and officers’ liability insurance, centdiabilities or expenses
covered by our indemnification obligations may hetcovered by such insurance or the coverage timitamounts may be
exceeded. As a result, we may need to use a signffamount of our funds to satisfy our indemntfa@aobligations, which
could severely harm our business and financial itiondand limit the funds available to stockholderiso may choose to bring
a claim against our company.
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We do not anticipate paying cash dividends, and adaagly, stockholders must rely on stock apprecaatifor any return on
their investment.

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in thare. As a result, only appreciation of the magk&e of our common
stock, which may never occur, will provide a rettorstockholders. Investors seeking cash dividehdsild not invest in our
common stock.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain other tax attributes may be lindte

As of December 31, 2012, we had federal net opeyddiss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $70.2 milliorhich expire from
2024 through 2032. Our ability to utilize our NOimsy be limited under Section 382 of the Internaldtrie Code. The
limitations apply if an ownership change, as defibg Section 382, occurs. Generally, an ownershmge occurs when
certain shareholders increase their aggregate aipeby more than 50 percentage points over theiest ownership
percentage in a testing period (typically threergedVe have assessed whether one or more ownetsdnges as defined
under Section 382 have occurred since our incepiimhhave determined that there have been attieastuch changes.
Accordingly, although we believe that these ownigrshanges have not resulted in material limitagion our ability to use
these NOLs, our ability to utilize the aforemengdrcarryforwards may be limited. Additionally, Ut8x laws limit the time
during which these carryforwards may be utilizediagt future taxes. As a result, we may not be tbteke full advantage of
these carryforwards for federal and state tax mepoFuture changes in stock ownership may alggetrian ownership change
and, consequently, a Section 382 limitation.
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Item Unresolved Staff Comments
1B.

None.

Item 2.Properties

Our corporate headquarters and clinical developmpetations are located in New York, New York aad ®iego,
California, where we lease and occupy approxima&3e390 and 12,700 square feet of space, respeactivel

The lease for our New York office expires in NoveanB013. We are currently seeking additional offipace for our New
York location.

In March 2013, we entered into an amendment toethgel for our San Diego office, which, among othiergts, added
approximately 5,100 square feet of space and egtetige term of the existing lease. The lease foSam Diego office, as
amended, will expire in December 2015.

Item 3.Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any legal proceedings andre@ot aware of any claims or actions pending@atened against us.

In the future, we might from time to time becomedived in litigation relating to claims arising froour ordinary course of
business.

Iltem 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Iltem 5.Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sto&holder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Secities
Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gldbatket on October 11, 2012 under the symbol “ICHPIor to
that time, there was no public market for our comrstwck. Shares sold in our initial public offeriog October 10, 2012 were
priced at $15.00 per share.

On March 15, 2013, the closing price for our comrsetmtk as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market waa 8. The

following table sets forth the high and low salesgs per share of our common stock as reportei@NASDAQ Global
Market for the period indicated.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 High Low
Fourth Quarter (beginning October 11, 2012) $ 359¢ $ 17.9¢
Stockholders

As of March 15, 2013, there were 92 stockholdemrgodrd, which excludes stockholders whose shares nadd in
nominee or street name by brokers. We believe Wian our record holders and stockholders whoseestzae held in nominee
or street name by brokers are combined, we haggdess of 300 beneficial holders of our commonkstoc

Performance Graph

The following graph illustrates a comparison of thial cumulative stockholder return for our comnstock since October
10, 2012, which is the date our initial public ofifg, to two indices: the NASDAQ Composite Indexidhe NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index. The graph assumes an initiaé$tment of $100 on October 10, 2012, in our comstock, the stocks
comprising the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the lstammprising the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. Histal
stockholder return is not necessarily indicativéhef performance to be expected for any futureogeri

Comparison of 3 Month Cumulative Total Return*
Among Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NASDAQ @mposite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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* $100 invested on 10/10/2012 in stock or indeschl Year ending December 31.

The performance graph shall not be deemed to lmepocated by reference by means of any generastatt incorporating
by reference this Form 10-K into any filing undee tSecurities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exgghéct, except to the
extent that we specifically incorporate such infation by reference, and shall not otherwise be @eefited under such acts.
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Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividenasiocommon stock, and we do not anticipate pagimgcash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseealileduWe intend to retain all available funds ang future earnings to fund
the development and expansion of our business.fémye determination to pay dividends will be & thiscretion of our board
of directors and will depend upon a number of fesstmmcluding our results of operations, financiahdition, future prospects,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed ppl@able law and other factors our board of doextleems relevant.

Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K aedjing equity compensation plans is incorporatadiheoy reference
to Item 12 of Part Il of this Annual Report.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Set forth below is information regarding securisesd by us during the year ended December 31, &@it2vere not
registered under the Securities Act. Also inclutdetthe consideration, if any, received by us fer $lecurities and information
relating to the section of the Securities Act,derof the Securities and Exchange Commission, uwligh exemption from
registration was claimed.

Issuances of securities

On August 9, 2012, we issued 15,000,000 sharesrnid#sSC convertible preferred stock at a price20@ per share for an
aggregate purchase price of $30.0 million. Uponctirapletion of our initial public offering, the $es C preferred stock was
converted into shares of common stock.

Between October and December 2012, we issued argajg of 43,402 shares of common stock upon esesofi
previously issued and outstanding warrants to meeltommon stock, all of which were issued uportéisbless exercise of
such warrants.

No underwriters were involved in the foregoing salésecurities. The securities described above vgsued and sold in
reliance on the exemptions from registration predithy Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/oreRa06 of Regulation D
promulgated under the Securities Act. Each of tirelasers in these transactions represented toasnection with its
purchase that it was acquiring the securitiesrfeestment and not for distribution and that it cooar the risks of the
investment. Each purchaser received written discissthat the securities had not been registerderuhe Securities Act and
that any resale must be made pursuant to a regstistatement or an available exemption from tegfion. All of the
foregoing securities are deemed restricted seesiitir the purposes of the Securities Act.

Stock option and other equity awards

On July 31, 2012, we granted stock options to msel23,797 shares of common stock with an exepdise of $9.31 per
share pursuant to our 2003 Stock Incentive Plaxut;mon-employee directors as of January 1, 204 8dvice during fiscal
year 2012. The issuances of such options were eb@ithpr pursuant to Rule 701 under the Securisas a transaction
pursuant to a compensatory benefit plan, or putsoa®ection 4(2) of the Securities Act, as a taatisn by an issuer not
involving a public offering.

In addition, on September 13, 2012, we agreedantdo our employees and directors (i) optionsukcipase 207,505 shares
of our common stock and (ii) restricted stock ufots173,592 shares of our common stock, in eask,aander our 2012 Plan,

on the 32%'day after the completion of our initial public affeg. These securities were issued on Novembendl6l8, 2012
and were registered under the Securities Act patdoea Registration Statement on Form S-8 filedNomember 7, 2012 (File
No. 333-184810).

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our registered equityisées during the period covered by this AnnuapBrt on Form 10-K.
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Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On October 10, 2012, we completed our initial publffering of 5,750,000 shares of our common statck price of $15.00
per share for aggregate gross proceeds of apprtedyn®86.3 million. The offer and sale of all oktkhares in the offering were
registered under the Securities Act pursuant ggsstration statement on Form S-1, which was dedlaffective on October
10, 2012 (File No. 333-183706), and a registrasimtement on Form S-1 filed pursuant to Rule 46&{the Securities Act
(File No. 333-184370). Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen8eBmith Incorporated acted as book-running manéwethe offering and
as representatives of the underwriters. BMO Capltakets, Needham & Company, Wedbush PacGrow Liferi8es, and
ThinkEquity LLC acted as the co-managers for tierofg. The offering commenced on October 10, 281@ did not terminate
until the sale of all of the shares offered.

We received aggregate net proceeds from the off@fimpproximately $78.7 million, after deductingpeoximately $6.1
million of underwriting discounts and commissioasd approximately $1.5 million of estimated offeriexpenses payable by
us. None of the underwriting discounts and commissor other offering expenses were incurred at fzaour directors or
officers or their associates or to persons ownihgdrcent or more of our common stock or to angufaffiliates.

We have invested the net proceeds from the offeénirsgvariety of capital preservation investmetsluding short-term,
investment grade, interest bearing instruments asatommercial paper and corporate debt secugitied).S. government
securities. There has been no material changeriplanned use of the net proceeds from the offeaBdescribed in our final
prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange@ission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Seesrct on October 11,
2012. We have broad discretion in the use of th@raeeeds from our initial public offering and tspend the proceeds in
ways that do not improve our results of operatimnsnhance the value of our stock.
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Item 6.Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below isvarifrom our audited consolidated financial statet®i@nd may not be
indicative of future operating results. The follogiselected consolidated financial data shouldebd m conjunction with Item
7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Findn€andition and Results of Operations” and the otidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewh#ris report. The selected financial data irs $ection are not intended to
replace our consolidated financial statements haddlated notes. Our historical results are noésgarily indicative of our

future results.

Period From
Years Ended December 31, Sep(tlirg]:;irozh)ZOO
Through
(In thousands, except share and December 31, 201
per share data) 2010 2011 2012 (Unaudited)
Statement of Operations Data:
Licensing revenues $ — % 1,808 $ 2,44¢ % 4,251
Operating expenses:
Research and development 12,71( 11,42¢ 16,18 71,43t
General and administrative 3,64+ 4,20¢ 5,177 29,59¢
Total operating expenses 16,35¢ 15,63¢ 21,36( 101,03
Loss from operations (16,35¢) (13,830 (18,91 (96,782)
Total other income (expense), net 1,26¢ 1,09: (24,729 (21,407
Net loss $ (15,08) $ (12,73) $ (43,64) $ (118,189
Dividend on preferred stock, not declared (2,907 (3,000 (2,630)
Net loss attributable to common stockholde $ (17,98) $ (15,737 $ (46,279
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (G40 $ @479 $ (7.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding, bas
and diluted 3,329,66: 3,329,66! 6,283,23
December 31,
2010 2011 2012
(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 1542 $ 17,700 $ 110,19
Total assets 17,11¢ 19,47( 112,17¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitleshi 1,581 1,50« 3,74¢
Warrant liability 6,881 5,83¢ 30,35¢
Deferred revenue — 14,60¢ 12,16:
Common and preferred stock 31 31 17
Additional paid-in capital 70,26¢ 72,13¢ 184,10(
Accumulated deficit during development stage (61,807 (74,540 (118,18
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 8,31¢ (2,560 65,91:
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Iltem 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operation

You should read the following discussion and anslgsour financial condition and results of opeceis together with our
consolidated financial statements and related nafgsearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fa@¥K. In addition to
historical information, this discussion and anatysontains forward-looking statements that invelsks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Our actual results may differ matéritbm those anticipated in these forward-lookstgtements as a result of
certain factors. We discuss factors that we bel@wdd cause or contribute to these differenceswelnd elsewhere in this
report, including those set forth under Item 1AisiRFactors” and under “Forward-Looking Statements’this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopbment and commercialization of novel theraipeub treat
chronic liver diseases utilizing our proprietarielacid chemistry. Our product candidates haveptiential to treat orphan and
more prevalent liver diseases for which there culyere limited therapeutic solutions.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, oAQiS a bile acid analog, a chemical substancehthata structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid. OCA f&st-in-class product candidate that selectivetyds to and induces activity
in the farnesoid X receptor, or FXR, which we badidhas broad liver-protective properties. We areltping OCA initially
for primary biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, as a secdind treatment for patients who have an inadeqrestponse to or who are
unable to tolerate standard of care therapy améfitve need additional treatment. PBC is a chraotoimmune liver disease
that, if inadequately treated, may eventually leadirrhosis, liver failure and death. We are cartihg a Phase 3 clinical trial
of OCA in PBC, which we call the POISE trial, theg anticipate will serve as the basis for seekegylatory approval in the
United States and Europe. As of December 19, 20&Z%ave completed enroliment of the POISE triah\&it7 patients,
exceeding the originally targeted number of pasidiyt approximately 20%. We currently expect resuits) the POISE trial to
be available in the second quarter of 2014. OCArbesived orphan drug designation in the UnitedeStand Europe for the
treatment of PBC. We own worldwide rights to OCAside of Japan and China, where we have exclusivegsed the
compound to Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma, or DSP gradted it an option to exclusively license OCA@rtain other Asian
countries.

On October 16, 2012, we completed our initial pubffering in which we sold 5,750,000 shares of omn stock at $15.00
per share and received net proceeds of $78.7 mibiifter underwriting discounts and commissions @ffeting expenses
payable by us. The initial public offering includén exercise in full by the underwriters of thgition to purchase an
additional 750,000 shares of common stock. Uporthbsing of our initial public offering, all 7,40817 outstanding shares of
our convertible preferred stock automatically caotee into an aggregate of 7,403,817 shares of camstoxk. We filed an
amended and restated certificate of incorporatio@otober 16, 2012 to authorize 25,000,000 shdresromon stock and
5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stagkc@nmon stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market\ASDAQ,
under the trading symbol “ICPT.”

We have devoted substantially all of our resouteesur development efforts relating to our prodeamdidates, including
conducting clinical trials of our product candidatproviding general and administrative supportli@se operations and
protecting our intellectual property. We do not@any products approved for sale and have not gtsteany revenue from
product sales. From our inception until December2®12, we have funded our operations primarilgtigh the private and
public sales of preferred stock, common stock, ediite notes and warrants to purchase common $téakng $181.5 million
(net of issuance costs of $9.9 million), includB2p.7 in net proceeds from our Series C finanaingugust 2012 and $78.7
million in net proceeds from our initial public efing in October 2012, and through the receiptid.4 million of up-front
payments under our collaborative agreements.

We have incurred net losses in each year sinceoeption in 2002. Our net losses were approxirge&b.1 million,
$12.7 million and $43.6 million for the years end@etcember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectivelpfAecember 31, 2012,
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $218illion. Substantially all our net losses resdlfrom costs incurred in
connection with our research and development
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programs and from general and administrative casieciated with our operations, and particularigda2, from the mark-to-
market of our liability-classified warrants.

We expect to continue to incur significant experesgs increasing operating losses for at least étxe several years. We
anticipate that our expenses will increase sulistanés we:

« complete the development of our lead product ickate, OCA, for the treatment of PBC;
« seek to obtain regulatory approvals for OCA,
« outsource the commercial manufacturing of OCAdiy indications for which we receive regulatorpegval;

« contract with third parties for the sales, mairigeand distribution of OCA for any indications f@hich we receive
regulatory approval;

« continue our research and development efforts aitr preclinical development compounds, INT-76d BMT-777;

¢ maintain, expand and protect our intellectuajperty portfolio;

¢ add operational, financial and management inftionasystems and personnel, including personnglipport our
product development and commercialization effaats]

e operate as a public company.

We do not expect to generate revenue from produes sinless and until we successfully completeldpweent and obtain
marketing approval for one or more of our prodwididates, which we expect will take a number afryend is subject to
significant uncertainty. Accordingly, we anticipdkat we will need to raise additional capital ptio the commercialization of
OCA or any of our other product candidates. Untdrstime, if ever, as we can generate substamsti@nue from product sales,
we expect to finance our operating activities tigtoa combination of equity offerings, debt finamgEngovernment or other
third-party funding, marketing and distributionargements and other collaborations, strategicakisa and licensing
arrangements. However, we may be unable to radii@uhl funds or enter into such other arrangemeriten needed on
favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raiseitar enter into such other arrangements as drehweeded would have a
negative impact on our financial condition and ability to develop our product candidates.

Prior to April 2011, we operated a wholly-owned sidiary in Italy where our bile acid receptor resbavas primarily
conducted. Subsequently, until March 15, 2013, tliah subsidiary was in the process of voluntagyitlation under Italian
law. Effective March 15, 2013, we have decided toaee our Italian subsidiary from the liquidatioropess and it will
continue to act as our legal representative forctinical trials in the European Union to satisfyrBpean Union regulatory
requirements. Although our Italian subsidiary wadergoing the liquidation process from April 20htough March 2013, we
have continued our early stage TGR5 research progreough our collaboration with Les Laboratories\v@&r and Institut de
Recherches Servier, or collectively Servier.

Financial Overview

Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue fromsatleeof products. All our revenue has been deffisad our
collaborative agreements for the development anthoercialization of certain of our product candidate March 2011, we
entered into an exclusive licensing agreement @& for the development of OCA in Japan and Chilmaler the terms of the
agreement, we received an up-front payment of $iflldn and may be eligible to receive up to apgmately $300 million in
additional payments for development, regulatory emmdmercial sales milestones for OCA in Japan amdaC In August 2011,
we entered into a collaboration agreement with i8efar the discovery, research and developmebilefacid-derived
agonists, or substances that bind to receptorslisfand trigger responses by those cells, fordicdeed bile acid receptor
called TGR5. Under the terms of the agreement.ageived an up-front payment from Servier of $1.Hiom. Servier may be
required to pay us up to an aggregate amount agbappately
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€108 million (approximately $142.7 million as of @enber 31, 2012) upon the achievement of spedifeeelopment,
regulatory and commercial sale milestones, asagetbyalties on sales, based on the successfuroatof the collaboration.
For accounting purposes, the up-front payments fioth transactions are recorded as deferred re\emiamortized over
time. We recognized $2.4 million in license revefarethe relevant amortization of the two up-frpatyments and did not
receive any milestone payments during 2012 rel@t¢kdese agreements. As the Servier up-front payhenbeen fully
recognized as of the third quarter of 2012, ndierrrevenue will be recognized in respect of suyments. We anticipate that
we will recognize revenue of approximately $1.6lioml per year through 2020, the expected end oflehelopment period, for
the amortization of the up-front payment from DSP.

In the future, we may generate revenue from a coatioin of license fees and other upfront paymeatgarch and
development payments, milestone payments, prodies sind royalties in connection with strategimaties. We expect that
any revenue we generate will fluctuate from quadequarter as a result of the timing of our achieent of preclinical,
clinical, regulatory and commercialization milestanif at all, the timing and amount of paymentatieg to such milestones
and the extent to which any of our products are@ma and successfully commercialized by us orstrategic alliance
partners. If our strategic alliance partners failevelop product candidates in a timely mannethdain regulatory approval for
them, our ability to generate future revenues,@mdesults of operations and financial positiorulsidbe adversely affected.

Research and Development Expenses

Since our inception, we have focused our resownesur research and development activities, inalyidionducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufagtgrdevelopment efforts and activities relatedeguiatory filings for our
product candidates. We recognize research andaj@ueht expenses as they are incurred. Our reseacctievelopment
expenses consist primarily of:

« salaries and related overhead expenses for pebkinresearch and development functions;

« fees paid to consultants and clinical researgamrations, or CROs, including in connection vathr preclinical and
clinical trials, and other related clinical tri&@es, such as for investigator grants, patient sergelaboratory work,
clinical trial database management, clinical tnigterial management and statistical compilationaalysis;

¢ costs related to acquiring and manufacturingadirtrial materials;
« depreciation of leasehold improvements, laboyadguipment and computers;
e costs related to compliance with regulatory resments; and

« costs related to stock options or other stocleb@®mpensation granted to personnel in reseatderelopment
functions.

From inception through December 31, 2012, we haweried approximately $71.4 million in research dadelopment
expenses. We plan to increase our research antbgement expenses for the foreseeable future asoméncie the development
of OCA for the treatment of PBC and other indicasi@nd to further advance the development of cwergiroduct candidates,
subject to the availability of additional funding.

The table below summarizes our direct researchdamdlopment expenses by program for the periodedtetl. Our direct
research and development expenses consist prityogdaxternal costs, such as fees paid to investig, consultants, central
laboratories and CROs, in connection with our chihtrials, and costs related to acquiring and rfeesturing clinical trial
materials. We have been developing OCA and othemiats of FXR, as well as TGR5 agonists, and tylyiecese our employee
and infrastructure resources across multiple rebesand development programs. We do not allocateies| stock-based
compensation, employee benefit or other indirestselated to our research and development funttispecific product
candidates. Those expenses are included in “Irtdiesearch and development expense” in the talbsvbe
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Years Ended, December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Direct research and development expense by program:

OCA $ 8,001 $ 8,05¢ $ 10,49!

INT-777 2,23¢ 19t 52
Total direct research and development expense 10,23t 8,251 10,54°
Personnel costs 2,07¢ 2,75(C 4,947
Indirect research and development expense 397 42t 68¢
Total research and development expense $ 12,71 $ 1142¢ $  16,18!

The successful development of our clinical and Iprieal product candidates is highly uncertain tiis time, we cannot
reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costeegfforts that will be necessary to completerthreainder of the development
of any of our clinical or preclinical product caddtes or the period, if any, in which material ceth inflows from these
product candidates may commence. This is due touheerous risks and uncertainties associated eNeldping drugs,
including the uncertainty of:

« the scope, rate of progress and expense of @aimg, as well as any additional, clinical triatedaother research and
development activities;

« future clinical trial results; and
« the timing and receipt of any regulatory appreval

A change in the outcome of any of these variabligs mespect to the development of a product candidauld mean a
significant change in the costs and timing assediatith the development of that product candidate.example, if the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or anothegulatory authority were to require us to condutticél trials beyond those
that we currently anticipate will be required fbetcompletion of clinical development of a prodcadidate or if we
experience significant delays in any of our clihicels, we could be required to expend significadditional financial
resources and time on the completion of clinicaletlpment.

OCA

The majority of our research and development ressuare focused on the Phase 3 POISE trial anotloer planned
clinical and preclinical studies and other work degtto submit OCA for the treatment of PBC for datpry approval in the
United States and Europe. We have incurred andcexpeontinue to incur significant expense in aeetion with these efforts,
including:

¢ InJanuary 2012, we initiated enrollment in o@IBE trial, a Phase 3 clinical trial in patientshPBC, and we
completed patient enroliment for our POISE triaDecember 2012. We currently expect results froenttial to be
available in the second quarter of 2014. Patielhis gomplete twelve months of treatment will beiblgto continue in
an open label safety extension trial for five years

¢ We are continuing to treat PBC patients from Bhbase 2 trial with OCA in a long-term safety exitendgrial. As of
January 31, 2012, there were 20 patients beingviieldl in this trial and we anticipate the trial tmtinue through 2015.

¢ We are currently dosing both mice and rats testigate the carcinogenic potential of OCA. Weapdite dosing will
be completed in the first quarter of 2014.

¢ We plan to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial exsing the potential effects and clinical significa of OCA on the lipid
profile of patients with PBC, a Phase 1 clinicaltim healthy volunteers to evaluate the effecD@A on the heart’s
electrical cycle, known as the QT interval, anditiidal Phase 1 clinical trials in 2013.

*  We have contracted with third-party manufactutergroduce the quantities of OCA needed for reguyeapproval as
well as the necessary supplies for our other copizted trials.
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In addition, we are evaluating OCA in other chrdiier and other diseases. In connection with tlefgmts, we have
incurred significant expenses relating to our agre® with the National Institute of Diabetes andéitive and Kidney
Diseases, or NIDDK, for milestones related to th&\H trial, a Phase 2b clinical trial in patientstiivnonalcoholic
steatohepatitis, or NASH. These expenses includeréillion that was paid in June 2012 and an addél $1.25 million that is
was paid in connection with the full enrolimenttlo& FLINT trial, which occurred on November 12, 201

INT-767 and INT-777

We are currently conducting research in collaboratiith Servier to discover and develop additioratel TGR5 agonists.
We intend to continue to develop our two existiognpounds not included in this collaboration, oualdeXR/TGR5 agonist
INT-767 through preclinical development and, if veaated, Phase 1 clinical trials and INT-777 thropgtential collaborations
with third parties, over the next several years.

Other than OCA, our product development prograresaben early stage, and successful developmeéd€af and our
future product candidates from these programsgklhiuncertain and may not result in approved pat&luCompletion dates
and completion costs can vary significantly forreadure product candidate and are difficult todice We anticipate we will
make determinations as to which programs to puasdehow much funding to direct to each programrmnorggoing basis in
response to our ability to maintain or enter indavrstrategic alliances with respect to each prograpotential product
candidate, the scientific and clinical successaghefuture product candidate, as well as ongoisgsasnents as to each future
product candidate’s commercial potential. We wied to raise additional capital and may seek amfditistrategic alliances in
the future in order to advance our various programs

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries and related costs for employeexétetive, operational,
finance and human resources functions. Other signif general and administrative expenses inclildeation of facilities
costs, professional fees for directors, accourdimdylegal services and expenses associated wiinolg and maintaining
patents.

Our general and administrative expenses have isedeand will continue to increase as we operasepaslic company and
due to the potential commercialization of our pretdtandidates. We believe that these increasedikely include increased
costs for director and officer liability insuran@®sts related to the hiring of additional persdamel increased fees for outside
consultants, lawyers and accountants. We havearataored and may continue to incur increased dostemply with corporate
governance, internal controls and similar requinets@pplicable to public companies.

Other Income, Net

Other income consists of interest income earneguorcash, cash equivalents and investment seqyritiset by interest
expense pertaining to equipment currently undexpétalized lease. This capitalized lease matur@i? and, as such, we will
no longer be subject to the interest expense uhdecapitalized lease. We expect interest incamadrease in future periods
as we invest the proceeds from our preferred dtaekcings and initial public offering.

Revaluation of Warrants

In conjunction with various financing transactiong issued warrants to purchase shares of our consitnok. Certain of
the warrants include a provision that providessfoeduction in the warrant exercise price if themes subsequent issuances of
additional shares of common stock for considergpenshare less than the applicable per share ntaxarcise price. The
warrants containing this provision are deemed tddrévative instruments and as such, are recordediability and marked-
to-market at each reporting period. Our remainiragrants include a provision that requires the shanglerlying the warrants
to be registered upon the completion of an infighlic offering. As a result, these warrants wedassified as a liability as of
the date of our initial public offering and areaisarket-to-market at each reporting date sincetfeging. The fair value
estimates of these warrants are determined usBigck-Scholes option-pricing model and are basegait, on subjective
assumptions and could differ materially in the fatiNon-cash changes in the
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fair value of the common stock warrant liabilitpifin the prior period is recorded as a componentta@rancome and expense.
We will continue to adjust the fair value of theraomon stock warrant liability at the end of eachortipg period for changes in
fair values until the earlier of the exercise opieation of the applicable common stock warrantsmtil such time that the
warrants are no longer determined to be derivatiseuments. Because our common stock is publielged, these fluctuations
are expected to increase or decrease significhatigd on changes in the price of our common skmkexample, the fair value
of the warrant liability increased from $6.3 miliiat September 30, 2012 to approximately $30.4anitht December 31, 2012
primarily due to increase in the fair value of common stock from $11.21 per share as of SepteBthe2012, prior to our
IPO, to $34.24 per share as of December 31, 2012.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanfiral condition and results of operations is basedur consolidated
financial statements, which we have prepared ior@eance with generally accepted accounting priesiph the United States,
or GAAP. The preparation of these consolidatedrfona statements requires us to make estimateassuinptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesthedlisclosure of contingent assets and liabilaiethe date of the financial
statements, as well as the reported revenues aemhsss during the reporting periods. We evaluasetiestimates and
judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our es8matgistorical experience and on various othdofadhat we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdleying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Our actual results may differ frbase estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are mauky described in note 2 to our consolidated ficahstatements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FAdRK 1we believe that the following accounting p@i are the most critical
for fully understanding and evaluating our finahci@andition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria met: persuasive evidence that an arrangemens esésvices have
been rendered, the price is fixed or determinabtecllectability is reasonably assured.

We have entered into collaboration agreements B8R and Servier. The terms of these agreementsdmcionrefundable
up-front licensing fees, in addition to potentidlestone payments and royalties on any future prbgales developed by the
collaborators under our licenses. We assess thekiple elements in order to determine whetheripaldr components of the
arrangement represent separate units of accounting.

We recognize up-front license payments as revepoe delivery of the license only if the license ktand-alone value.
The underlying performance obligations are accalifdeseparately as the obligations are fulfillédhe license is considered
as not having stand-alone value, the arrangemextizunted for as a single unit of accounting &editense payments and
payments for performance obligations are recogremetvenue over the estimated period of whendhHennance obligations
are performed.

Whenever we determine that an arrangement shoudddminted for as a single unit of accounting, etewiine the period
over which the performance obligations will be perfed and revenue will be recognized. If we cameasonably estimate the
timing and the level of effort to complete our pemhance obligations under the arrangement, theree@gnize revenue under
the arrangement on a straight-line basis over ¢éneg that we expect to complete our performandigations.

Our collaboration agreements also provide for pemilestone payments to us, none of which haaentreceived to date.
Revenues from milestone payments, if they are efumdable and considered substantive, are recafynjzen successful
accomplishment of the milestones. If milestonesnateconsidered substantive, milestone paymentsialy deferred and
recognized over the remaining performance obligatio

To date, we have not received any royalty paymamdsaccordingly have not recognized any relatedmes. We will
recognize royalty revenue upon the sale of thdéeélproducts, provided we have no remaining perémee obligations under
the arrangement.

74




TABLE OF CONTENTS

We record deferred revenue when payments are egt@iadvance of the culmination of the earninge@ss. This revenue
is recognized in future periods when the applical@nue recognition criteria have been met.

Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation and Warranghility
Stock-Based Compensation

We record the fair value of stock options and retstd stock units, or RSUs, issued to employees #we grant date as
compensation expense. We recognize compensati@msgver the requisite service period, whichesvébsting period. For
non-employees, we also record stock options andsR8their fair value as of the grant date. We thenodically re-measure
the awards to reflect the current fair value aheaporting period until the non-employee compléesperformance obligation
or the date on which a performance commitmentashed. Expense is recognized over the relatedcegpeiriod.

Stock-based compensation expense includes stos@nd RSUs granted to employees and non-em@@yekhas been
reported in our statements of operations as follows

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands)

Research and development $ 64¢ $ 47z $ 1,717
General and administrative 1,04¢ 1,39¢ 1,631
Total $ 1,69 $ 1,866 $ 3,34¢

We calculate the fair value of stock-options usimg Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Blaak&es option-pricing
model requires the use of subjective assumptiockding stock price volatility, the expected Ildestock options, risk free
interest rate and the fair value of the underlydoghmon stock on the date of grant. Our key assomptre:

« Because there was no public market for our comstock prior to October 10, 2012, we lacked compspscific
historical and implied volatility information to @&®ate the volatility of our common stock price. \6&culated expecte
volatility based on reported data for selectedarably similar publicly traded companies for whtble historical
information is available. For the purpose of idtitig peer companies, we consider characteristich as industry,
length of trading history, similar vesting termslan-the-money option status. We plan to contiruede the guideline
peer group volatility information until the histoal volatility of our common stock is relevant teasure expected
volatility for future option grants.

¢ The assumed dividend yield is based on our e&fientof not paying dividends for the foreseeahtare.

« We determine the average expected life of st@tlons based on the simplified method in accordavitiethe
Securities and Exchange Commission Staff AccourBinletin Nos. 107 and 110. We expect to use thgpbiied
method until we have sufficient historical exeraisga to provide a reasonable basis upon whicktimate expected
term.

*  We determine the risk-free interest rate by eiee to implied yields available from U.S. Treassegurities with a
remaining term equal to the expected life assunhétkadate of grant.

¢ We estimate forfeitures based on our historiaalysis of actual stock option forfeitures.
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The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes opti@mrgrmodel for the years ended December 31, 2PA0] and 2012 are
set forth below:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Volatility 112 - 113% 107 - 113% 107 -115 %
Expected term (in years) 5.6-5.7 5.0-6.0 5.0-6.0
Risk-free interest rate 16-1.7% 11-14% 0.7-0.8 %
Expected dividend yield — % — % — %
Stock price $ 8.67 $ 8.67 $8.67 - B4.2¢

We expect the impact of stock compensation to grofuture periods due to the potential increasdhénvalue of our
common stock, increased headcount and additiooek stption and other equity grants.

We are required to estimate the level of forfesuegpected to occur and record compensation expemgéor those awards
that we ultimately expect will vest. Due to thelaxt historical forfeiture activity of our plan, wexpect to estimate our
forfeiture rate based on peer company data withacieristics similar to our company. For 2010, 28hd 2012, we used a
forfeiture rate of five percent. There have beemaignificant number of forfeitures through DeceanB1, 2012.

Due to the absence of an active market for our comstock prior to our initial public offering in @ber 2012, the fair
value of our common stock for purposes of detemgirthe exercise price for stock option grants weterdnined by our board
of directors, with the assistance and upon themesendation of management, in good faith, basedrmum@ber of objective
and subjective factors consistent with the methagiek outlined in the American Institute of CeefiPublic Accountants
Practice Aid\Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensaticor the Practice Aid, including:

the prices at which we most recently sold oufgred stock and the rights, preferences and pgei of the preferred
stock as compared to those of our common stockydimg the liquidation preferences of the preferseatk;

our results of operations, financial position amel status of our research and development effodisiding the status «
clinical trials for OCA and our specific regulatastatus and interactions with regulatory authasitie

the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event ftire holders of our common stock and stock optiesash as an initial
public offering, given prevailing market conditioms a strategic merger or sale of our compangnov&A
transaction;

the material risks related to our business;

achievement of enterprise milestones, includigresults of clinical trials and our entry intotermination of
collaboration and license agreements;

the market performance of publicly traded comeatm the life sciences and biotechnology sectord,recently
completed mergers and acquisitions of companiepacable to us;

external market conditions affecting the lifeeswies and biotechnology industry sectors; and
the valuation prepared by an independent thirtlygansultant performed as of March 31, 2010 aryl 3L, 2012.

Each valuation methodology included estimates asdraptions that required our judgment. These estgriacluded
assumptions regarding future performance, incluttiegsuccessful completion of clinical trials ahd time to completing an
initial public offering or sale. Significant chargy® the key assumptions used in the valuationkldwave resulted in different
fair values of common stock at each valuation date.
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Common Stock Warrant Liability

In conjunction with various financing transaction® issued warrants to purchase shares of our constook as discussed
above under “Revaluation of Warrants.” The Black@es option-pricing model requires the use of ecifjje assumptions,
including but not limited to stock price volatilitthe expected life of the warrants, the risk freerest rate and the fair value of
the common stock underlying the warrants. Thevalue of the underlying common stock is determiagdiscussed above
under “— Stock-Based Compensation.” Significantrgjes to the key assumptions used in the valuationls! have resulted in
different fair values of the warrants at each viduradate. We will continue to adjust the fair veduof the warrants at each
financial reporting period end for any changesain ¥alue until the earlier of the exercise or eapon of the applicable
common stock warrants or until such time that tlaerants are no longer determined to be derivatisgtiments. Our warrant
liability is expected to fluctuate based on theuagstions used in our valuation model.

JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Spartiict of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. 8edtD7 of the JOBS
Act provides that an “emerging growth company” talce advantage of the extended transition periodigeed in Section 7(a)
(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendedhe Securities Act, for complying with new or iad accounting standards.
In other words, an “emerging growth company” calagléhe adoption of certain accounting standards those standards
would otherwise apply to private companies. We Heexocably elected not to avail ourselves of thitended transition
period and, as a result, we will adopt new or @viaccounting standards on the relevant dates aihwatoption of such
standards is required for other public companies.

Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JORE as an “emerging growth company,” we have iatehd to continue to
rely on certain exemptions and reduced reportiggirements provided by the JOBS Act, including withlimitation, (i)
providing an auditor’s attestation report on owstsyn of internal controls over financial reportpgsuant to Section 404(b) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and (ii) complying with aaguirement that may be adopted by the PCAOB raggrdandatory audit
firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’'s regwoviding additional information about the aualitd the financial
statements, known as the auditor discussion angisasidVe will remain an “emerging growth companyitil the earliest of (i)
the last day of the fiscal year in which we haveltannual gross revenues of $1 billion or moiig¢ecember 31, 2017; (iii)
the date on which we have issued more than $bmilii nonconvertible debt during the previous threars; or (iv) the date on
which we are deemed to be a large accelerated/filder the rules of the Securities and Exchangertission.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2011 202

The following table summarizes our results of opiers for the years ended December 31, 2011 ang, 26dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a peigenta

Years Ended December 31,

%
2011 2012 Dollar Change Change

(In thousands)

Licensing revenue $ 1808 $ 244 $ 641 35.5%
Operating expenses:

Research and development 11,42¢ 16,18: 4,757 41.€%

General and administrative 4,20¢ 5,177 96¢ 23.(%
Loss from operations (23,830) (18,919 (5,089 36.£%
Warrant revaluation income (expense) 1,04t (24,62¢) (25,677 *
Other income, net 48 88 40 *
Foreign currency loss — (192 (192 *
Net loss $ (12,73) $ (43,649 $ (30,909 @

* Not meaningful or not calculabl
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Licensing Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recortisdlaf $1.8 million of licensing revenue, conisig of $1.2 million
and $600,000 from the amortization of the up-fieelyments from the collaboration agreements eniatediuring 2011 with
DSP and Servier, respectively. For the year endszkBber 31, 2012, we recorded a total of $2.4aniliif licensing revenue,
consisting of $1.6 million and $824,000 from theaatization of the up-front payments from the codiedtion agreements
entered into during 2011 with DSP and Servier,ee8pely. The revenue recorded for the DSP agreemereased in 2012 as
the agreement was only in place for nine month20dfl. The revenue related to the up-front paymemt Servier was fully
recognized in the third quarter of 2012.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $11.4malid $16.2 million for the years ended DecembefB11 and 2012,
respectively. The net increase in research anda@vent expenses was $4.8 million, or 42%. Thisdase in research and
development expense primarily reflects:

¢ anincrease in personnel on our development teamanage the increased activities around our dpugnt program
for OCA, resulting in increased compensation expaisapproximately $2.2 million, of which $1.2 rolh was due to
stock compensation expense, approximately $265\@80due to associated overhead and approximatély;$30 was
due to bonus expense;

¢ increased direct development expense for ourdPBd&0ISE trial of approximately $2.1 million;

* increased expenses of $1.8 million payable bipuke NIDDK relating to milestones achieved unither NIDDK
agreement;

* increased costs associated with regulatory ctargslof $200,000 related to the OCA developmengam;

¢ increased direct development expense for theedPhatinical trial of OCA in portal hypertension abproximately
$137,000;

¢ increased direct development expense for thfitih of our two-year animal carcinogenicity seslof OCA in two
species of approximately $110,000;

« reduced direct research and development expdraggpmximately $1.2 million resulting from the slae of our
research facility in June 2011 and research agsdowith our TGR5 program, which was previouslydplay us and is
now funded by Servier through our collaborationhwif

¢ reduced direct research and development expeitiseespect to the completion of our Phase 2 tfmOCA and
reduced expenses for the long-term safety exterssiaty of approximately $360,000;

« reduced direct research and development expefeténg to INT-777 of approximately $145,000 rethfgimarily to
decreased stability and optimization work; and

« decreased costs associated with market reseb@84 in PBC of $100,000.
General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $4.2omilhd $5.2 million for the years ended DecembefB11 and 2012,
respectively. The increase in general and admatige expenses of $1.0 million, or 23%, was maghlg to an increase in
stock-based compensation costs for options andatest stock units granted to our employees anetctiirs of $243,000,
increased bonus expense of $272,000, and increasednting fees of $175,000 related to our opegat®a public company.

Warrant Revaluation Income (Expense)

Our outstanding warrants are deemed to be derevatstruments that require liability classificatiand mark-to-market
accounting. As such, at the end of each reportangg, the fair values of the warrants were deteediby us using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, resulting in the igaition of a gain of $1.0 million for the year endeecember 31, 2011 and a
loss of $24.6 million for the year ended

78




TABLE OF CONTENTS

December 31, 2012. For the year ended Decemb@031, the gain was primarily due to the reductiomalue of the warrants,
as their estimated life declined and changes iatility of the shares of common stock underlying tharrants. For the year
ended December 31, 2012, the fair value of theamdsrincreased primarily because of the signifiagacrease in the price of
the common stock underlying the warrants, which based on the market price of our common stockpsrted on the
NASDAQ Global Market following our initial public &ring in October 2012. Because our common stogkiisicly traded,
these fluctuations are expected to increase oedsersignificantly based on changes in the priceotommon stock.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net primarily reflestancrease in net interest income compared tgeheended December
31, 2011. The increase was primarily the resultigier average investment balances during 2012rapared to 2011 due to
our investment of the proceeds from our initial jubffering in October 2012.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2010 20t

The following table summarizes our results of ofiers for the years ended December 31, 2010 antl, 26dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a peigenta

Years Ended December 31,
%
2010 2011 Dollar Change Change

(In thousands

Licensing revenue $ — $ 180 $ 1,80¢ E
Operating expenses:

Research and development 12,71( 11,42¢ (1,289 (10.1%

General and administrative 3,64¢ 4,20¢ 56& 15.5%
Loss from operations (16,35 (13,830) 2,52¢ 15.4%
Other income, net 10t 48 (57 (54.9%
Warrant revaluation income 672 1,04¢ 372 55.5%
Qualified therapeutic development project 48¢ — (489 *
Net loss $ (15,089 $(12,73) $ 2,351 15.6%

*  Not meaningful or not calculabl
Licensing Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recorttadlaf $1.8 million of licensing revenue, conisig of $1.2 million
and $600,000 from the amortization of the up-fieeyments from the collaboration agreements eniatediuring 2011 with
DSP and Servier, respectively. We had no reven2010.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $12.7matio $11.4 million for the years ended DecembeB10 and 2011,
respectively. The net decline in research and devetnt expenses of $1.3 million, or 10.1%, was grilpdue to:

¢ reduced direct research and development expefaég to INT-777 of approximately $2.0 million;

« reduced direct research and development expessaéing from the closure of our research facilityyune 2011 and
research associated with our TGR5 program, whichpraviously paid by us and was funded throughcollaboration
with Servier beginning in August 2011, of approxieta $1.2 million;

¢ reduced direct research and development expeitiseespect to the completion of our Phase 2 tfmOCA of
approximately $600,000;

« reduced direct research and development expeteted to payments to the NIDDK for the FLINT tradl$250,000;
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¢ increased direct expenditures associated witlptlparation for the initiation of the Phase 3 P©tf&al of
approximately $1.2 million;

¢ increase in personnel in our development teamanage the increased activities around our devedopprogram for
OCA, resulting in increased compensation expens@pfoximately $400,000;

¢ increased expenditures for direct research amdlolement expense relating to our Phase 2 climizdlfor portal
hypertension of approximately $400,000;

¢ increased costs to manufacture our clinical sigdplies of approximately $500,000; and
* increased costs associated with market rese&$200,000.
General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $3.6omilhd $4.2 million for the years ended DecembefB10 and 2011,
respectively. The increase in general and admirtige expenses of $566,000, or 15.5%, was maindytdan increase in stock-
based compensation costs for options granted teroptoyees and legal costs associated with thedD8FS5ervier
collaboration agreements.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net was $105,000 and $48,000 foyelaes ended December 31, 2010 and 2011. The dea&$57,000, or
54%, was driven by lower average cash balances.

Warrant Revaluation Income (Expense)

Some of our outstanding warrants are deemed tetieative instruments that require liability cldgsation and mark-to-
market accounting. At the end of each reportingogethe fair values of these warrants were deteechusing a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, resulting in the recognitiohgains of $700,000 and $1.0 million for the yeamsled December 31, 2010
and 2011, respectively. These gains were primédrily to the reduction in value of the warrantsheg estimated life declines
and changes in volatility of the shares of commntoglsunderlying the warrants.

QTDP Grant

In 2010, we were awarded $489,000 under the fe@aralifying Therapeutic Discovery Grant Program@QarDP, in
support of our development of OCA and INT-777. THEDP was included in the healthcare reform legmtatand established
a one-time pool of $1 billion for grants to smabtechnology companies developing novel therapsutigsich show potential to
result in new therapies that either treat areasmofet medical need, or prevent, detect or trearitior acute diseases and
conditions; reduce long-term health care costhénnited States; or significantly advance the gébaluring cancer within a
30-year period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

We have incurred losses and cumulative negative fbass from operations since our inception in $epber 2002 and, as
of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated defigi118.2 million. We anticipate that we will conie to incur losses for
at least the next several years. We expect thatesearch and development and general and adrathistexpenses will
continue to increase and, as a result, we will ragktitional capital to fund our operations, which may seek to obtain through
a combination of equity offerings, debt financingsyernment or other third-party funding, marketargl distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, strateligmeés and licensing arrangements.

Since our inception through December 31, 2012, awe liunded our operations principally with $181 iiam (net of
issuance costs of $9.9 million) from the sale afiown stock, preferred stock, convertible notesweadants, including $29.7
in net proceeds from our Series C financing in 1012 and $78.7 million in net proceeds fromiaitial public offering in
October 2012, and the receipt of $16.4 million aftont payments under our licensing and collallonsagreements with DSP
and Servier. As of December 31, 2012, we had @&t equivalents and investment securities of appedely
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$110.2 million. Cash in excess of imnmediate requéets is invested in accordance with our investrpelity, primarily with a
view to liquidity and capital preservation. Curignbur funds are held in cash and money markek lbaoounts and
investments, all of which have maturities of ldsnttwo years.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the significant stes and uses of cash for the periods set fortwbelo

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activities $ (13,659 $ 2,60¢ $ (15,749
Investing activities 58 (66) (64,859
Financing activities 24,61¢ (250) 108,41¢
Effect of exchange rate changes (29) (6) @
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiy $ 10,98¢ $ 2,28¢ $ 27,80¢

Operating Activities Net cash used in operating activities of $13ilfian during the year ended December 31, 2010 was
primarily a result of our $15.1 million net lossfszt by the add-back of non-cash expenses of$ilion for stock-based
compensation and $480,000 for depreciation andamaliability revaluation income of $672,000.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $2iBiom during the year ended December 31, 2011 prasarily a result of
$16.4 million in up-front payments from our licemgiand collaboration agreements with DSP and Se®&ie.6 million of
which was classified as deferred revenue as destiibnote 3 to our financial statements includedwehere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The cash payments from thialgotation agreements and the classification afehmayments as
deferred revenue led to an overall net increaspérating assets of $13.9 million, to which nonhkcigsms of $1.9 million for
stock-based compensation, $410,000 for depreciatidr$217,000 for a loss on the sale of assetsrninection with the
potential liquidation of our Italian subsidiary veemdded. These positive additions to cash flow wéset against our $12.7
million net loss and an additional $1.0 million dese in assets due to the revaluation of our waliedilities.

Net cash used in operating activities of $15.7iatiliduring the year ended December 31, 2012 wasapily a result of our
$43.6 million net loss and net changes in our dpegassets and liabilities of $592,000, offsetly add-back of non-cash
expenses of $24.6 million for warrant liability eduation, $3.3 million for stock-based compensat#&201,000 for depreciation
and $192,000 foreign currency loss.

Investing Activities For fiscal 2010 and 2011, net cash used in tingsctivities primarily reflected our use of cash
purchase equipment. Cash provided by short-teresiments was partially offset by sales of shorat@Evestments.

Net cash used in investing activities during tharyended December 31, 2012 primarily reflectednatiinvestment of
proceeds of the Series C financing and the irptigdlic offering in securities, offset slightly blyet redemptions of certificates of
deposits.

Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing activities in ylear ended December 31, 2010 consisted primdrily o
approximately $24.0 million of net proceeds frora gale of Series B preferred stock and warrarpsitchase common stock
issued in 2010, offset by capital lease payments.cish used in financing activities in the yeateghDecember 31, 2011
consisted primarily of capital lease payments. ddesh provided by financing activities in the yeaded December 31, 2012
consisted primarily of approximately $29.7 milliohnet proceeds from the sale of Series C prefesteck and $78.7 million
from the completion of our initial public offering.

On August 9, 2012, we entered into a securitieslpage agreement with an affiliated fund of OrbiMetVi&ors LLC and
Genextra S.p.A., or Genextra, pursuant to whichwtbegreed to issue up to an aggregate of 25,006/¥res of Series C
preferred stock at a price of $2.00 per share fosgproceeds of up to
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$50.0 million, or the Series C financing. The sé@g purchase agreement for the Series C finarmiogided for the issuance
of the Series C preferred stock in two tranchessisting of 15,000,000 and 10,000,000 shares. Qqust8, 2012, we
amended and restated our certificate of incorpmmati its entirety to increase the number of shafgseferred stock we are
authorized to issue to 52,777,778 shares and dgsi@5,000,000 of such shares as Series C prefgoekl On August 9,
2012, we issued the first tranche of Series C pfiestock, which resulted in net proceeds of $28illfon to us. The closing
of the second tranche was only contemplated toratete did not complete an initial public offeriraf our common stock on
or prior to August 2013. Upon the completion of oitial public offering, the Series C preferredat was converted into
shares of common stock and the agreement to iesusetond tranche of Series C preferred stock wiéed.

In October 2012, we completed our initial publifeoing pursuant to a registration statement on F8¢in In the initial
public offering, we sold an aggregate of 5,750,888res of common stock under the registrationraateat a public offering
price of $15.00 per share. Net proceeds were appedely $78.7 million, after deducting underwritidgsgcounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by ugnthe closing of the initial public offering, alitstanding shares of our
preferred stock were converted into 7,403,817 shafeommon stock.

Future Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue froduptsales. We do not know when, or if, we will geate any revenue
from product sales. We do not expect to genergtafsiant revenue from product sales unless anifl watobtain regulatory
approval of and commercialize OCA or any of oureotbroduct candidates. At the same time, we exqacéxpenses to
increase in connection with our ongoing developnaetivities, particularly as we continue the resbadevelopment and
clinical trials of, and seek regulatory approval four product candidates. We have incurred aneé&xp incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public companydéitian, subject to obtaining regulatory approviaoy of our product
candidates, we expect to incur significant comnadiation expenses for product sales, marketingyufgeturing and
distribution. We anticipate that we will need salgial additional funding in connection with oumtiouing operations.

Based upon our current operating plan, we beliegedur existing cash, cash equivalents, short-bevestments and
anticipated funding under our DSP and Servier bolations will enable us to fund our operating eges and capital
expenditure requirements through mid-2015. Thisrege reflects our enroliment of a greater numligratients in our POISE
trial than originally planned; additional nonclialcstudies and clinical trials to support our platimegulatory submissions for
OCA in PBC; and an anticipated increase in pre-cencial activities for OCA in PBC. We have based estimates on
assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and weusayur available capital resources sooner tharuwently expect.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesiassd with the development and commercializatibour product
candidates, we are unable to estimate the amofiiitsreased capital outlays and operating experelitnecessary to complete
the development of our product candidates.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagyors, including:

¢ the progress, costs, results and timing of oulSEQrial, and the clinical development of OCA f@her potential
indications;

« the willingness of the FDA and the European MedigiAgency, or EMA, to accept our POISE trial, as vaslur othe
completed and planned clinical and preclinical Esi@nd other work, as the basis for review andayg of OCA for
PBC;

« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinbig FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

« the number and characteristics of product cantelédnat we pursue, including our product cand&latereclinical
development;

« the ability of our product candidates to progrgssugh clinical development successfully;

* ourneed to expand our research and developrotnitias;
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« the costs associated with securing and estabfsfommercialization and manufacturing capabiljties
« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindirsinesses, products, product candidates anddietfies;

e our ability to maintain, expand and defend thepscof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to makéhat we may receive, in connection with therigiag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemther intellectual property rights;

¢ our need and ability to hire additional managenaew scientific and medical personnel;
« the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;
« our need to implement additional internal systama infrastructure, including financial and repuagtsystems; and

« the economic and other terms, timing and successréxisting licensing arrangements and any cotiaion, licensin
or other arrangements into which we may entereérftiture.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sulisiarevenue from product sales, we expect tonibesour cash needs
through a combination of equity offerings, debgficings, government or other third-party fundingyketing and distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, strateligmeés and licensing arrangements. To the extetvte raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertitdddsecurities, the ownership interests of our comstockholders will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities maydeliquidation or other preferences that advera#fgct the rights of our
common stockholders. Debt financing, if availabay involve agreements that include covenantsitignior restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurraglitional debt, making capital expenditures alaléng dividends. If we raise
additional funds through government or other tinedty funding, marketing and distribution arrangateer other
collaborations, strategic alliances or licensimguagements with third parties, we may have to gelish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, researchigomgor product candidates or to grant licensegmwns that may not be
favorable to us.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our significant cantual obligations and commercial commitments ed¢ddnber 31, 2012
and the effects such obligations are expectedue ba our liquidity and cash flows in future pesod

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

(In thousands)

Operating lease $ 544 3 331 % 21< — —
Purchase obligations 2,48( 1,97¢ 501 — —
Total $ 3,02« $ 231C $ 714 — —

We lease general and administrative office spadéein York, New York and San Diego, California puastito operating
leases that expire in 2013 and 2015, respectiVélg.lease for our New York office expires in NovesnB013 and the
minimum rent we are obligated to pay during 2018gproximately $108,000. We are currently seekifdjtional office space
for our New York location. In March 2013, we enteieh an amendment to the lease for our San Didfigeowhich, among
other things, added approximately 5,100 squaredfegpace and extended the term of the existingeleBhe lease for our San
Diego office, as amended, will expire in Decemb@t® Under the amended lease, our future minimasel@ayments for
2013, 2014 and 2015 are approximately $339,0001 $8D and $467,000, respectively.

Our commitments as of December 31, 2012 underansuting agreement with Professor Pellicciaritfee compounds
relating to the Servier agreement and our researdhdevelopment agreement with TES Pharma Srkefleeted in the table
above. In February 2013, our agreements with TEBrR& Srl and our agreement with Professor Pellicimathe compounds
relating to the Servier agreement were extendetluly 2013. During the extension period, we a@guired to pay TES
Pharma Srl and Professor Pellicciari an
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aggregate of €500,000 and €75,000, respectiveljthAlcommitments under our consulting agreemetit Riofessor
Pellicciari and our agreement with TES PharmaiSiach case, for the compounds related to thaeSexgreement were
covered by the reimbursement provisions under greeanent with Servier. See Item 1. “Business —t&gia Collaborations
and Research Arrangements” for more informatioatimy to these agreements.

In addition, during 2011, we entered into an age®mwith WIL Research Laboratories, LLC, or WIL,gerform certain
research and laboratory services for animal stuatiéshave agreed to pay WIL a total of $4.0 millioperiodic installment
payments, of which $1.2 million in payments weredmaach year in 2011 and 2012. The remaining are@uatincluded in
table above.

We are a party to license agreements with univessiind other third parties, as well as patenyassént agreements, under
which we have obtained rights to patents, pateplicgitions and know-how. We have employment agredsngith certain
employees which require the funding of specifielswf payments, if certain events, such as a eangontrol or termination
without cause, occur. We enter into contracts énrtbrmal course of business with CROs for clinidals and clinical supply
manufacturing and with vendors for preclinical @sé studies and other services and products fenatipg purposes, which
generally provide for termination within 30 daysmattice, and therefore are cancelable contractsiahiohcluded in the table of
contractual obligations and commitments.

Under our agreement with DSP, we are required écous commercially reasonable efforts to develogp@Gtside of the
territories in which DSP has a license under theement. As these amounts are not quantifiablg,ahenot included in the
table above.

Under our agreement with Servier, we are oblig&dezbnduct and are conducting a research progradetuify and
optimize compounds that meet certain specifie@atsufficient for further development by Servife are obligated under
the agreement to provide Servier with a specifigahioer of full time equivalent employees for thesgsh program and Servier
has agreed to reimburse us on a quarterly bastedarssociated costs up to a set maximum amougepe Servier has agreed
to pay for the development costs we or Servierrimtgonducting certain preclinical trials and @l trials with respect to any
compound that meets specified criteria. We haveeafjto reimburse Servier for a certain percentagfgeadevelopment costs
incurred by Servier if we enter into a partnersigpeement, or commence development or commerdializactivities on our
own, with respect to a compound in the United Stadervier may credit a portion of any such reirshble development costs
against any milestone or royalty payments due aydlpe by Servier under the agreement until ahsaenbursable amounts
are repaid. In addition, if we enter into a parshgr agreement with respect to a compound developddr the agreement
solely in Japan, we and Servier have agreed to enitegood faith negotiations regarding the teand conditions applicable to
the reimbursement of development costs. These amaua not included in the table above becauseatepot quantifiable or
because they are reimbursable under the agreement.

Net Operating Losses

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, we had fedetalperating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $55illiom and $70.2
million, respectively, which expire from 2024 thghu2032. Our ability to utilize our NOLs may be tied under Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code. The limitations afijpyn ownership change, as defined by Section 88&yrs. Generally, an
ownership change occurs when certain shareholdersase their aggregate ownership by more tharef@ptage points over
their lowest ownership percentage in a testingogeftiypically three years). We have assessed whetieeor more ownership
changes as defined under Section 382 have occsimee our inception and have determined that thave been at least two
such changes. Accordingly, although we believe tthete ownership changes have not resulted in i@dimitations on our
ability to use these NOLSs, our ability to utilizeetaforementioned carryforwards may be limited. iiddally, U.S. tax laws
limit the time during which these carryforwards nimeyutilized against future taxes. As a resultywesy not be able to take full
advantage of these carryforwards for federal aaig $a6x purposes. Future changes in stock ownenséypalso trigger an
ownership change and, consequently, a Sectioni@®&2tion.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, amdawnot currently have, any off-balance sheehgements as defined
under Securities and Exchange Commission rules.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangd@dard, or the FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-02, “©Othe
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AntstReclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprshvenincome,” or
ASU No. 2013-02. ASU No. 2013-02 supersedes thgeptation requirements for reclassifications owafumulated other
comprehensive income in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-@iZequires an entity to provide additional inforfoatabout
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmsive income. ASU No. 2013-02 became effectiveuobeginning January
1, 2013. The adoption of this amendment will noteha material impact on our results of operatianinancial position.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common 8ckholders per Common Share

Our Series A, B and C preferred stock represerggtitfpating securities. However, since we haverajgel at a loss, and
losses are not allocated to the preferred stoekivito class method did not affect our calculatibrarnings per share.

Dilutive common stock equivalents would include thietive effect of convertible securities, commstock options, RSUs
for common stock and warrants for common stockef@lly dilutive common stock equivalents totadggproximately
7,888,566 shares, 8,309,074 shares and 2,864,38&sdlor the years ended December 31, 2010, 20l 2Gk?, respectively.
Upon the closing of our initial public offering,| alutstanding shares of our preferred stock werereded into 7,403,817 shares
of common stock. Potentially dilutive common stecjuivalents were excluded from the diluted earnpeysshare denominator
for all periods because of their anti-dilutive etfeTherefore, the weighted average shares usesldalate both basic and
diluted earnings per share are the same.
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Iltem Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk
TA.

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbme sensitivity, which is affected by changes mdeneral level of U.S.
interest rates. We currently do not hedge intaegstexposure. Because of the short-term matudfiesir cash equivalents and
investment securities, we do not believe that arefmse in market rates would have any significapgict on the realized value
of our investment securities. If a 10% change farest rates were to have occurred on Decemb&@03®, this change would
not have had a material effect on the fair valuewfinvestment portfolio as of that date.

We do not believe that our cash and equivalentsaanidable for sale investments have significask of default or
illiquidity. While we believe our cash and equivatie and available for sale investments do not comtecessive risk, we
cannot provide absolute assurance that in theddur investments will not be subject to adverssngles in market value. In
addition, we maintain significant amounts of castl aquivalents at one or more financial institusitimat are in excess of
federally insured limits.

We contract with CROs and investigational siteEimope, Canada and Australia. We are thereforeesuty fluctuations in
foreign currency rates in connection with theseeagrents. We do not hedge our foreign currency exjeheate risk.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustoof labor and clinical trial costs. We do notiée¢ that inflation has had a
material effect on our results of operations du20g0, 2011 or 2012.

Iltem 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed panstio this Item 8 are appended to this reportinfiiex of those financial
statements is found in Item 15.

Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item Controls and Procedures
9A.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenesaf disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) &dd 5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended) as of the
end of the period covered by this Annual ReporForm 10-K, have concluded that, based on such atiaty our disclosure
controls and procedures were adequate and effettieisigning and evaluating our disclosure cdstaad procedures, our
management recognized that any controls and proegdoo matter how well designed and operatedpoaride only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredotofijectives, and our management necessarily egsned to apply its
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relatiopstfi possible controls and procedures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeort of management’s assessment regarding ih@sn#ol over
financial reporting or an attestation report of outependent registered public accounting firm wue transition period
established by rules of the Securities and Exch&uyemission for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control émancial reporting, identified in connection wite evaluation of such
internal control, that occurred during the lastdisquarter that have materially affected, or assonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repagi

Item Other Information
9B.

Not applicable.
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PART IlI

Iltem Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace
10.

The information required by this Item is incorpediterein by reference to the information that tlcontained in our
proxy statement related to the 2013 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Iltem Executive Compensation
11.

The information required by this Item is incorp@diterein by reference to the information that tllcontained in our
proxy statement related to the 2013 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Iltem Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Related Stockholder Matters
12.

The information required by this Item is incorp@dterein by reference to the information that tdllcontained in our
proxy statement related to the 2013 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Iltem Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence
13.

The information required by this Item is incorp@dterein by reference to the information that tallcontained in our
proxy statement related to the 2013 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Iltem Principal Accounting Fees and Services
14.

The information required by this Item is incorpaditerein by reference to the information that taélicontained in our
proxy statement related to the 2013 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBaties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAO¥K.

Item Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
15.

(a) The following documents are filed as part o tieport:

(1) Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compseleehoss F-5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholeysity (Deficit) F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-9

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All financial statement schedules have been omligzhuse they are not applicable, not requiredeoinformation
required is shown in the financial statements ertbtes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of this#ual Report on Form 10-K are set forth on the Eixtindex immediately
following our consolidated financial statementse Hxhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 1%@)Jof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thgi&eant has duly
caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its behathbyundersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Date: April 1, 2013 By: /s/ Mark Pruzanski, M.C

Mark Pruzanski
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

Date: April 1, 2013 By: /s/ Barbara Dunca

Barbara Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 104§ been signed by
the following persons in the capacities indicatetbty and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

s/ Mark Pruzanski President and Chief Executive Officer April 1, 2013
(Principal Executive Officer)

Mark Pruzanski

/s/ Barbara Duncan Chief Financial Officer April 1, 2013
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Barbara Duncan
/sl Lorenzo Tallarigo, M.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors April 1, 2013

Lorenzo Tallarigo, M.D.
/sl Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D. Director April 1, 2013

Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D.
/s/ Paolo Fundaro Director April 1, 2013

Paolo Fundaro

/sl Jonathan Silverstein Director April 1, 2013

Jonathan Silverstein
/sl Klaus Veitlinger, M.D., Ph.D. Director April 1, 2013

Klaus Veitlinger, M.D.
/s/ Nicole Williams Director April 1, 2013

Nicole Williams
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,801 2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsealeehoss for the Years Ended December 31
2010, 2011 and 2012, the period from Septembe®@2 2nception) through December 31, 2012

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholékeysity for the period from September 4, 2002
(inception) through December 31, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. absidiaries (a
development stage enterprise) as of December 31, &0d 2012, and the related consolidated statsméwoperations and
comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ ecaiity cash flows for each of the years ended Deeet 2010, 2011 and
2012 and for the period from September 4, 2002ftion) to December 31, 2012. These consolidatethéiial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. @sponsibility is to express an opinion on thesesolidated financial
statements based on our audits. The cumulativenseatts of operations and comprehensive loss, changtockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the period Septemb&082 (inception) to December 31, 2012 include art®for the period from
September 4, 2002 (inception) to December 31, 288ith were audited by other auditors whose rejpastbeen furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to tmewnts included for the period September 4, 200ih December 31, 2007 is
based solely on the report of other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiaUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan enfiorp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancet atieether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit mcludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit ancludes assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfineancial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the repioother auditors, the consolidated financial stegsts referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the ficiahposition of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Ina anbsidiaries (a development
stage enterprise) as of December 31, 2011 and 20&iZhe results of their operations and their €lasts for each of the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and fqettied September 4, 2002 (inception) to DecembeB12, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfingciples.

/s KPMG LLP
New York, New York
April 1, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated statements oatpes and comprehensive loss, changes in stocksdlelquity and cash
flows of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsyda development stage company) (the “Compafor”}he period from
September 4, 2002 (inception) through Decembe23Q7. The consolidated statements of operationcamgprehensive loss
and cash flows for this period are not presentpdrsgely herein. The consolidated financial statémare the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility Exaress an opinion on these financial statemestsdoan our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancet atftether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Tmepany was not required to have, nor were we emgegperform an audit
of its internal control over financial reportingufaudit included consideration of internal contreér financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are gpjate in the circumstances, but not for the puepafsexpressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal mbmiver financial reporting. Accordingly, we expgeno such opinion. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsopgorting the amounts and disclosures in thenfilg statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenenglhas evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audit provides a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated results of
operations and consolidated cash flows of InterBétrmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary (a developstage company) for the
period from September 4, 2002 (inception) througit&nber 31, 2007 (not presented separately hémetonformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in theédéhStates of America.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
August 31, 2012

Except for the third paragraph of Note 1 as to Whic
the date is September 26, 2012
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2011 2012
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $17,707,47 $ 45,511,64
Investment securities, available-for-sale — 64,682,27
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,196,61: 1,584,30:
Total current assets 18,904,09 111,778,21
Fixed assets, net 311,36¢ 148,83¢
Security deposits 254,86¢ 251,54(
Total assets $19,470,32 $112,178,59
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiiebil $ 1,504,190 $ 3,745,777
Short-term portion of warrant liability — 7,596,65!
Short-term portion of deferred revenue 2,446,10 1,621,62;
Short-term portion of capital leases 81,76: —
Total current liabilities 4,032,06 12,964,05
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of deferred revenue 12,162,16 10,540,54
Long-term portion of warrant liability 5,835,87 22,762,13
Total liabilities 22,030,10 46,266,73

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Series A preferred stock. Authorized, issued, artdtanding 13,888,889
shares as of December 31, 2011; par value $0.00dhpee; liquidatior
preference of $1.80 per share plus accumulatedetids ($5,412,329
December 31, 2011); none authorized, issued arstiamating as of
December 31, 2012 13,88¢ —

Series B preferred stock. Authorized, issued, andtanding 13,888,889
shares at December 31, 2011; par value $0.00lhpeg;diquidation
preference of $1.80 per share plus accumulatedetids ($2,901,370
December 31, 2011); none authorized, issued arstiamating as of
December 31, 2012 13,88¢ —

Common stock. Authorized 65,000,000 shares an@dsand outstanding
3,329,666 shares as of December 31, 2011; 25,008(tres
authorized and 16,526,885, shares issued and oditsggas of

December 31, 2012; par value $0.001 per share 3,33( 16,527
Additional paid-in capital 72,133,89 184,100,13
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net (184,50() (21,45))
Accumulated deficit during development stage (74,540,27) (118,183,35)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (2,559,77) 65,911,86

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit $19,470,32 $112,178,59

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtésients.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

Period From
Years Ended December 31, Sep(tlirgg)‘izozk)zow
Through
December 31, 2012
2010 2011 2012 (Unaudited)
Licensing revenue $ — $ 180513 $ 2,446,100 $  4,251,23
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 12,709,59 11,426,15 16,182,56 71,434,69
General and administrative 3,643,62: 4,209,42: 5,177,12 29,598,08
Total costs and expenses 16,353,21 15,635,58 21,359,69 101,032,77
Other income (expense):
Revaluation of warrants 672,47 1,044,82 (24,625,59) (23,075,57)
Foreign currency loss on liquidation — — (191,73) (191,73)
Other income, net 104,55 47,97« 87,84¢ 1,376,53
QTDP Grant 488,95¢ — — 488,95¢
1,265,99 1,092,801 (24,729,48) (21,401,81)
Net loss (15,087,22)  (12,737,65) (43,643,07) (118,183,35)
Dividends on preferred stock, not
declared (2,901,37)) (3,000,001 (2,630,43) (10,944,13)
Net loss attributable to comm:
stockholders $(17,988,59) $(15,737,65) $(46,273,50) $ (129,127,48)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ 540 % @477 % (7.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding
basic and diluted 3,329,66! 3,329,66! 6,283,23!
Other comprehensive gain/(loss):
Unrealized (loss) on investment
securities (21,45)) (21,45))
Foreign currency translation
adjustments (100,03 (6,345 184,50( —
Total comprehensive loss $(15,187,25) $(12,743,99) $(43,480,02) $ (118,204,80)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtésients.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder&quity
For the Period From September 4, 2002 (Inception) Arough December 31, 2012

Initial capitalization (founders) September 10, 20(
Subscription — November 1, 2002

Subscription — October 1, 2003

Repurchase of founders shares — October 27, 20

Private placement — from October 27, 2003 throu
May 5, 2004

Private placement — November 8, 2005
Private placement — May 8, 2006
Conversion of promissory notes — May 8, 2006

Commissions, legal, and other costs for private
placement

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Exercise of stock options

Exercise of warrants

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss for the period September 4, 2002 thrc
December 31, 2007

Balance — December 31, 2007

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Private placement May 23, 2008

Commissions, legal, and other costs

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2008

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Cumulative effect of accounting adjustment

Exercise of stock options

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2009

Series A
Preferred Stock

Series B

Preferred Stock

Series C

Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Deficit
Accumulated

During Accumulated

the

Other

Stockholders

Additional Developmen Comprehensive
Paid-in Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Gain (Loss) (Deficit)
—$ — — 3 — — 3 — 949,03 $ 94¢ $ 2646t $ — % — % 27,41
— — — — — — 60,57¢ 61 1,68¢ — — 1,75(
— — — — — — 112,49¢ 11z 3,13¢ — — 3,25(
— — — — — —  (550,96() (557) (15,366 — — (15,917
— — — — — — 392,16: 39z 2,832,08 — — 2,832,48
— — — — — — 51,92: 52 374,94 — — 375,00(
— — — — — — 2,087,09 2,087 20,497,91 — — 20,500,00
— — — — — — 160,63 161 1,341,08 — — 1,341,24'
— — — — — — — —  (1,500,13) — — (1,500,13)
— — — — — — — — 604,37. — — 604,37.
— — — — — — — — 494,68! — — 494,68!
— — — — — — 6,12¢ 6 17,69¢ — — 17,70¢
— — — — — — 51,92: 52 374,94 — — 375,00(
— — — — — — — — — — 84,97¢ 84,97¢
— — — — — — — — —  (18,656,01) — (18,656,01)
— — — — — — 3,321,010 $ 3,321 $25,053,53 $(18,656,01) $ 84,97¢ $ 6,485,82
_ — — — — — — — 682,02! — — 682,02
— — — — — — — — 127,35 — — 127,35¢
13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — — —  24,986,11 — — 25,000,00
— — — — — — = = (749,07Y) — — (749,07Y)
_ _ — — — — — — — — (155,789 (155,78,
— — — — — — — — —  (13,704,87 — (13,704,87)
13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — 3,321,010 $ 3,321 $50,099,95 $(32,360,88) $ (70,800 $ 17,685,47
_ — — — — — — — 908,37! — — 908,37
— — — — — — — — 53,42¢ — — 53,42¢
— — — — — — — —  (2,187,68) — — (2,187,681
— — — — — — 8,65% 9 24,99: — — 25,00(
— — — — — — — — — — (7,319 (7,319
— — — — — — — — —  (14,354,52) — (14,354,52)
13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — 3,329,661 $ 3,33( $48,899,06 $(46,71540) $ (78,120 $ 2,122,761
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder&quity
For the Period From September 4, 2002 (Inception) Arough December 31, 2012 — (continued)

Deficit
Accumulated
Pref?;rrelsjséiock Pref?a(rerrtle?isSBtock Pref?;rr::issct:ock Common Stock DL:'?Q 9 Accgm:l? ted Stockholders’
Additional Developmen Comprehensive
Paid-in Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Stage Gain (Loss) (Deficit)

Stock-based compensation:

Directors and employees — — — — — — — — 1,604,11° — — 1,604,11

Consultants — — — — — — — — 88,76¢ — — 88,76¢
Private placement January 20, 2010 — — 13,888,88 13,88¢ — — — — 19,787,89 — — 19,801,78
Commissions, legal, and other costs — — — — — — — — (111,70 — — (111,70,
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — — — — — (100,03)) (100,03)
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (15,087,22) — (15,087,22)
Balance — December 31, 2010 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ 13,888,838 $ 13,88¢ = = 3,329,661 $ 3,33( $ 70,268,13 $ (61,802,62 $ (178,15! $ 8,318,46
Stock-based compensation:

Directors and employees — — — — — — — — 1,779,78! — — 1,779,78

Consultants — — — — — — — — 85,97( — — 85,97(
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — — — — — (6,345 (6,345)
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (12,737,65) — (12,737,65)
Balance — December 31, 2011 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — = 3,329,66 $ 3,33( $ 72,133,89 §$ (74,54027) $  (184,50) $ (2,559,77)
Stock-based compensation:

Directors and employees — — — — — — = — 2,436,43 — — 2,436,43

Consultants — — — — — — — — 912,55¢ — — 912,55¢
Private placement — August 9, 2012 15,000,00 15,00( — — 29,715,00 — — 29,730,00
Preferred shares converted to common stock (13,888,88) (13,889 (13,888,88) (13,889 (15,000,00) (15,000 7,403,81 7,404 35,37« — — —
Issuance of common stock from initial public

offering, net of underwriting fees and issuance

costs — — — — — — 5,750,001 5,75( 78,764,24 — — 78,769,99
Warrants converted to common stock — — — — — — 43,40: 43 1,018,17: — — 1,018,21
Reclassification of warrants from equity to liatiéls — — — — — — — — (915,53 — — (915,53)
Other comprehensive gain — — — — — — — — — — 163,04¢ 163,04¢
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (43,643,07) — (43,643,07)
Balance — December 31, 2012 — — — — — —_ 16,526,88 $ 16,527 $184,100,13 $(118,183,35) $ (21,45) $ 65,911,86

F-7




TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (irseprovided by
operating activities:

Impairment of bonds

Loss from sale of assets
Depreciation

Foreign currency loss on liquidation
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of investment premium
Revaluation of warrants

Changes in:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othemntliedkilities

Deferred revenue
Interest accrued on promissory notes
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Redemptions of (investments in) certificates ofatsp
Purchases of investment securities
Sales of investment securities
Purchases of equipment, improvements, and furnétndefixtures
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of stock offerings, nessafance costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock warrants
Payments of capital lease obligation
Proceeds from exercise of options
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissotgspayable
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest

Supplemental disclosures of noncash activities:

Conversion of promissory note payable, includingraed interest of

$91,250 into common shares
Issuance of 108,169 warrants for private placeragant fees

Acquisition of equipment pursuant to capital leases

Period from
September 4,
2002 (Inception)
Through
December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2012

Years Ended December 31,

(Unaudited)

$(15,087,22) $(12,737,65) $(43,643,07) $(118,183,35)

— — — 151,40;
= 217,290 — 217,29
479,50( 410,60 201,32 2,366,66!
— = 191,73: 191,73:
1,692,88. 1,865,75 3,348,98 9,777,87
— = 118,18( 118,18(
(672,470  (1,044,82) 24,625,559 23,075,57
53,46’ (630,42;) (387,690 (1,359,62)
(123,974 (83,239 2,241,57' 3,745,77
—  14,608,27 (2,446,10)  12,162,16

_ _ — 91,24¢
(13,657,82) 2,605,78  (15,749,46)  (67,645,05)
86,92 (3.22) 3,32¢ (627,63)
— —  (65,940,97)  (65,940,97)

— — 1,119,07! 1,119,07!
(29,069 (62,81) (38,79 (1,397,23)
57,85¢ (66,04)  (64,857,36)  (66,846,77)
19,690,07 —  108,499,99  172,477,16
5,198,21 = — 7,385,89
(270,200 (249,66) (81,76) (1,335,56)
— = — 42,70

— — — 375,00(

— = — 1,250,001
24,618,09 (249,66) 108,418,23  180,195,19
(29,099 (6,34%) (7,239 (191,73)
10,989,02 2,283,73  27,804,16 45,511,64
443471 1542374  17,707,47 =

$ 15,423,74 $ 17,707,47 $ 4551164 $ 45511,64

$ 2510¢ $ 13,47¢  $ 4,23¢ % 181,98(

$ — 3 — 3 — $ 134124
1,471,48!
1,335,56'






TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Nature of Business

Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Intercept or thenfany), a development stage company, is a biogweatical company
focused on the development and commercializatiorowél therapeutics to treat chronic liver diseag#izing its proprietary
bile acid chemistry. The Company’s product candigdtave the potential to treat orphan and moreafgrvliver diseases for
which there currently are limited therapeutic solos.

The Company has its administrative headquartelkeinm York, New York and an office in San Diego, @ainia. Prior to
April 2011, the Company operated a wholly-ownedsgdibry in Italy where its bile acid receptor reséawas primarily
conducted. In April 2011, the Company began thegss of liquidating this subsidiary and has sirispated of all assets.
However, the Company is continuing its early stA@dR5 research through its collaboration with Lebdratories Servier and
Institut de Recherches Servier, or collectivelyw&sr Effective March 15, 2013, the Company decittecemove the Italian
subsidiary from the legal liquidation process tbaxthe Company'’s legal representative for itsi@dl trials in the European
Union to satisfy European Union regulatory requieets. Intercept was incorporated in Delaware int&aper 2002.

On September 13, 2012, the board of directorseofXbmpany approved, and on September 25, 201 2dtihslders of the
Company approved, a one-for-5.7778 reverse stditko§phe Company’s outstanding common stock, whias effected on
September 26, 2012. Stockholders entitled to fvaefishares as a result of the reverse stockrepbived a cash payment in
lieu of receiving fractional shares. Shares of camrstock underlying outstanding stock options ameoequity instruments
were proportionately reduced and the respectiveceseeprices, if applicable, were proportionatelgreased in accordance with
the terms of the agreements governing such sexsirBhares of common stock reserved for issuararethe conversion of the
Company’s series A preferred stock, series B prefestock, and series C preferred stock were ptiopately reduced and the
respective conversion prices were proportionatatygased. All share and per share amounts inrtaadial statements have
been retroactively adjusted for all periods presemd give effect to the reverse stock split, idalg reclassifying an amount
equal to the reduction in par value to additioretigin capital.

In October 2012, the Company completed the initiddlic offering (IPO) of its common stock pursuémt registration
statement on Form S-1. In the IPO, the Company aoldggregate of 5,750,000 shares of common stoddrhe registration
statement at a public offering price of $15.00 gieare. Net proceeds were approximately $78.7 mijlkdter deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and estithatiering expenses payable by the Company. Uperlitsing of the IPO,
all outstanding shares of the Company’s preferteckswere converted into 7,403,817 shares of comsback. Additionally,
upon completion of the IPO, the Company is now atitled to issue 25,000,000 shares of common s&RO1 par value per
share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stocBQ$@ar value per share.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The Company’s financial statements have been pedparconformity with accounting principles gengralccepted in the
United States of America (GAAP). The preparatiofiimdincial statements in conformity with GAAP regs management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect theteebamounts of assets and liabilities and thdasce of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagerts and the reported amounts of revenues and seeuring the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those esttes.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemese been prepared assuming that the Companyamifintie as a
going concern. The ability of the Company to becqmaditable depends on several factors, many otlhare outside the
Company’s control. Such factors include the abilitypbtain regulatory
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @mtinued)

approval of product candidates and the abilityuecsssfully commercialize any approved product ickatd. The Company’s
lead product candidate, OCA, has completed threséd™B clinical trials and is currently being testethree additional clinical
trials. Therefore, the Company’s product candidatiisrequire significant research and developnedfurts. The extent to
which the Company will be able to continue its ezsh and development efforts will also partiallydsermined by factors
outside the Company’s control, such as the natuesatent of testing that will be required by th&UFood and Drug
Administration (FDA) and equivalent agencies owgsifl the United States.

B. Segments

The Company operates in one segment. The Companiggharmaceutical company focused on discovedegeloping
and commercializing treatments for chronic livesedises utilizing its proprietary bile acid chenyistr

C. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ttweants of Intercept and its subsidiary, Interdegdia S.R.L. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeima&led in consolidation.

D. Reclassification

Certain amounts shown in prior years’ consoliddieahcial statements have been reclassified toaranfo the current year
consolidated financial statement presentation.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid securitigth a maturity of three months or less at acqwisito be cash
equivalents.

F. Investment Securities

Investment securities are considered to be avaitisale and are carried at fair value. Unredligains and losses, if any,
are reported as a separate component of stocksbé&tgrity. The cost of investment securities clessias available-for-sale is
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretibdiscounts to maturity. Such amortization ancreiion are included in
interest income. Realized gains and losses, if argyalso included in other income, net. The cbseourities sold is based on
the specific identification method.

G. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ ompany to concentrations of credit risk, prialipconsist of cash,
cash equivalents, and investment securities. Thmep@ay currently invests its excess cash primanilg money market fund,
U.S. Treasury notes, and high quality, marketabla thstruments of corporations, financial instdos and government
sponsored enterprises. The Company has adoptedestrnent policy that includes guidelines relatveredit quality,
diversification and maturities to preserve printiguad liquidity. The Company does not have anydimevestments in auction-
rate securities or securities that are collatezdlizy assets that include mortgages or subprimie deb

H. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost, net of depti@epreciation is recorded using the straigh-lnethod over the
estimated useful lives of three to seven yearsdoipment and seven years for furniture and fiukeasehold improvements
are amortized over the shorter of the asset’s Ubffwr the life of the lease term. Expenditufes maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @mtinued)

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of fixed assets. The Gmygvaluates long-lived assets for impairment whamts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouinofisset or group of assets may not be fully reeble

J. Revenue Recognition

All of the Company’s revenue during the periodsared by these financial statements has been ddfriveits research
and development and licensing collaborations. Thgseements include non-refundable up-front feestla@ potential for
research, development, regulatory and commerciakione fees, as well as royalties on sales afisieé products, if and when
such product sales occur. To date, the Companyelsas/ed only up-front fees from its collaborations

The Company evaluates all deliverables within aargyement to determine whether they provide vatua stand-alone
basis. Based on this evaluation, the deliverableseparated into units of accounting. The arramgeronsideration that is
fixed and determinable at the inception of therageanent is allocated to the separate units of att@ubased on relative fair
value. The Company may exercise significant judgnredetermining whether a deliverable is a sepauait of accounting, as
well as in estimating the selling prices of sucktauaf accounting. For each unit of accounting tdferd within an arrangement,
the Company determines the period over which thfapeance obligation occurs and recognizes themeseising a straight-
line method.

The Company accounts for the development, regylaod sales milestones within an arrangement iardance with the
milestone method of revenue recognition. This meéthtows for the recognition of consideration whisttontingent on the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its etytin the period the milestone is achieved. Eathré milestone is considered
substantive if it (i) relates solely to the pastfpenance of the intellectual property to achielve iilestone; (ii) is reasonable
relative to all of the deliverables and paymentitem the arrangement; and (i) is commensurath gither the Company’s
performance or the enhanced value of the inteliggitoperty as a result of a specific outcome tagpfrom the Company’s
performance.

K. Research and Development

Research and development costs that do not hareatitve future use are charged to expense ag@uturhis includes the
cost of conducting clinical trials, compensation aelated overhead for employees and consultantdvied in research and
development and the cost of materials purchasedémarch and development.

L. Stock-Based Compensation

In 2003, the Board of Directors and the stockhadérthe Company approved the Amended and Re28@®I Stock
Incentive Plan (2003 Plan) which provided for tharging of restricted stock, stock options and o#tteck-related awards to
officers, directors, employees, advisors, and dbersts of the Company. Stock options were grantezkercise prices not less
than the fair market value of the Company’s commstoick at the dates of grant. In May 2006, June 2b@BJanuary 2010, the
number of common shares available was increasgti@®28, 865,381, and 1,384,610, respectively. Mp8ons are scheduled
to vest over a period of up to four years. The 2P&® was terminated upon the pricing of the IPQatober 2012, and
555,843 shares available under the 2003 Plan vaetedato the 2012 Plan. All outstanding optionseslsunder the 2003 Plan
as of the date of termination remained outstandmjare subject to their respective terms andetimest of the 2003 Plan.

In September 2012, the Company'’s board of dire@ntsstockholders approved the 2012 Equity Incer®dan (2012
Plan), which became effective upon the pricinghef Company’s IPO in October 2012.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @tinued)

The 2012 Plan will expire on September 13, 2022iddithe 2012 Plan, the Company may grant incestivek options, non-
qualified stock options, restricted and unrestda®ck awards and other stock-based awards. Becémber 31, 2012, there
were 348,690 shares of Company common stock aa#tbfor issuance under the 2012 Plan. On Janu&@1B, 661,075
shares of common stock were added to the 2012ifPlzamuary 2013 in accordance with its terms.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pdanodel for determining the estimated fair valbiawards. Key inputs
and assumptions include the expected term of thierggstock price volatility, risk-free interesteadividend yield, stock price
and exercise price. Many of the assumptions regigrgficant judgment and any changes could havat@rmal impact in the
determination of stock-based compensation expditmeCompany estimates forfeitures when recognizorgpensation
expense and adjusts forfeiture estimates overegbtng period based on actual or anticipated fnfes.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@amsgpn a straight-line basis over the requisitécgeperiod of the
individual grants, which is generally the vestiregipd, based on the estimated grant date fair safBenerally, stock options
granted to employees fully vest four years fromghant date and have a term of ten years.

M. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In conjunction with various financing transactiottee Company issued warrants to purchase the Cofigpemmmon stock.
Certain of the warrants include a provision thaivmtes for a reduction in the warrant exercisegii¢here are subsequent
issuances of additional shares of common stockdosideration per share less than the per sharantaxercise prices and the
remaining warrants contain a provision that reqtieeunderlying shares to be registered upon an TR€se warrants are
deemed to be derivative instruments and as suelieaorded as a liability and are marked-to-maakketich reporting period
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. TlwrPany estimates the fair values of the warrantsel reporting period
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model thatsube inputs detailed in note 8 and the contra¢arais of the warrants.
Management has concluded, under the Company’sdadtsircumstances, that the estimated fair validseovarrants using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model approximatesll material respects, the values determirgidgua binomial valuation
model. The estimates in the Black-Scholes optiacisgy model and the binomial valuation model arsduh in part, on
subjective assumptions, including but not limitecgstock price volatility, the expected life of tharrants, the risk free interest
rate and the fair value of the common stock undeglyhe warrants, and could differ materially ie fiuture. Changes in the fair
value of the common stock warrant liability fronetprior period are recorded as a component of atitceme and expense.

The Company will continue to adjust the fair vabiehe common stock warrant liability at the enceath reporting period
for changes in fair value from the prior periodilittite earlier of the exercise or expiration of #gplicable common stock
warrants or until such time that the warrants aréonger determined to be derivative instruments.

N. Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability metbbdccounting for income taxes. Under this methitederred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the expectedreitax consequences of temporary differences lesttvee carrying amounts
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Aatado allowance is established against net defeeredssets if, based on the
weight of available evidence, it is more likely thaot that some or all of the net deferred taxtass#él not be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured enacted tax rates expected to apply to taXxabteme in the years in
which those temporary differences are expectee t@bolved. The effect of a change
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @mtinued)

in tax rates or laws on deferred tax assets aretréef tax liabilities is recognized in operationghie period that includes the
enactment date of the rate change.

The deferred tax asset or liability representsriutax return consequences of those differenceishwhill be taxable when
the assets and liabilities are recovered or seffled provision for income taxes may differ frone #hctual expense that would
result from applying the federal statutory raténtmome before taxes because certain expenses&ocial reporting purposes
are not deductible for tax purposes. At Decembef811 and 2012, the Company had available nettipgrloss
carryforwards to reduce future taxable income gfrapimately $55.0 million and $70.2 million, respieely, for tax reporting
purposes. These carryforwards expire between 20@2@32. The ability of the Company to utilizeriest operating losses in
future years is subject to limitation in accordand#a provisions of Section 382 of the Internal Beue Code due to previous
ownership changes; however, these changes havesulted in material limitations to the Companybdigy to utilize the net
operating losses. The Company’s combined feddedk and city deferred tax asset of approximat2s.& million, $32.1
million, and $42.1 million at December 31, 201012@nd 2012, respectively, resulted from the téects of net operating
losses and differences between the book and t@slfasthe share-based compensation and depreci@tie Company does
not have any material deferred tax liabilities. Mggrment has determined it is uncertain whether &ityeodeferred tax assets
will be realizable, and has provided an allowarwelie full amount of the tax asset. As a resh#t, Eompany has not recorded
any income tax benefit since its inception.

O. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegloss attributable to common stockholders bywtagghted average
shares outstanding during the period, without aersition for common stock equivalents. Net logsbattable to common
stockholders is net loss reduced by accrued didsiem preferred shares for the periods the prefestiares were outstanding.
Diluted net loss per share is calculated by adjgstieighted average shares outstanding for théwdileffect of common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period, determimgdg the treasury-stock method. For purposeseofitlated net loss per share
calculation, preferred stock, stock options andrarés are considered to be common stock equivatbentsre excluded from
the calculation of diluted net loss per share bgedheir effect would be anti-dilutive and, therefdasic and diluted net loss
per share were the same for all periods presented.

P. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangddard, or the FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-02, “©Othe
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AmtslReclassified Out of Accumulated Other Compretvenincome,” or
ASU No. 2013-02. ASU No. 2013-02 supersedes theeptation requirements for reclassifications owctfumulated other
comprehensive income in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-@i2eguires an entity to provide additional inforfoatabout
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmsive income. ASU No. 2013-02 became effectivaubeginning January
1, 2013. The adoption of this amendment will noteha material impact on the Company’s results efratons or financial
position.

3. Significant Agreements

Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. (DSP)

In March 2011, the Company entered into an exclugie@se agreement with DSP to research, develdgammercialize
obeticholic acid (OCA) as a therapeutic for thetmeent of primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) and nar@lolic steatohepatitis
(NASH) in Japan and China (excluding Taiwan). Urttierterms of the license agreement, the Compamjved an up-front
payment from DSP of $15.0 million and may be eligito receive additional milestone payments umtaggregate of
approximately $30.0 million in development milesterbased on the initiation or completion of clihicils, $70.0 million in
regulatory
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3. Significant Agreements — (continued)

approval milestones and $200.0 million in saleestdnes. The regulatory approval milestones incRide0 million for
receiving marketing approval for OCA for NASH irpd&, $10.0 million for receiving marketing approfa@ OCA for NASH

in China, and up to $5.0 million for receiving metikg approval for OCA for PBC in the United StafEse sales milestones
are based on aggregate sales amounts of OCA dodén®5.0 million for achieving net sales of $5mMillion, $10.0 million for
achieving net sales of $100.0 million, $20.0 millimr achieving net sales of $200.0 million, $4tillion for achieving net
sales of $400.0 million and $120.0 million for a®king net sales of $1.2 billion. DSP is also reggiito make royalty payments
ranging from the tens to the twenties in percesedan net sales of OCA products in the DSP teyrifdSP has the exclusive
option to add several other Asian countries teeitstory, including Korea and Taiwan, and to p&r€dCA for additional
indications. DSP will be responsible for the castdeveloping and commercializing OCA in its terit.

The Company has evaluated the license agreemdnD8P and has determined that it is a revenuegeraent with
multiple deliverables, or performance obligatiofise Company’s substantive performance obligatiomeuthis license
include an exclusive license to its technologyhtécal and scientific support to the developmeahpnd participation on a
joint steering committee. The Company determined tthese performance obligations represent a sumgteof accounting,
since, initially, the license does not have staloth@value to DSP without the Company’s technigplegtise and steering
committee participation during the development &0 This development period is currently estimadsdontinuing through
June 2020 and, as such, the up-front paymentiiglvecognized ratably over this period. Duringykar ended December 31,
2011 and 2012, the Company recorded revenue ofrilligdn and $1.6 million, respectively, in “Liceas-ees” in its
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Cowipaiforts under the agreement. During 2012, tbenGany did not
achieve any of the milestones relating to the agese and did not recognize any revenue relateddb milestones. The
Company has determined that each potential futeveldpment, regulatory and sales milestone is anbse.

Les Laboratories Servier and Institut de Recherctgarvier (Servier)

In August 2011, the Company entered into a resezolthboration agreement with Servier under whigh €ompany
granted Servier the exclusive license to reseaevelop and commercialize TGR5 agonists (other tharCompany’s
preclinical product candidates INT-767 and INT-7itf)use in the treatment of diabetes, obesityeraitclerosis and
reperfusion injury in all countries other than theited States and Japan. The agreement expires mehpayment obligations
are or will become due and may be terminated ednji¢he parties in certain circumstances.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Companyvwedein up-front payment from Servier of $1.4 millidhe Company is
also eligible to receive up to an aggregate of agprately €8.5 million in development milestoneséad on the initiation of
clinical trials by Servier or the selection by Senof product candidates for development, inclgdinpayment of €4.0 million
upon the determination by Servier to initiate ageha clinical trial for the first product candidateder the agreement. The
Company may also receive up to an aggregate obajppately €10.0 million in regulatory submissiordaapproval milestones,
including a payment of €5.0 million upon the fipsbduct candidate under the agreement achievingategy approval in the
EU for its initial indication. The agreement alsmtemplates up to an aggregate of approximately0&@®dlion in sales
milestones, including a payment of €10.0 millioronghe first product candidate under the agreememeving its first
commercial sale, €10.0 million upon achieving re¢¢s of €200.0 million for a product, €20.0 milliapon achieving net sales
of €400.0 million for a product, €25.0 million fachieving net sales of €500.0 million for a prodaied €25.0 million for
achieving net sales of €600.0 million for a prod&srvier is also obligated to pay the Company Ilteagmbased on net sales of
products developed under the agreement on a cebptcpuntry basis. Servier is also obligated to theyCompany royalties
based on net sales of products developed undagteement on a country-by-country basis.
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3. Significant Agreements — (continued)

Intercept and Servier will jointly support the disery effort, while Servier alone will be responsifor all costs associated
with the global development, regulatory approval eammercialization of any compound selected &ad tandidate by the
parties. The Company agreed to reimburse Serviéo apmid-double digit percentage of the totaldrisal development costs
incurred by Servier in relation to clinical devedognt activities aimed at achieving regulatory apptin the European Union
and the United States if the Company enters iqgartnership agreement, or commences developmeaiemercialization
activities, with respect to any such compound eltmited States. Servier may credit a portion gfr@mbursable
development costs against any milestone or royafyments due and payable to the Company by Semdsr the research
collaboration agreement until all such reimbursaneunts are repaid. During the year ended Decegihe2011 and 2012, the
Company did not reimburse any development cosBetuier.

The Company has evaluated the research collaboragiceement with Servier and has determined tiggirevenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables, or perfoncgobligations. The Company’s substantive perfocaabligations under
this research collaboration include an exclusigense to its technology, technical, scientific andllectual property support to
the research plan during the first year of the exgient and participation on an executive committebaaresearch and
development committee. The Company determinedltiest performance obligations represent a singteofiaccounting,
since the license does not have stand-alone val8ertier without the Company’s technical expersisd committee
participation during the initial 12-month periochd research portion of the collaboration may bereded by mutual agreement
by the parties for one or more additional yearsluly 2012, the term of the research program weenebed until January 31,
2013, on the same financial terms as the exiséagarch program, including the reimbursement byi&eof the full time
equivalent costs incurred by the Company in thelaohof the research program, up to a set maximapuat. In February
2013, the research program was further extendeéldJuiht 31, 2013 on the same financial terms asettisting agreement. The
up-front payment is being recognized ratably oherdstimated 12-month performance period as tlearels and development
and executive committee services are being provibDedng the year ended December 31, 2011 and 26&@ZZompany
recorded revenue of $589,000 and $824,000, respéctelated to the Company’s efforts under thevi@emrrangement, which
was recorded in “License Fees” in the Company’sf0bdated Statement of Operations. The Companyégsmined that
each potential future development, regulatory aielssmilestone is substantive.

The Company is also receiving reimbursement fromi€efor research services outlined in the agregmim which the
Company engaged Professor Pellicciari and TES swided below. The Company is recognizing this egpeeimbursement
as a reduction of research and development expasgbe Company is acting as an agent regardiisg tiesearch activities.
All amounts incurred by the Company for researcthenthe Servier agreement during the year endedrbeer 31, 2011 and
2012, including the amounts incurred under theedlagreements with Professor Pellicciari and M&Se covered under the
Servier agreement. At December 31, 2011 and 26&2Company has recorded $486,000 and $496,00@&atesgy in prepaid
expenses and other assets for amounts due froretmvsuch expense reimbursement.

Sponsored Research Agreement (SRA) with the Uniigisf Perugia and Professor Pellicciari

The Company is engaged in a sponsored researcbnagmné with the University of Perugia and Profe$aberto
Pellicciari, a founder of the Company, to desigmtkesize, optimize, scale-up, and develop phartogmally active ligands
for bile acid receptors. Under the SRA, the Comparassigned ownership of any patent and inteliégitoperty rights arising
from the research project. The Company paid therétsity of Perugia €100,000 quarterly commencirlg u2006 through
2010 and €100,000 for the fiscal year 2011. In 2812 Company amended and restated the SRA toce#tierterm to the end
of 2012 and paid the University of Perugia €80,f0(iscal 2012. Since the expiration of the preiderm on December 31,
2012, the Company has been ascertaining its speeduirements concerning the supply of certaiaregfce standards relating
to OCA, INT-767 and INT-777 and is currently negtitig a revised
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agreement to provide for their supply. The Complaary recognized expense for the years ended Dec&hp2010, 2011 and
2012 of $550,000, $138,000 and $104,000, respéygtive

Consulting Agreements with Professor Pellicciari

The Company entered into an amended and restatsdltog and intellectual property agreement witbf€ssor Pellicciari
on November 1, 2008, which was amended on Octohe2®L0. Pursuant to this agreement, as amende@dmpany was
required to pay Professor Pellicciari €8,000 pentihdhrough December 31, 2010 for consulting sextidhe agreement also
required the Company to make a lump sum payme@t 62,500 and monthly payments of €12,000 througteber 31, 2010
for the assignment of certain intellectual propeigits. The Company entered into amended andteglstansulting and
intellectual property agreements with Professolide#ri on January 1, 2011 and January 1, 201&yant to which the
Company agreed to pay Professor Pellicciari anezgge of €100,000 per year for services providealtth December 31,
2012 for consulting services and intellectual progpeghts in relation to OCA, INT-767 and INT-7product candidates. The
Company is currently contemplating the extensiothisf agreement in conjunction with its negotiasiovith Professor
Pellicciari and the University of Perugia regardihg revised agreement to supply the Company wférence standards
relating to OCA, INT-767 and INT-777.

On August 1, 2011, the Company signed a separatemgnt with Professor Pellicciari for consultirgwices and
intellectual property rights related to his sergiom the TGR5 program and the Servier license ypmtsto which the Company
agreed to pay him an aggregate of €150,000 fogdngces through July 31, 2012. This agreementmisades that Professor
Pellicciari will be eligible for a performance banaf €50,000 based on the results of the resealtdboration. The
performance bonus is a discretionary bonus basex thie Company’s assessment of the success afitta work performed
under the collaboration, as extended. No such bbasdeen agreed upon by the parties as of Dece&hp2012. In July 2012
and February 2013, by mutual agreement of thegzaitiie term of this agreement was extended wntiary 31, 2013 and July
31, 2013, respectively, in conjunction with theemdion of the term of the research program witlvigeron the same financial
terms as the original consulting agreement witiféasor Pellicciari.

The Company has recognized expense related to digesements for the years ended December 31, 2010,and 2012
$318,000, $266,000 and $325,000, respectively.

TES Pharma SRL (TES)

In August 2011, the Company contracted with TEBrtvide research and development services for dmepgany’s TGR5
program through July 31, 2012 to enable the Compamyphold its obligations for providing such sees under the Servier
agreement described above. Professor Pelliccian imwner of TES. The Company is required undeagreement to pay TES
an aggregate amount of €250,000 each quarter dilmntgrm of the agreement. The agreement prottdgsany funds paid to
TES that have not been expended or irrevocably dtiedrat the expiration of the agreement will biineled to the Company.

The agreement has a term of one year unless th@&wgmin its sole discretion, extends the termhaf &greement for one
additional year on the same terms and conditioteeasurrent agreement. In July 2012 and Februatyg 2by mutual
agreement of the parties, the term of this agreemas extended until January 31, 2013 and Jul®B13, respectively, in
conjunction with the extension of the term of tesaarch program with Servier, on the same finateiais as the original
agreement with TES.

The Company has incurred charges related to theeagent for the year ended December 31, 2011 at?l @05596,000
and $1.3 million respectively.

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive anddfiey Disease Institute (NIDDK)

In 2010, the Company contracted with the NIDDKa# National Institute of Health to research the&# of OCA for the
treatment of patients with nonalcoholic steatohiéipah a Phase 2b clinical trial called the FLINTal. Under the contract with
the NIDDK, the Company made a milestone paymetldd million
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in June 2012 following notification in June 2012ttkthe FLINT trial will continue based upon theuks of a blinded interim
analysis. The Company has recognized expenseddétathis contract for the years ended Decembe2@10, 2011 and 2012
of $500,000, $250,000 and $2.3 million, respecyivald does not have any additional contractual gaysremaining.

WIL Research Laboratories, LLC (WIL)

On October 2, 2007, the Company entered into aenkgioratory services agreement with WIL Reseaatioratories,
LLC to perform certain research and laboratoryises: The agreement was amended in October 20Eladieement has a
term ending on October 2, 2013, which automaticaitends for successive one year periods, unldss giarty gives written
notice to the other party at least 60 days prighéoend of the current term. Either the Comparny/tr may terminate the
agreement upon 90 days written notice. Howevexr wrk order pertaining to the ongoing studiesuistanding, WIL may not
terminate the agreement with 90 days written natitéd the work order has been completed or othegwerminated.

On November 16, 2011, the Company finalized twokwarders with WIL for FDA-required studies in miaad rats to
investigate the presence or absence of carcinogeténitial of OCA. The Company has agreed to pagganegate of $4.0
million for the studies, consisting of a combinatif quarterly installment payments of approximat&300,000 and milestone
payments totaling approximately $400,000 upon eéejivof final result reports. If additional coste @amcurred beyond the
amounts specified in the work orders, the Comparsyagreed to pay such reasonable additional cpstsreceipt of proper
invoice. The Company anticipates that all the gsidvill continue through completion, all milestone8 be satisfied and that it
will pay to WIL an aggregate of $4.0 million undais agreement. The Company has recognized expelased to these
contracts and other work orders for the years e mber 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 of $1.6 milin5 million and $1.6
million respectively.

4. Investments

The following table summarizes the Company’s caakh equivalents and investments as of Decemb&032, and
December 31, 2011:

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 4551 $ — $ — $ 4551

Investment Securities:

Commercial paper 12,97 10 (19 12,96¢

Corporate debt securities 41,86¢ 7 (23 41,85(

U.S. government and agency securities 9,861 4 — 9,86t
Total investments 64,69¢ 21 (39 64,68

Total cash, cash equivalents and investme $ 110,21( $ 21 $  (3Y $110,19

As of December 31, 2011

Gross Gross
Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $17,700 $ — % — $ 17,707
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The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesnd fair value of the Company’s available-fde-savestments
aggregated by investment category and length & timat individual securities have been in the pmsit

As of December 31, 2012

Less than 12 months

(In thousands)

Gross
Unrealized
Fair Value Holding Losses
Commercial paper $ 10,46 $ (15)
Corporate debt securities 29,83¢ (23
Total available-for-sale securities $ 40,298 3 (38

5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consigtegifollowing:

December 31,

2011 2012

(In thousands)

Prepaid expenses $ 35¢ $ 97C
Contract receivable 48€ 49€
Certificates of deposit 201 77
Refundable tax credits 151 42
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 1197 $ 1,58¢

6. Fixed Assets, Net

Fixed assets, net consisted of the following:

December 31,

Useful Lives
(Years) 2011 2012
(In thousands)

Laboratory equipment 5 $ 1,04¢ $ —
Office equipment 3 31¢ 357

Over life
Leasehold improvements of lease 17¢ 17¢
Furniture and fixtures under capitalized lease 157 157
Furniture and fixtures 7 12C 121
Subtotal fixed assets 1,81¢ 81z
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,50¢) (664)
Fixed assets, net $ 311 % 14¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2011 and 2012 was $411,008221d000,
respectively. During 2011, the Company closedatdlity in Italy and in August 2011, in connectiafith entering into the TES
agreement (note 3), transferred its rights inét$ain fixed assets located at the Italian factityfES. As a result, the Company
recognized a $217,000 loss on the disposal of fassts.
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7. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other lhdities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisteti@following:

December 31,

2011 2012

(In thousands)

Accounts payable $ 604 $ 1,18(
Accrued employee compensation 72¢ 1,33t
Accrued contracted services & other 172 1,231
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiiedbil $ 150¢ $ 3,74¢

8. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

The Company’s activity related to warrants to pasghshares of common stock of the Company is moté table below.

Warrants to Weighted
Purchase Average
Common Stock Exercise Price Expiration
Warrants issued in 2003 2,167 $ 2.8¢ 10/24/201:
Warrants issued in 2003 2,16: 8.67 10/27/201%
Warrants issued in 2004 117,64. 2.8¢ 10/27/201%
Warrants issued in 2004 19,60¢ 2.8¢ 5/4/2014
Warrants issued in 2004 117,64( 8.67 10/27/201%
Warrants issued in 2005 138,46: 7.22 Expired
Warrants issued in 2006 86,53¢ 9.82 Expired
Warrants issued in 2006 20,48: 9.82 Expired
Warrants exercised in 2007 (51,92 7.22
Warrants issued in 2008 108,16¢ 10.4( 5/23/2013
Warrants issued in 2010 865,38: 10.4( 1/25/2015
Warrants expired in 2010 (86,539 7.22
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decembe203D, 1,339,78! 9.42
Warrants expired in 2011 (107,019 9.82
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decembe031l, 1,232,76 9.3¢
Warrants exercised in 2012 (70,807 8.5¢

Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decembe&(3P, 1,161,96! $ 9.4
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As discussed in note 2, all of the warrants hawnlemed to be derivative instruments that redjaiodity classification
and mark-to-market accounting. The warrants thataio an exercise price adjustment are deemedadég pursuant to an
accounting standard that became effective on Jariy&009. The warrants that require the underlgingres to be registered
upon an IPO met the criteria to be a derivativeruihe closing of the IPO in October 2012. The Yalues of the warrants are
reflected in the accompanying balance sheets angl stermined using the Black-Scholes option-pgieimodel using the
following weighted average assumptions:

December 31,

2011 2012
Stock price $ 8.67 $34.2¢
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Expected term (in years) 2.7¢ 1.72
Risk free interest rate 0.32% 0.22%
Expected volatility 102.7¢%6  84.01%

The expected term is based on the remaining tersaati warrant. The risk free interest rate is baseithe rate for U.S.
Treasury securities for the expected term of eaafamt valued. The expected volatility was estimditgsed on historical
volatility information of peer companies that arbficly available.

9. Fair Value Measurements
The carrying amounts of the Company'’s receivabtespmyables approximate their fair value due tar gteort maturities.

Accounting principles provide guidance for using fealue to measure assets and liabilities. Thelanie includes a three
level hierarchy of valuation techniques used tosueafair value, defined as follows:

¢ Unadjusted Quoted Prices Fhe fair value of an asset or liability is baseduoadjusted quoted prices in active mar
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

«  Pricing Models with Significant Observable InputsThe fair value of an asset or liability is basedinformation
derived from either an active market quoted prideich may require further adjustment based on ttibates of the
financial asset or liability being measured, oiractive market transaction (Level 2).

«  Pricing Models with Significant Unobservable Input The fair value of an asset or liability is pairily based on
internally derived assumptions surrounding thergrand amount of expected cash flows for the firdmestrument.
Therefore, these assumptions are unobservabléigr gin active or inactive market (Level 3).

The Company considers an active market as one ichvitansactions for the asset or liability ocowith sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing informat@man ongoing basis. Conversely, the Company vawigactive market
as one in which there are few transactions foa#®et or liability, the prices are not currentpce quotations vary
substantially either over time or among market maké&/here appropriate, non-performance risk, ardha counterparty, is
considered in determining the fair values of licieis and assets, respectively.

The Company’s cash deposits and money market faredslassified within Level 1 of the fair value tgichy because they
are valued using bank balances or quoted marketrinvestments are classified as Level 2 instnisrgased on market
pricing and other observable inputs. None of then@any’s investments
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are classified within Level 3 of the fair value tigchy. The Company’s warrant liability has beelugd pursuant to the
discussion in note 8 above and thus is includdgirel 3.

Financial assets and liabilities, carried at failue are classified in the tables below in onénefthree categories described
above:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Significant
Assets or Significant Other Unobservable
Liabilities (Level ~ Observable Inputs Inputs
Total 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(In thousands)

Description
December 31, 2010
Assets:
Money market funds $ - % — 3 —  $ —
Liabilities:
Warrants to purchase commc

stock $ (6,88) $ — 8 — 3 (6,887
Total liabilities $ (6,88) $ — 3 — 3 (6,88))
December 31, 2011
Assets:
Money market funds $ 1377 % 1,37t $ — $ —
Liabilities:

Warrants to purchase commc
stock $ (583) $ — 8 — 3 (5,836

Total liabilities $ (583 $ — 3 — 3 (5,836
December 31, 2012
Assets:
Money market funds $ 2486: % 24,86: $ — $ —
Available for sale securities:
Commercial paper $ 12,96¢ $ — 8 12,96¢ $ —
Corporate debt securities 41,85( — 41,85( —

U.S. government and agen
securities 9,86¢ — 9,86¢ —

Total assets: $ 89,54: $ 2486: $ 64,68. $ —

Liabilities:
Warrants to purchase commc
stock

©

(30,359 $ — % — $ (30,359
(30,359 $ — 3 — $ (30,359

©

Total liabilities
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The estimated fair value of marketable debt saesr{ftommercial paper, corporate debt securitidsLh. government and
agency securities) as of December 31, 2012, byacto@l maturity, are as follows:

Fair Value

(In thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 32,07¢
Due after one year through 2 years 32,60:

Total investments in debt securities $ 64,68

Actual maturities may differ from contractual mdtiess because issuers may have the right to catepay obligations
without call or prepayment penalties.

10. Stockholders’ Equity and Preferred Stock

Common Stock

In September 2002, the Company issued 949,035sshommmon stock at a price of $0.03 per shatbedounders of the
Company (Founders’ shares).

In November 2002, the Company issued 60,576 sleie@mmon stock at a price of $0.03 per sharedgtimcipal
investigators and other researchers of the Comparsuant to an authorization by the Board of Doexto issue and sell these
shares by subscription to the named parties iruoatipn with the signing of certain research agreeis

In October 2003, the Company issued 112,498 stwdu@smmon stock at a price of $0.03 per shareadwlo principal
investigators pursuant to an authorization by tbarB of Directors to issue and sell these sharesibgcription.

In October 2003, the Company repurchased and @h&80,960 Founders’ shares from certain foundetteedCompany at
a price of $0.03 per share.

From October 2003 through May 2004, pursuant towefe placement agreement dated October 200 dingpany issued
an aggregate of 392,163 shares of common stockrteof $7.22 per share, receiving net proce¢&2 @ million after
$474,000 in related offering costs. In additioras3| A warrants to purchase 137,251 shares of corstnok and Class B
warrants to purchase 117,640 shares of common ateckissued to the placement agent and its asaggadditional placement
agent commission under the terms of the placengsrttagreement.

In November 2005, the Company issued 51,922 sloi@@mmon stock, warrants with a two-year termuocpase 51,922
shares of common stock at an exercise price 02472 share and warrants with a five-year termutaclpase 86,538 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $7.22 pereskdirpursuant to a private subscription agreemshttwo outside
investors, receiving net proceeds of $375,000.

In May 2006, pursuant to a private placement agreerntee Company issued 2,087,091 shares of cominohk at a price
of $9.82, receiving net proceeds of $19.5 milliafter $1.0 million in related offering costs. AlsoMay 2006, the Company’s
6% convertible promissory notes that were issudekioruary 2005 with a face amount of $1.3 millialong with $91,000 of
accrued interest, were converted into 160,637 stafreommon stock at a price of $8.35 per sharsyaunt to the mandatory
conversion terms of the notes.

Dividends

The holders of common stock are entitled to recdivielends from time to time as declared by therBa Directors. No
cash dividend may be declared or paid to commarkktidders until paid on each series of outstangiederred stock in
accordance with their respective terms.
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Voting

The holders of shares of common stock are entitlethe vote for each share held with respect tmatters voted on by the
stockholders of the Company.

Preferred Stock

In May 2008, to effectuate the sale of Series Aqarefl stock, the Company amended and restateeitgi€ate of
Incorporation in its entirety to increase the numifeshares of preferred stock it was authorizeidgae to 13,888,889 shares
and to designate such shares as Series A prefgoekl In May 2008, 13,888,889 shares of Seriesefepred stock were sold
to Genextra for net proceeds of $24.3 million, a%849,000 in related offering costs. In connectigih this financing, the
Company issued warrants with a five-year term tcipase 108,169 shares of common stock at $10.4§hpee to the
placement agent.

In January 2010, the Company further amended astdted its Certificate of Incorporation in its eety to increase the
number of shares of preferred stock it was authdrip issue to 27,777,778 shares and designat8881889 of such shares as
Series B preferred stock. In January 2010, 13,&®8sBares of Series B preferred stock and a wawidmta five-year term to
purchase 865,381 shares of common stock at $1@4€hare were sold to Genextra for $24.9 millidtera112,000 in related
offering costs.

In August 2012, the Company further amended arntdtesbits Certificate of Incorporation in its esty to increase the
number of shares of preferred stock it was authdrip issue to 52,777,778 shares and designated®600 of such shares as
Series C preferred stock. In August 2012, 15,0@dares of Series C preferred stock were solcetees@ra and OrbiMed
Advisors LLC for $29.7 million, after $300,000 ielated offering costs. Upon the completion of #A©] all outstanding shares
of the Company’s preferred stock were converted 103,817 shares of common stock and all acativédends on the
preferred stock were eliminated.

11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan

Upon the pricing of the IPO in October 2012, th&2@lan became effective. At the same time, th& Zan was
terminated and 555,843 shares available under@®@ Rlan were added to the 2012 Plan. See note 2L.

The estimated fair value of the options that haaenbgranted under the 2003 and 2012 Plans is detamtilizing the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model at the dateraing The fair value of the restricted stock utist have been granted under
the 2012 Plan is determined utilizing the clositagk price on the date of grant. There were 60gtkles available for grant
remaining under the 2003 Plan at December 31, 26#1348,690 shares available for grant remainimguthe 2012 Plan at
December 31, 2012.
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan(continued)

Stock-based compensation expense for the years @wtrember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 includes corafienexpense
for employee, director and consultant stock opgicants and restricted stock grants as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands)

Stock options expense:

Employees and directors $ 1,60¢ $ 1,78C $ 2,162
Consultants 8¢S 86 822
1,69: 1,86¢ 2,98¢

Restricted stock expense:
Employees and directors — — 307
Consultants — — 58
— — 36¢
Total $ 169 $ 1866 $ 3,34¢

Stock Options

The Company estimated the fair value of stock mgtigranted in the periods presented using a Blablo!8s option-pricing
model utilizing the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012
Volatility 107 -113% 107 -115%
Expected term (in years) 5.0-6.0 5.0-6.0
Risk-free interest rate 11-1.4% 0.7-0.8 %
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Stock price $ 8.67 $8.67 —84.2¢

The common stock price for options granted prich®|PO was determined based on a valuation o€tmpany’s
common stock. For options granted after the IP© stbck price is the closing price on the daterahyg The risk free interest
rate was based on the rate for U.S. Treasury ssuat the date of grant with maturity dates apjpnately equal to the
expected life at the grant date. The expecteddif@ptions was based on the simplified methodcitoadance with SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin Nos. 107 and 110 as the Compdoss not have sufficient historical exercise dia to the limited period
of time the Company’s shares have been publichietlaThe expected volatility was estimated baselisiorical volatility
information of peer companies that are publiclyilade.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 ar®j #6.Company granted options to employees aedtdirs totaling
428,354, 214,962 and 213,991, respectively, witaggregate fair market value of $3.1 million, $t#lion and $3.6 million,
respectively. For the years ended December 31,, 2010 and 2012, the Company granted options teuttamts in the amount
of 27,695, 6,056 and 16,441, respectively with ggregate fair market value of $200,000, $42,000,%293,000, respectively.
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan(continued)

The Company’s combined outstanding employee aneengoloyee option activity for the period from Dedsm 31, 2009
through December 31, 2012 is summarized as follows:

Weighted Aggregate

Number of Average Intrinsic Value

Shares Exercise Price  (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 67453 $ 92¢ $ 38(
Granted 456,04¢ $ 8.617 —
Exercised — — —
Cancelled/forfeited (2,59 $ 9.82 —
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 1,127,990 $ 9.01 38C
Granted 221,018 $ 8.617 —
Exercised — — —
Cancelled/forfeited (39,649 % 8.7 (30)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,309,36: $ 8.9¢ 35(
Granted 230,43; $ 20.2¢ —
Exercised — — —
Cancelled/forfeited (13,64f) $ 9.2¢ (63
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,526,151 $ 10.67 $ 35,96¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of options is calmdaas the difference between the exercise pritieeofinderlying options
and the deemed fair value of the Company’s comntmekdor those shares that had exercise pricesrltvesm the deemed fair
value of the Company’s common stock.

The following table summarizes additional informatabout stock options outstanding:

December 31, 2010

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value Average Aggregate
Number of Remaining Number of Remaining Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price Shares Life (In thousands) Shares Life (In thousands)
$2.89 65,76¢ 38 $ 38C 65,76¢ 38 $ 38C
$8.67 456,04¢ 9.€ — 114,00: 9.€ —
$9.82 454,73¢ 7.3 — 317,32 6.9 —
$10.11 7,781 6.2 — 7,781 6.2 —
$10.41 143,64¢ 7.1 = 102,14 7.1 =
1,127,991 8C $ 38C 607,02 $ 38C

Options exercisable and
expected to become
exercisable 1,127,99! 8C $ 38C
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan(continued)
December 31, 2011

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value Average Aggregate
Number of Remaining Number of Remaining  Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price Shares Life (In thousands) Shares Life (In thousands)
$2.89 60,57 2¢ 3 35C 60,57 2¢ 3 35C
$8.67 671,44. 9.C — 286,73: 8.8 —
$9.82 425,91. 6.2 — 375,06 6.1 —
$10.11 7,781 5.2 —_ 7,781 5.2 —_
$10.41 143,64¢ 6.1 — 134,90} 6.1 —
1,309,36- 75 % 35C 865,06¢ $ 35C

Options exercisable and
expected to become
exercisable 1,309,36: 75 % 35C

December 31, 2012

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value Average Aggregate

Number of Remaining Number of Remaining Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price Shares Life (In thousands) Shares Life (In thousands)
$2.89 60,57« 1¢ $ 1,89¢ 60,57« 1¢ $ 1,89¢
$8.67 668,37- 8.C 17,09¢ 456,46 7.8 11,67¢
$9.30 15,81 9.€ 394 6,90¢ 9.€ 172
$9.82 423,31t 5.2 10,33¢ 413,80: 5.2 10,104
$10.11 7,781 4.2 18¢ 7,781 4.2 18¢
$10.41 143,64¢ 5.1 3,42¢ 143,64¢ 5.1 3,42t
$21.50 206,63t 9.9 2,63 6,76¢€ 9.9 86

1,526,15! 6.¢ 35,96¢ 1,095,95. $ 27,54

Options exercisable and
expected to become
exercisable 1,526,15I 6. $ 35,96¢

As of December 31, 2012, $4.3 million of total wwognized compensation cost related to unvested sgatton grants is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedpof 2.15 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the aggregate sttistock activity for the year ended Decembe2812:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Number of Shares Fair Value
Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2011 — % —
Granted 176,18( $ 17.8:
Exercised — —
Cancelled/forfeited — % —
Nor-vested Shares at December 31, 2012 176,18( $ 17.82
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan(continued)

As of December 31, 2012, there was $3.6 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to wi/esstricted stock,
which is expected to be recognized over a weightedlage of 3.75 years.

The following table summarizes additional inforroatabout restricted stock units outstanding:

Number of Intrinsic Value

Shares Issue Price (In thousands)

Employees and directors 158,01t $ 21.5C $ 5,41(
Consultants 18,17: $ 21.5( 622
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 176,18t $ 6,032

12. QTDP

In 2010, the Company recognized other income reletehe Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Proje@TOP). The QTDP
program was created by the United States Congsegartiof the Patient Protection and AffordableeCact and provided for
reimbursement of certain costs paid or incurred@du2009 and 2010 directly related to the condfiet QTDP. During the year
ended December 31, 2010, the Company was awar@Sj0R0 related to this program, which is includedther income in
the accompanying statement of operations.

13. Commitment and Contingencies

Facility Leases

The Company leases general and administrativeeo$fiace in New York, New York and San Diego, Catif® pursuant to
non-cancellable operating leases that expire inetber 2013 and in December 2014, respectively. ItM2013, the
Company entered into an amendment to the leastsf8an Diego office, which, among other thinggjextiapproximately
5,100 square feet of space and extended the tetine @isting lease. The lease for the San Dieficepfas amended, will
expire in December 2015. In addition, the Compa&agéd office and research space in Perugia, Itegupnt to a euro
denominated operating lease that expired in July22The terms of the leases provide for rental payson a graduated scale,
and the Company recognizes rent expense on aldtteig basis over the non-cancellable lease terdhracords the difference
between cash rent payments and the recognitioenvfexpense as a deferred rent liability includeddcrued expenses. The
Company is required to pay its share of operatieeses, such as property taxes and building costisthese amounts are not
included in rent expense or minimum operating lgesanents below. Rent expense under operatingddaséacilities for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012,ppasxémately $299,000, $291,000 and $332,000, imly. As of
December 31, 2012, minimum operating lease paymeamsr non-cancelable leases (as amended) arbaaegsfo

Year Ending December 31, Amount

(In thousands)

2013 $ 331
2014 213
Total future minimum operating lease payments $ 544

Contingencies

The Company may become subject to claims and assass from time to time in the ordinary course a$ibess. Such
matters are subject to uncertainties and outcomeesa predictable with assurance. The Companyuasdiabilities for such
matters when it is probable that future expend#twvél be made and such expenditures can be rebgoestimated. As of
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, the Companyrdidslieve that any such matters, individuallyrothe aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the Company'seéss, financial condition, results of operationsash flows.
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14. Related Party Transactions

During 2008, the Company retained the servicegnoMervis, who at the time served as chairman efttbard of directors,
to assist with business development, resultingeimegal and administrative expense of $173,000 @82@hich is included in
the Company’s cumulative results for the periodrfrdeptember 4, 2002 (inception) through DecembgePG12.

15. Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the historical compataeof basic and diluted net loss per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Historical net loss per share
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (17,989 $ (15,73) $ (46,279

Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted 3,329,66! 3,329,66! 6,283,23!

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (540 $ 4.779) $ (7.36)

The following potentially dilutive securities habeen excluded from the computations of diluted Wieid average shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2&lthey would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31,

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands)

Shares issuable upon conversion of preferred stock 4,80¢ 4,80¢ —
Shares issuable pursuant to accumulated prefeioekl s

dividend 61z 95¢ —
Options 1,12¢ 1,30¢ 1,52¢
Restricted stock units — — 17¢
Warrants to purchase common stock 1,34( 1,232 1,162
Total 7,88¢ 8,30¢ 2,86¢
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table summarizes the unaudited quigrfmancial data for the last two fiscal years.

2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Licensing revenue $ 758,75« $ 758,75! $ 523,190 $ 40540' $ 2,446,10

Costs and expenses:
Research and development 3,059,58! 5,018,02! 3,318,311 4,786,641 16,182,56
General and administrative 1,059,20: 943,85 991,06: 2,183,00:i 5,177,12!
Total costs and expenses 4,118,78 5,961,88 4,309,37. 6,969,64: 21,359,69

Other income (expense):

Revaluation of warrants 677,90° 301,56¢ (1,417,69) (24,187,38) (24,625,59)
Foreign currency loss on
liquidation — (191,73) — — (191,73)
Other income, net 2,43¢ 7,30¢ 16,88 61,22¢ 87,84¢
680,34: 117,14:  (1,400,80) (24,126,16) (24,729,48)
Net loss (2,679,69) (5,085,98) (5,186,98) (30,690,40) $(43,643,07)
Dividends on preferred stock, no
declared (750,000 (750,000 (1,000,001 (130,43
Net loss attibutable to commu
stockholders $(3,429,69) $(5,835,98) $(6,186,98) $(30,820,83)
Net loss per common shi-basic
and diluted $ (1.09) $ 1.75) $ (1.86) $ (2.02)

Weighted average shares
outstanding, basic and diluted 3,329,261 3,329,26! 3,329,26! 15,223,01

2011
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Licensing revenue $ — $ 405,40 $ 640,97. $ 758,75 $ 1,805,13

Costs and expenses:
Research and development 2,229,54! 2,521,26 2,512,24i 4,163,09 11,426,15
General and administrative 1,125,74: 894,24t 1,154,09 1,035,34. 4,209,42!
Total costs and expenses 3,355,29: 3,415,511 3,666,33 5,198,43 15,635,58

Other income (expense):

Revaluation of warrants 21,71¢ 72,48’ 174,33¢ 776,28: 1,044,82
Other income, net 665 19,61¢ 10,09¢ 17,59¢ 47,97
22,38: 92,10¢ 184,43¢ 793,87t 1,092,801
Net loss (3,332,91) (2,918,00) (2,840,93) (3,645,80) $(12,737,65)
Dividends on preferred stock, no
declared (750,00() (750,00() (750,001 (750,001
Net loss attibutable to commu
stockholders $(4,082,91) $(3,668,00) $(3,590,93) $(4,395,80)
Net loss per common shi-basic
and diluted $ 1.239) $ (1.10 $ (1.08) $ (1.39)

Weighted average shares
outstanding, basic and diluted 3,329,261 3,329,26! 3,329,26! 3,329,26!

F-29






TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exhibit List
Filed
with Incorporated by
Exhibit this Reference herein from SEC File/ Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Form or Schedule Filing Date Number
3.1 Restated Certificate of Form 8-K 10/16/12 001-35668
Incorporation of the (Exhibit 3.1)
Registrant
3.2 Restated Bylaws of the Form 8-K 10/16/12 001-35668
Registrant (Exhibit 3.2)
4.1 Form of Common Stock Form S-8 11/07/12 333-184810
Certificate of the Registrant (Exhibit 4.3)
4.2 Third Amended and Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Restated Stockholders (Exhibit 4.2)
Agreement by and among
the Registrant, the holders
of the Registrant’s
convertible preferred stock,
the Registrant’s founders
and certain other investors,
dated August 9, 2012
4.3 Form of Series A Warrant Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.3)
issued in 2003
4.4 Form of Series B Warrant Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.4)
issued in 2003
4.5 Form of Series A Warrant Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.5)
issued in 2004, expiring in
October 2013
4.6 Form of Series A Warrant Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.6)
issued in 2004, expiring in
May 2014
4.7 Form of Series B Warrant Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.7)
issued in 2004
4.8 Form of Warrant to Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.8)
issued in 2008
4.9 Form of Warrant to Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
purchase Common Stock (Exhibit 4.9)
issued in 2010
Equity Compensation Plans
10.1.1 Amended and Restated 2( Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Stock Incentive Plan of the (Exhibit 10.1.1)
Registrant+
10.1.2 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Option Agreement granted (Exhibit 10.1.2)

under the 2003 Stock
Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Filed
with Incorporated by
Exhibit this Reference herein from SEC File/ Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Form or Schedule Filing Date Number
10.1.3 Form of Incentive Stock Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Option Agreement granted (Exhibit 10.1.3)
under the 2003 Stock
Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.1.4 Amendment to Amended Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
and Restated 2003 Stock (Exhibit 10.1.4)
Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.2.1 Form of 2012 Equity Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Incentive Plan of the 1to Form S-1
Registrant+ (Exhibit 10.2.1)
10.2.2 Form of Stock Option Grai Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Notice for Directors unde 1to Form S-1
the 2012 Equity Incentive (Exhibit 10.2.2)
Plan of the Registrant+
10.2.3 Form of Stock Option Grai Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Notice for Employees ar 1to Form S-1
Consultants under the 2012 (Exhibit 10.2.3)
Equity Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.2.4 Form of Restricted Stock Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Unit Award Grant Notice 1to Form S-1
for Directors under the 20: (Exhibit 10.2.4)
Equity Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.25 Form of Restricted Stock Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Unit Award Grant Notice 1to Form S-1
for Employees and (Exhibit 10.2.5)
Consultants under the 2012
Equity Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.3 Non-Employee Director Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Compensation Policy+ 1to Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.3)
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.4.1 Employment Agreement by Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
and between the Registrant (Exhibit 10.4.1)
and Mark Pruzanski, dated
May 15, 2006+
10.4.2 Non-Competition and Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706

Non-Solicitation Agreemer
by and between the
Registrant and Mark
Pruzanski, dated June 20,
2006+

(Exhibit 10.4.2)




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Filed

with

this
Report

Incorporated by

Reference herein from

Form or Schedule Filing Date

SEC File/ Reg.
Number

10.4.3

10.5.1

10.5.2

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.8

10.9

Invention, Non-Disclosure,
and Non-Solicitation
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and Mark
Pruzanski, dated December
31, 2009+

Employment Agreement by
and between the Registrant
and Barbara Duncan,
effective as of May 16,
2009+

Invention, Non-Disclosure,
and Non-Solicitation
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and Barbara
Duncan, effective as of Me
16, 2009+

Employment Agreement by
and between the Registrant
and David Shapiro, effecti
as of April 1, 2008+

Invention, Non-Disclosure,
and Non-Solicitation
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and David
Shapiro, dated March 31,
2008+

Employment Agreement by
and between the Registrant
and Daniel Regan, effective
as of March 4, 2013+

Invention, Non-Disclosure,
and Non-Solicitation
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and Daniel
Regan, dated March 4,
2013+

Consulting Agreement
between the Registrant and
Luciano Adorini, dated as
January 1, 2012+

Form of Indemnification
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and each of
its directors and executive
officers

Form S-1 09/04/12

(Exhibit 10.4.3)

Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.5.1)

09/04/12

Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.5.2)

09/04/12

Form S-1 09/04/12

(Exhibit 10.6.1)

Form S-1 09/04/12

(Exhibit 10.6.2)

Amendment No.  09/27/12
1to Form S-1

(Exhibit 10.19)

Form S-1 09/04/12

(Exhibit 10.7)

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Incorporated by

Exhibit Reference herein from SEC File/ Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Form or Schedule Filing Date Number
Lease Agreements
10.10 Lease Agreement between Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Greenwich-Desbrosses (Exhibit 10.8)
Realty LLC and the
Registrant, as amended,
dated December 1, 2006
10.11.1  Lease Agreement between Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
4350 La Jolla Village LLC (Exhibit 10.9)
and the Registrant, dated
October 25, 2011
10.11.2  First Amendment to Lease Form 8-K 03/22/13  001-35668

Agreement between 4350
La Jolla Village LLC and
the Registrant, dated March
18, 2013

(Exhibit 10.1)

Agreements with Respect to Collaborations, LicensgResearch and Development

10.12

10.13.1

10.13.2

10.13.3

10.14

License Agreement by and
between the Registrant and
Dainippon Sumitomo
Pharma Co. Ltd., dated
March 29, 2011*

Product Research,
Development, License and
Commercialization
Agreement by and between
the Registrant, Les
Laboratoires Servier and
Institut De Recherchés
Servier, dated August 1,
2011 (the “Servier
Agreement”)*

Amendment No. 1 to the
Servier Agreement, dated
July 24, 2012*

Amendment No. 2 to the
Servier Agreement, dated
February 15, 2013**

Cooperative Research and
Development Agreement |
and between the Registrant
and The National Institute
of Diabetes and Digestive
and Kidney Diseases, dated
June 25, 2010*

Amendment No.
1to Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.10)

Amendment No.
1to Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.11.1)

Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.11.2)

Form 8-K
(Exhibit 10.1)

Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.12)

09/27/12

09/27/12

09/04/12

02/22/13

09/04/12

333-183706

333-183706

333-183706

001-35668

333-183706




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Filed
with Incorporated by
Exhibit this Reference herein from SEC File/ Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Form or Schedule Filing Date Number
10.15 Sponsored Research Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Agreement by and between (Exhibit 10.13)
the Registrant, Dipartimen
di Chimica e Tecnologia d
Farmaco of the Universita
Perugia, and Professor
Roberto Pellicciari, dated
January 1, 2012
10.16.1  Consulting and IP Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Agreement by and between 1to Form S-1
the Registrant and Roberto (Exhibit 10.14.1)
Pellicciari, dated August 1,
2011*
10.16.2  Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Consulting and IP (Exhibit 10.14.2)
Agreement by and between
the Registrant and Roberto
Pellicciari, dated July 30,
2012*
10.16.3  Amendment No. 2 to Form 8-K 02/22/13  001-35668
Consulting and IP (Exhibit 10.2)
Agreement with Professor
Roberto Pellicciari, dated
February 15, 2013**
10.17 Consulting and IP Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Agreement by and between (Exhibit 10.15)
the Registrant and Roberto
Pellicciari, dated January 1,
2012
10.18.1  Research and Development Amendment No.  09/27/12  333-183706
Agreement by and between 1to Form S-1
the Registrant and TES (Exhibit 10.16.1)
Pharma Srl, dated August 1,
2011 (the “TES
Agreement”)*
10.18.2  Amendment No. 1 to the Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
TES Agreement, dated July (Exhibit 10.16.2)
27, 2012*
10.18.3  Amendment No. 2 to the Form 8-K 02/22/13  001-35668
TES Agreement, dated (Exhibit 10.3)
February 15, 2013**
10.19.1  Master Laboratory Services Form S-1 09/04/12  333-183706
Agreement by and between (Exhibit 10.17.1)

the Registrant and WIL
Research Laboratories,
LLC, dated October 2, 2007




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Filed
with Incorporated by
Exhibit this Reference herein from SEC File/ Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Form or Schedule Filing Date Number
10.19.2  Amendment to the Master Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Laboratory Services (Exhibit 10.17.2)
Agreement by and the
Registrant and WIL
Research Laboratories,
LLC, dated October 28,
2011
Other Exhibits
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Registrant (Exhibit 21.1)
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, X
independent registered
public accounting firm
23.2 Consent of EisnerAmper X
LLP, independent register
public accounting firm
31.1 Certification of the Chief X
Executive Officer
31.2 Certification of the Chief X
Financial Officer
32 Certification pursuant to X
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
101 The following materials X

from Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended
December 31, 2012,
formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business
Reporting Language):

(i) Consolidated Balance
Sheets, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Loss,
(iii) Consolidated
Statements of Changes in
Stockholders’ Equity,

(iv) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows,
and (v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial
Statements***




TABLE OF CONTENTS

(+) Management contract or compensatory plan ongement.
(*) Confidential treatment has been granted bySbeurities and Exchange Commission as to certatiops.
(**) Confidential treatment has been requested ftbenSecurities and Exchange Commission as toicgretions.

(***) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thesgactére data files are deemed not filed or pad cégistration statement
or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or TReoSecurities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of theuBides Exchange Act
of 1934 and otherwise are not subject to liabilibger these sections.




Exhibit 10.7.1
Execution Versior
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”)made effective as of March 1, 2013, is entered mtolntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
“Company”) and Daniel Regan (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executind,EBxecutive desires to be employed by the Company.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cams and promises contained in this Agreement,adhér good and valuable consideration,
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby ackremgled by the parties to this Agreement, the paatiese as follows:

1. Term of EmploymentThe Company hereby agrees to employ Executiveé,Executive hereby accepts employment with the Gompupon th
terms set forth in this Agreement, for the periochmencing on March 4, 2013 (the “Commencement Dated)ending on March 4, 2014, unless sooner terntria
accordance with the provisions of Section 4 (suetiog, the “Initial Term”);_provided however, that on each anniversary of the Commencement, Eraeterm c
employment under this Agreement shall be automitieatended for an additional one-year period fesiech period, a “Subsequent Periagfijess terminated sool
pursuant to Section 4 or if, at least thirty (3@ysl prior to the applicable anniversary date, eithecutive or the Company provides written notizehe other par
electing not to extend. The Initial Term togethéhveach Subsequent Term, if any, are referrecteihafter as the “Agreement Term.”

2. Title; Capacity During the Agreement Term, the Company will ergpxecutive as its Chief Commercial Officer to jpenh the duties ar
responsibilities inherent in such position (whid¢tals initially include, without limitation, thosees forth in Schedule 1 to this Agreement) and soitter duties ar
responsibilities as the Chief Executive Officertité Company (the “CEQ”) shall from time to time seaably assign to Executive. Within foffiye (45) days of th
Commencement Date, and on an annual basis therediteCompany’s Board of Directors (the “Boardt), consultation with Executive and the CEO, wilt
reasonably attainable, specific goals pursuartiécQperating Plan of the Company as in effect ftione to time. Executive shall report directly t@t6EO and she
be subject to the supervision of, and shall haweh @authority as is delegated to Executive by, tBOCwhich authority shall be sufficient to perfohis dutie:
hereunder. Executive will work out of the Companyffice in New York. Executive hereby accepts secmployment and agrees to undertake the dutie
responsibilities set out in Schedule 1. Executhedisdevote his full business time, energies atehéibn in the performance of the foregoing service

3. Compensation and Benefits

3.1 Salary The Company shall pay Executive an initial anizeal base salary of $350,000, payable in accordaitbethe Companys regula
payroll practices. Such base salary shall be stitjeennual review and increase (but not decrems@)ay be determined and approved by the Boattea€Companys
Compensation Committee in its sole discretion. Sarafual review will be completed by March 15 in egelr beginning with March 15, 2014.




3.2 BonusesAt the end of a given fiscal year, Executive Wi eligible to receive a bonus equal to up to 40%is base salary in effect at
end of such fiscal year. The amount of any suchub@hall be based on factors including, but noitdichto, Executives achievement, as determined by the Boa
the Company’s Compensation Committee in its saderdtion, of reasonable goals and milestones ésftallin advance by the Board or the Compsu@ompensatic
Committee in consultation with the CEO and ExeautiVhe period for calculation of the bonus shallcbesistent with the Comparsyfiscal year. The goals &
milestones will be communicated to Executive witfarty-five (45) days of the start of the new fikgaar, or in the case of the 2013 fiscal yearhimiforty-five (45)
days of the Commencement Date. Such bonus, if willype paid to Executive on or after January 1 amdny case no later than March 15 of the immelyi
succeeding fiscal year. The bonus shall be paidash;_providedhat, if requested by Executive and if approved by Buard or the Company’ Compensatic
Committee in its sole discretion, some or all & Honus for which Executive may be eligible in thatire year may be paid in options or restrictedtls (valued at tr
fair market value thereof), or any combinationta# foregoingFor the period beginning on the Commencement Dadeeading on the last day of the 2013 fiscal \
Executive shall be eligible to receive a proratedus (calculated as the annual bonus that would haen paid for the entire 2013 fiscal year mudigpby a fractio
the numerator of which is equal to the number gfdaxecutive worked in the applicable fiscal yead ¢he denominator of which is equal to the totahber of day
in such year).

3.3 Stock Options

@) On the Commencement Date, the Comphajl award Executive a stock option under its 2B#jRity Incentive Plan (the201z2
Plan”) to purchase 130,000 shares of the Comgaoygmmon stock at a per share exercise price equak closing price of the common stock on sucte dtne
“Option”), such price being the fair market valueone share of the Compasytommon stock on the date thereof. The Optionbeilevidenced in writing by a stc
option agreement provided by the Company, whicleeagent will specify vesting over four (4) years axércise of vested options for up to ten (10) gesubject t
Section 3.3(b) hereof and the 2012 Plan.

(b) The Option shall vest as follows: dequarter of the Option (i.e. 32,500 shares) willtves the first anniversary of t
Commencement Date; and (ii) the remaining balarfiteeo97,500 shares will vest in equal quartertaliments in arrears over the three (3) year dez@mmencin
on the first anniversary of the Commencement Dateemding on the fourth anniversary of the Commerere Date, all subject to Executigetontinued employme
by the Company and the 2012 Plan, except as otbeseit forth herein.

(c) At the sole discretion of the Boardloe Company Compensation Committee, additional stock optmmsther stock awards m
be granted to Executive from time to time.




3.4 Fringe BenefitsExecutive shall be entitled to participate in ladinus and benefit programs that the Company éshiasl and mak
available to its executives and/or employees frone tto time, including, but not limited to, heatthre plans, dental care plans, supplemental regimemlans, lif
insurance plans, disability insurance plans andritice compensation plans, to the extent that Bkexis eligible under, and subject to the termd aonditions of, th
applicable plan documents governing such progrdime.Company shall pay 100% of the premium coshéaith insurance coverage for Executive, and 90%he
additional cost of coverage for his spouse andioil,_providedhathis spouse and dependents are not covered by arak health insurance plan provided by
spouses employer. Executive shall be eligible to accrpaaifour (4) weeks of paid vacation each caleiydar (to be taken at such times and in such nuibaay:
as Executive shall determine in consultation with €EO and in a manner so as not to impair or wikerinterfere with Executive’ability to perform his duties a
responsibilities hereunder). The vacation dags Which Executive is eligible shall accrue at thee of 1.67 days per month that Executive is eygaaduring suc
calendar year. Vacation accrual will be capped. b imes Executive’'s annual vacation accrual. WErecutives accrued vacation reaches the cap, Executiv
not accrue additional vacation time until somehef previously accrued vacation is used and theiadamount falls below the cap, unless the Comfsagquired b
another business venture, in which case none gfréhngous year's accrued vacation will be subjec tap. Executive shall albe eligible for paid holidays and ug
five (5) paid sick days annually, in accordancehwiite Company policies for its senior executives as in effeotrf time to time. At the end of each calendar yak
unused sick days shall be forfeited.

3.5 Relocation The Company shall provide reimbursement to Exeeutor reasonable and documented expenses, lesspplicable
withholdings and deductions required by law, relgtio (a) Executives relocation from Boston, Massachusetts to a reseeiithin a reasonable daily commute fi
New York City and (b) Executive commuting from tieme in Massachusetts to New York prior to the ti@eelocates to the New York City area (collectny
“Relocation Assistance”). The Relocation Assistaic&onditioned on Executive’s relocation to thewN¥ork City area in 2013The Company will reimbur:
Executive for authorized and documented eligiblboation expenses as soon as commercially pratticiowing the date on which Executive provi
documentation of the expense which is reasonaldgpable to the Company, but in any event no thtan 60 days following the date on which Execusubmits a
necessary documentation relating to such expense.

3.6 Reimbursement of Expens@&hie Company shall reimburse Executive for reastentravel, entertainment and other expenses iadusi
paid by Executive in connection with, or relatedhe performance of his duties, responsibilities@nvices under this Agreement, upon presentatjoxecutive ¢
documentation, expense statements, vouchers asuttbrother supporting information as the Company request. Executive must submit proper documentet
each such expense within sixty (60) days afterldber of (i) his incurrence of such expense or l{i§ receipt of the invoice for such expense. Tloen@any wil
reimburse Executive for that expense within th{&9) days after receipt of the documentation.

3.7 WithholdingsPayments made under this Section 3 shall be aubj@pplicable federal, state and local taxeswatttholdings, if any.
4. Termination of Employment Perioihe Agreement Term shall terminate upon the geage of any of the following:




4.1 Expiration of the Agreement Territhis Agreement shall expire at the end of theekgment Term;_providedthat notice is given
accordance with Section 1 of this Agreement.

4.2 Termination by the Company for Caugé the election of the Company, for Cause (asneef below), immediately following writte
notice by the Company to Executive, which noticallsidentify in reasonable detail the Caug®n which termination is based. For the purpos$eki® Agreemen
“Cause” for termination shall be deemed to exigirup

@) a good faith finding by the Compangttti) Executive has engaged in material dishonesitiful misconduct, or gross negligen
(ii) Executive has breached or has threatenedeadbr his Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Newlicitation Agreement; or (iii) Executive has mé&#y breached th
Agreement, and Executive has failed to cure sucidwct or breach within thirty (30) days after leseipt of written notice from the Company of sucéaeh; or

(b) Executives conviction, guilty plea, or entry of nolo contenel to any crime involving moral turpitude, fraudesnbezzlement,
any felony.

4.3 Termination By Executive for Good Baa. At the election of Executive, for Good Reasonr parposes of this AgreementGboc
Reason” means the occurrence, without Execigiweritten consent, of either of the events or citstances set forth in clauses (a) or (b) belowaddition
notwithstanding the occurrence of either of thenév@numerated in clause (a) or (b), such occuershall not be deemed to constitute Good Reaswvitffin thirty
(30) days after the Compaisyreceipt of written notice from Executive of thecorrence or existence of an event or circumstancenerated in clauses (a) through
such event or circumstance has been remedied b@dhgany Executive shall not be deemed to have terminateceimployment for Good Reason unless he
delivers a written notice of termination to the GQuamy identifying in reasonable detail the acts missions constituting Good Reason within ninety) (88@ys afte
their occurrence and the provision of this Agreemelied upon, such acts or omissions are not chyethe Company within thirty (30) days of the rigtef suct
notice, and Executive actually ends his employmstitin one-hundred and twenty (120) days afterGoenpany’s failure to cure.

(a) any other action or omission by themPany which results in a material diminution in Extéve’s position, status, offices, titls
authority, responsibilities, or reporting requirertse

(b) a change by the Company in the locatibwhich Executive performs his principal dutiesthe Company to a different locat
that is (i) outside a radius of fifty (50) mile®i Executives principal residence immediately prior to the daievhich such change occurs, or (ii) more thay {&0)
miles from the location at which Executive perfothtes principal duties for the Company immediafgdipr to the date on which such change occurs.Bxtesutives
residence for purposes of this Section 4.3(b) $fethe residence he establishes in the New Ydykatea prior to the end of 2013 pursuant to Secis ; or

(c) any material breach by the Companthisf Agreement.




4.4 Death or Disabilitylmmediately upon Executive’s death or disabild used in this Agreement, the determination a$&ility” shal
occur when Executive, due to a physical or menahdlity, for a period of 60 consecutive days,1@0 days in the aggregate whether or not consesudiwing an
360-day period, is unable to perform the services coptated under this Agreement. A determination shHility shall be made by a physician satisfactorpott
Executive and the Company; providethat, if Executive and the Company do not agree onyaiplan, Executive and the Company shall each sal@bysician ar
these two together shall select a third physicidrmgse determination as to disability shall be bigdin all parties.

4.5 Termination by Executive Without @oReason or Termination by the Company Without Eaust the election of Executive withc
Good Reason or by the Company without Cause, upbless than thirty (30) days’ prior written notittethe other party.

5. Effect of Termination

5.1 Payments Upon Termination for Amya&en. In the event Executive’employment is terminated pursuant to Sectiohelompany shz
pay to Executive (or his estate or legal represetaif applicable), on the date of his terminatiof employment with the Company, the compensadioth benefit
under Sections 3.1, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6 that are adauad unpaid through such termination date (imetydvithout limitation, an amount equal to all aged but unuse
vacation pay and unreimbursed expenses). Subj&gdtion 5.5, in the event of termination of Exeais employment by Executive by reason of menewal of th
Agreement Term pursuant to Sections 1 and 4.1Ctimpany for Cause pursuant to Section 4.2, by reab&xecutive$ death or disability pursuant to Section 4..
by Executive without Good Reason pursuant to Seeti, Executive shall not receive any compensatiiobenefits other than as expressly stated inSbigion 5.
and as otherwise required by law.

5.2 Termination by the Company WithoatuSe, by the Company by Reason of Menewal of Agreement Term, or by Executive for C
Reason Subject to Section 5.3 below, in addition to fayments and provisions under Section 5.1, in tlemteof termination of Executive’employment by tt
Company by reason of naenewal of the Agreement Term pursuant to Sectloasd 4.1, by Executive for Good Reason pursuaBetdion 4.3, or by the Compz
without Cause pursuant to Section 4.5, provided Exacutive executes a release of claims in a farasonably satisfactory to the Company and Exeey(tive
“Release”), which Release must be presented toufixecon or before the date of termination andatife and irrevocable prior to the sixty (69 day following th
termination of the Executive's employment, the Canypshall provide Executive with the following:

(a) six (6) months of Executive’s baseasain effect at the time of termination of emplagmt, payable according to the Company’
payroll commencing on the first payroll date foliag the date the Release is effective and irreMecaiovided, however, that if the sixty (60) dagripd in which th
Release must be effective and irrevocable begimséntaxable year of the Executive and ends itea taxable year, the payments will commence inladter taxabl
year; and




(b) the Company will, for a period of s{&) months following Executive’'s termination fronrmployment, continue Executive’
participation in the Company’group health plan and dental plan and shall pay gortion of the premiums that the Company paichehalf of Executive and |
dependents during Executive’s employment, providégwever, that if the Compang’ health insurance plan and/or dental plan doespeohit such continue
participation in such plan after Executigg¢ermination of employment, then the Company gbel that portion of the premiums associated wilBRA continuatio
coverage that the Company paid on behalf of Exeewnd his dependents during Executive’'s employmieriuding any administrative fee, on Executs/behalf fo
such twelve-month period; and provideturther, that if Executive becomes employed with anothrepleyer during the period in which continued heattsuranc
and/or dental insurance is being provided purstatitis Section, the Company shall not be requioecbntinue such health and dental benefits, apflicable, to pe
the costs of COBRA, if Executive becomes coveredeuma health insurance plan of the new employer. grposes of this Section 5.2(b), the term “Exieell shal
include, to the extent applicable, Executive’'s sgoand any of his dependents covered under the &uorispgroup health plan and/or dental plan prior tc
termination of employment).

5.3 Termination in the Event of a Chamg€ontrol.

(a) In addition to the payments and priovis under Section 5.1 but in lieu of, and notddition to, the payments required pursual
Section 5.2 above and 5.5 below, in the event Bkexs employment with the Company is terminatedtfily Company by reason of nogrewal of the Agreeme
Term pursuant to Sections 1 and 4.1, by Executiv&sbod Reason pursuant to Section 4.3, or by tmepgany without Cause pursuant to Section 4.5, ynsach cas
in anticipation of and/or within twelve (12) montf@lowing a Change in Control (as defined beloprpvided that Executive (or his legal represengatifzapplicable
executes timely a Release and allows it to becanrty, Executive shall be entitled to the follogin

0] a lump sum cash amount equal to twell/2) months of Executive's base salary in effecth@ time of Executive’
termination, such payment to be made on the faigtgl date following the date the Release is éifecand irrevocable, provided, however, that & gixty (60) da
period in which the Release must be effective amdcable begins in one taxable year of the Exeeatnd ends in a later taxable year, the payméhba made ii
the later taxable year;

(ii) for up to twelve (12) months after Exgive’s date of termination, the Company shalltoare Executives participation i
the Companys group health and dental plan and shall pay tbetgm of the premiums that the Company paid onalfebf Executive and his dependents du
Executive’'s employment;_providedhowever, that if the Company’s health insurance plan andkntal insurance plan does not permit Execwivantinue
participation in such plan after his terminationeafiployment, then the Company shall pay that pomiothe premiums associated with COBRA continuatioverag
that the Company paid on behalf of Executive arsddeipendents during Executive’s employment , inofpddministrative fees, on Executigeébehalf for so long .
COBRA continuation coverage is available, up toltee&12) months; and providedurther, that if Executive becomes employed with anothepleyer during th
period in which continued health insurance andémtal insurance is being provided pursuant toSeistion, the Company shall not be required to oaetihe releva
benefits, or if applicable, to pay the relevanttsad COBRA, if Executive becomes covered undeeath insurance plan and/or dental plan of the employer. (Fc
purposes of this Section 5.3(a)(ii), the term “Bxe®” shall include, to the extent applicable, Ex#éve's spouse and any of his dependents covered une
Company’s group health plan and/or dental planrpddnis termination of employment.)




(b) As used herein, “Change in Controldlsbccur or be deemed to occur if any of the fwiltg events occur:

0] any sale, lease, exchange or othersfea (in one transaction or a series of transasjiof all or substantially all of t
assets of the Company; or

(i) any consolidation or merger of the Qmny (including, without limitation, a triangularemyer) where the shareholder:
the Company immediately prior to the consolidattormerger, would not, immediately after the cordstion or merger, beneficially own, directly or irettly, share
representing in the aggregate more than fifty per(&0%) of the combined voting power of all theéstanding securities of the corporation issuindghaassecurities i
the consolidation or merger (or of its ultimategydrcorporation, if any); or

(i) a third person, including a “persoas defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934, as amended
“Exchange Act”) put other than (x) the Company, (y) any employegekeplan of the Company, or (z) investors purahgequity securities of the Company pursi
to a financing or a series of financings approvedhe Board of Directors of the Company) becomesbigneficial owner (as defined in Rule 13dnder the Exchan
Act) directly or indirectly, of Controlling Secuigts (as defined below). “Controlling Securitiegiall mean securities representing 25% or moraetdtal number
votes that may be cast for the election of thecttirs of the Company.

5.4 Effect of Termination on Stock Opsaand Other Equity Compensation

(a) In the event of Executive’s terminatioy Executive by reason of noenewal of the Agreement Term pursuant to Sectioaac
4.1, by the Company for Cause pursuant to Sectidnot by Executive without Good Reason pursuardotion 4.5, all unvested stock and stock optgrasted t
Executive before and after the date of this Agregrmsball be immediately forfeited upon the effeetdate of such termination of employment or asretise provide:
in the option agreement; providethat, Executive shall have ninety (90) days from thiedd termination to exercise the vested portioamf stock or stock optior
subject to Section 3.3(b) hereof and the 2012 Btehany amendments thereto as well as any addistaek and/or stock option plans.

(b) In the event of Executive’s terminatiby the Company by reason of nemewal of the Agreement Term pursuant to Secti
and 4.1, by Executive for Good Reason pursuanetii@ 4.3, or by the Company without Cause purst@Section 4.5, and provided that Executive (srlbga
representative, if applicable) executes timely &e&se and allows it to become binding, that nunabéixecutives stock and stock options that would otherwise
vested from the effective date of Execut&/&rmination to the first anniversary of such ddtall vest as of the date of the execution ofRekease and Executive
his estate or legal representative, if applicabledll have one (1) year to exercise the vestedopoof such stock or stock options, subject to i8acB.3(b) hereof ar
the 2012 Plan and any amendments thereto as wetlyaadditional stock and/or stock option plans.




(c) In the event Executive’s employmentimthe Company is terminated by the Company byorea$ nonrenewal of the Agreeme
Term pursuant to Sections 1 and 4.1, by Executiv&sbod Reason pursuant to Section 4.3, or by tmepgany without Cause pursuant to Section 4.5, ynsach cas
in anticipation of, on or within twelve (12) montf@lowing a Change in Control, in lieu of the algration provided for pursuant to Section 5.4(b)\ah) provided thi
Executive (or his legal representative, if applleqtexecutes timely a Release and allows it to imecdinding, all of Executive’ stock and stock options st
immediately become exercisable with respect tsladires underlying such options and Executive @ektate or legal representative, if applicabla)l stave one (:
year from the date of termination to exercise sstolck and/or stock options, subject to Sectiont.Béreof and the 2012 Plan and any amendmenistohas well €
any additional stock and/or stock option plans.

(d) In the event Executigeemployment with the Company is terminated byaeasf disability pursuant to Section 4.4, and pdee
that Executive (or his legal representative, if legble) executes timely a Release and allows thiéoome binding, all unvested stock and stock optigranted 1
Executive before and after the date of this Agregmsball be immediately forfeited upon the effeetdate of such termination of employment or asretise provide:
in the option agreement; providethat, Executive shall have (i) one (1) year from theeda termination to exercise the vested portioarof stock or stock options
such longer exercise period as may be providedhftiie applicable stock option plan and (ii) suddidonal vesting rights as may be provided fottie applicabl
stock option plan, subject, in each case, to Se&i8(b) hereof and the 2012 Plan and any amendrtiegrteto as well as any additional stock optiamgl

5.5 Limitation on BenefitsThe Company will make the payments under thiseAgrent without regard to whether the deductibditysuct
payments (or any other payments or benefits) wbeldimited or precluded by Section 280G of the rimé Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Caie’)
without regard to whether such payments would siilifetecutive to the federal excise tax levied oriade “excess parachute paymentsider Code Section 4999
the Code; provided, however, that if the Total Affax Payments (as defined below) would be increégetthe reduction or elimination of any payment anathe
benefit (including the vesting of the options) untlés Agreement, then the amounts payable unde@ireement will be reduced or eliminated as fooif possible
(i) first, by reducing or eliminating the vesting that options that occurs as a result of such Gaan Control (as provided above) and (ii) secdndreducing c
eliminating any cash payments or other benefithgiothan the vesting of the options), to the extetessary to maximize the Total Affeax Payments. Ti
Companys independent, certified public accounting firmlwitermine whether and to what extent payment&sting under this agreement are required to becez
in accordance with the preceding sentence. Forgsespof this Agreement, “Total After-Tax Paymentgans the total of all “parachute paymenes that term
defined in Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) maderttor the benefit of Executive (whether made urttierAgreement or otherwise), after reduction tbagplicable
federal taxes (including, without limitation, thextdescribed in Section 4999 of the Code). The Gompagrees to pay for all costs associated witldgtermination ¢
the payments or vesting required to be reducedoaridé avoidance of doubt, shall not be requiregayp any taxes, penalties, interest or other exgsetes whicl
Executive may be subject.




5.6 Withholdings Payments made under this Section 5 shall be ciittieapplicable federal, state and local taxesaitisholdings. If thi
payment of any COBRA or health insurance premiuroslé/otherwise violate the nondiscrimination rubesause the reimbursement of claims to be taxatder th:
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 20b@ether with the Health Care and Education Retiation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “Act”pr Section 105(t
of the Code, the Company paid premiums shall kedceas taxable payments and be subject to imjntedhe tax treatment to the extent necessary mairgite an
discriminatory treatment or taxation under the éicB8ection 105(h) of the Code.

6. Invention, NoiDisclosure, and Neolicitation. As a condition of Executive’s employment, Executshall execute the Invention, N@isclosure
and Non-Solicitation Agreement attached heretoxdmstit A.

7. Notices All notices, requests, consents and other comeations hereunder will be in writing, will be adgsed, if to the Company, at its princi
corporate offices to the attention of the Legal &é&pent, and if to Executive, at his address sth fon the signature page hereto, or in either,caseh other addre
as a party may designate by notice hereunderinothe case of Executive, to his current home adfgrand will be either (i) delivered by hand, ¢&nt by overnigl
courier, or (iii) sent by registered or certifiedim return receipt requested, postage prepaidnétices, requests, consents and other commumsatiereunder will
deemed to have been given either (i) if by handhattime of the delivery thereof to the receivipeyty at the address of such party set forth ab@ief sent by
overnight courier, on the next business day follmMhe day such notice is delivered to the cows@&vice, or (iii) if sent by registered or certifienail, on the fiftl
business day following the day such mailing is made

8. Absence of RestrictionsExecutive represents and warrants that he is nohddy any employment contracts, restrictive comenar othe
restrictions that prevent Executive from enterinip iemployment with, or carrying out his resporigibs for, the Company, or which are in any wagadnsistent wit
any of the terms of this Agreement.

9. Entire AgreementThis Agreement constitutes the entire agreemetwéen the parties and supersedes all prior agreeraed understandini
whether written or oral relating to the subject teabf this Agreement, with the exception of thedntion, Non-Disclosure, and N@slicitation Agreement, dated
of the date hereof, by and between the CompanyEaadutive. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the pertio this Agreement acknowledge that stock optiomtsothe
equity awards may be granted by the Company to WExecunder and pursuant to the 2012 Plan and amgndments thereto, as well as any additional pkamd,th:
award agreements related to such plans.

10. AmendmentThis Agreement may be amended or modified onlg lyritten instrument executed by both the Compamny Executive.




11. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdictidinis Agreement shall be construed, interpretetleariorced in accordance with the laws of the Siatéew
York without regard to conflict of law principlegny action, suit or other legal proceeding arisimgder or relating to any provision of this Agreemshall be
commenced only in a court of the State of New Y@k if appropriate, a federal court located witktie State of New York), and the Company and Exeewdacl
consents to the jurisdiction of such a court. Tlwn@any and Executive each hereby irrevocably waiwe right to a trial by jury in any action, suit other lege
proceeding arising under or relating to any provisif this Agreement.

12. Successors and Assigiiis Agreement shall be binding upon and inuréhobenefit of both parties and their respectivecessors and assig
including any corporation with which, or into whidhe Company may be merged or which may succett®et@ompany’s assets or business, providesvever, tha
the obligations of Executive are personal and si@lbe assigned by him. Notwithstanding the fomegiof Executive dies the compensation and bemstited in th
Agreement will be paid to his beneficiary or to b&ate if no beneficiary.

13. Miscellaneous

131 No Waiver No delay or omission by the Company in exercisaing right under this Agreement shall operate asiger of that or ar
other right. A waiver or consent given on any oneasion shall be effective only in that instance sinall not be construed as a bar or waiver ofraght on any othe
occasion.

13.2 Captions The captions of the sections of this Agreemeatfar convenience of reference only and in no wefiné, limit or affect th
scope or substance of any section of this Agreement

13.3 Severability In case any provision of this Agreement shallitealid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, thdidity, legality anc
enforceability of the remaining provisions shalhim way be affected or impaired thereby.

134 CounterpartsThis Agreement may be executed in two or morentaparts, each of which shall be deemed an otigiagall of whict
together shall constitute one and the same insmtritéis Agreement may be delivered by facsimite] acsimile signatures shall be treated as origiiggatures fc
all applicable purposes.

135 Blue PencilingTo the extent that any provision herein or in plan of nonqualified deferred compensation thest document is a part
contravenes the requirements of Code Section 40%eoregulations thereunder), such provision shalbppropriately modified in accordance with ata# IR<
guidance (including without limitation IRS Notic®@ 206 and related guidance) so that Executive is nbjestito the adverse effects of Code Section 4082wl
nevertheless retain, to the extent possible, tbaauic benefit of the provision.
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13.6 Section 409A

(@) The payments under this Agreementrgended either to be exempt from Section 409Ahef iinternal Revenue Code $ectior
409A ") under the shorterm deferral, separation pay, or other applicasigeption, or to otherwise comply with Section 409Ae parties agree that this Agreen
shall be administered in a manner consistent withh sntent. For purposes of Section 409A, all paytse@nder this Agreement shall be considered seppeyment:
If any amount or benefit payable to the Executindar this Agreement upon a “termination of emplogthés determined by the Company to constitutelaférral o
compensationfor purposes of Section 409A (after taking into@ott any applicable exceptions), such amount oefiteshall not be paid or provided until -
Executive has also experienced a “separation fremvice” from the Company within the meaning of Section 40Blatwithstanding any provision to the contrary
the extent Executive is considered a specified eyga@ under Section 409A and would be entitled dutire six-month period beginning on Executs/separatic
from service to a payment that is not otherwiselusled under Section 409A, such payment will notniede until the earlier of the simenth anniversary
Employee’s separation from service or death; predithat the first payment made after the delagll include all amounts that would have been paidier but fo
such six (6) month delay. At the request of thedtkge, the Company shall set aside those payntleatsvould otherwise be made in such signth period in a tru
that is in compliance with Rev. Proc. 92-64.

(b) If an expense reimbursement or piowi®f inkind benefit provided to the Executive under thigrdement is not exempt frc
Section 409A of the Code, the following rules aplyin no event shall any reimbursement be pdierahe last day of the taxable year following thrable year i
which the expense was incurred; (ii) the amouneohbursable expenses incurred or provision dima benefits in one tax year shall not affect ¢éxpenses eligib
for reimbursement or the provision of in-kind betsefn any other tax year; and (iii) the right ®mbursement for expenses or provision okimd benefits is nc
subject to liquidation or exchange for any otherdji.

(c) The parties agree to negotiate in g@dtth the amendment of this Agreement, as necestagavoid any violations of Section 40
in a manner that preserves the original intenhefgarties to the extent reasonably possible. Niogtéinding the foregoing, the Company makes n@&sgntations th
the payments and benefits provided under this Agesg comply with Section 409A and in no event stial Company be liable for all or any portion of/ daxes
penalties, interest or other expenses that magdered by Executive on account of non-complianite ®ection 409A.

[ Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; SigmatBage Follow3
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettitss Agreement as of the day and year firstaeh fabove.
THE COMPANY:
INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Mark Pruzansk

Name: Mark Pruzanski, MC
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic

EXECUTIVE:

By: /s/ Daniel Rega

Name: Daniel Rege
Address for Notice Purpose

[ Employment Agreement — Daniel Redjan




Schedule 1
Work with senior management and the Board on desiggend planning implementation of corporate anthmercial strategy

Work with senior management to create an integredesmercial, clinical and regulatory life cycle nagement strategy to maximize value of OCA
other products and product candidates in the pip

Plan, budget and build commercial capability inpmup of the forecast 2015 launch of OCA for PBGha US and Europe, recruiting world cli
employees and retaining consultants and vendomdiag to plar

Develop US and European launch plans, includingimiand market access analyses, for OCA and generalistic revenue and profitability foreca
across markel

Manage to budget and deliver revenue objectivesvaardin targets, ensuring accurate and timely conication of result:
Work with senior management to support investati@hs, analyst days and financings, as ne

Work with senior management to support existingtetsic partnerships and to evaluate, develop apicstistrategic business development, M&A
licensing opportunitie

Establish relationships with KOLs, patient advocgoyups and other key constituencies, attendingsingd and scientific meetings and representing
Company

Manage customer facing medical affairs personnehduhe pr-approval perioc
Manage commercial project managen

Other duties, responsibilities and/or projects@eably assigned by the CEO and in line with the G©6ition




Exhibit 10.7.2
INVENTION, NON-DISCLOSURE, AND NON-SOLICITATION AGR EEMENT

This Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Non-Solicitatiagreement is made by and between Intercept Plwutiaals, Inc. (the “Company”) and Daniel Regédme (t
“Employee”).

IN CONSIDERATION of the Employee's employment bg tBompany, and for other good and valuable corsider, the sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, the Employee agrees as follows:

1. Condition of Employment

The Employee acknowledges that her employmenttwéhfCompany is contingent upon her agreement toasig adhere to the provisions of this InventioonN
Disclosure, and Non-Solicitation Agreement (the fégment”).

2. Proprietary and Confidential Information

(a) The Employee agrees that all information, wéetr not in writing, of a private, secret or calefintial nature concerning the Company’s businassinbss
relationships or financial affairs (collectivelyRfoprietary Information”) is and shall be the exthe property of the Company. By way of illustratidut not
limitation, Proprietary Information may include emtions, products, processes, methods, technifpresjlas, compositions, compounds, projects, degraknts,
plans (including business and marketing plansgareh data, clinical data, financial data (inclgdéales costs, profits, pricing methods), persodatd, computer
programs (including software used pursuant toenke agreement), customer and supplier lists, amacts at or knowledge of customers or prospectiggomers of
the Company. The Employee will not disclose anypRetary Information to any person or entity otliean employees of the Company or use the samenjor a
purposes (other than in the performance of higlhées as an employee of the Company) without ewritpproval by an officer of the Company, eithairduor after
her employment with the Company, unless and uath$roprietary Information has become public krealge without fault by the Employee.

(b) The Employee agrees that all files, documdeters, memoranda, reports, records, data, sketdnawings, models, laboratory notebooks, prodistings,
computer equipment or devices, computer progranashar written, photographic, or other tangible enial containing Proprietary Information, whethezated by th
Employee or others, which shall come into his/hestedy or possession, shall be and are the exelpsoperty of the Company to be used by the Emplaydy in the
performance of his/her duties for the Company dmadl 0t be copied or removed from the Company [segiexcept in the pursuit of the business of thegany. Al
such materials or copies thereof and all tangibdperty of the Company in the custody or possessidhe Employee shall be delivered to the Compapgn the
earlier of (i) a request by the Company or (iiyération of his/her employment. After such delivettye Employee shall not retain any such mateoatpies thereof
or any such tangible property.




(c) The Employee agrees that her obligation naligolose or to use information and materials oftyfpes set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) abawe: har obligation
to return materials and tangible property set fartharagraph (b) above also extends to such typedormation, materials and tangible propertycastomers of the
Company or suppliers to the Company or other thédies who may have disclosed or entrusted the sartihe Company or to the Employee.

3. Inventions

(a) The Employee will make full and prompt disclesto the Company of all inventions, creations,iowements, discoveries, trade secrets, secretggese
technology, know-how, methods, developments, saéiyand works of authorship or other creative worksether patentable or not, which are created emad
conceived or reduced to practice by the Employaender the Employee's direction or jointly with eth during her employment by the Company, whetheob
during normal working hours or on the premiseshef Company (all of which are collectively refertedn this Agreement as “Inventions”).

(b) The Employee agrees to assign and does hessimnao the Company (or any person or entity dedeg by the Company) all her right, title andriest in and to
all Inventions and all related patents, patentiapfbns, copyrights and copyright applicationshte maximum extent permitted by the laws of theeStd New York
or any like statute of any other state. The Empdyereby also waives all claims to moral rightary Inventions. The Employee understands thatrtngions of
this Agreement requiring assignment of Inventianthe Company do not apply to any invention whiahlgjes fully under the provisions of the lawstbé State of
New York. The Employee agrees to advise the Company prgnmpitriting of any inventions that she believesatsethe criteria in the laws of the State of Newkr.o

(c) The Employee agrees to cooperate fully withGleenpany and to take such further actions as mayebessary or desirable, both during and afteetmaloyment
with the Company, with respect to the procuremeaintenance and enforcement of copyrights, paterdther intellectual property rights (both in theited States
and foreign countries) relating to Inventions. Hmaployee shall sign all papers, including, withtuitation, copyright applications, patent applicats, declarations,
oaths, formal assignments, assignments of priaghts, and powers of attorney, which the Compaay tleem necessary or desirable in order to priagedghts and
interests in any Invention. The Employee furtheeag that if the Company is unable, after reasenaffibrt, to secure the signature of the Employeary such
papers, any executive officer of the Company diakntitled to execute any such papers as the agdrthe attorney-in-fact of the Employee, and&heployee
hereby irrevocably designates and appoints eadatuéxe officer of the Company as her agent andagginfact to execute any such papers on her heial to take
any and all actions as the Company may deem negessdesirable in order to protect its rights amerests in any Invention, under the conditionsctibed in this
sentence.




4. NontSolicitation.

(a) While employed by the Company and for a pecibdne (1) year after the termination or cessatibEmployee’s employment for any reason, the Emgxéoyill
not, directly or indirectly, either alone or in as&tion with others, recruit or solicit any perseho was employed by the Company or engaged asd@péndent
contractor at any time during the period of the Eppe's employment with the Company, except foindividual whose employment with or service for tbempany
has been terminated for a period of six monthewgér.

(b) If any restriction set forth in this Sectionsfound by any court of competent jurisdictiorb®unenforceable because it extends for too Iqreriad of time or
over too great a range of activities or in too ldraayeographic area, it shall be interpreted terekbnly over the maximum period of time, rangeadivities or
geographic area as to which it may be enforceable.

(c) The geographic scope of this Section shallrekte anywhere the Company or any of its subsieiais doing business, has done business or hastpldo
business.

(d) If the Employee violates the provisions of tBisction, the Employee shall continue to be helthbyrestrictions set forth in this Section, uatperiod equal to the
period of restriction has expired without any viaa.

5. Other Agreements

The Employee hereby represents that, except @&sntipdoyee has disclosed in writing to the Compahg,Employee is not bound by the terms of any ageeémith
any previous employer or other party to refraimfrasing or disclosing any trade secret or confidént proprietary information in the course of/hisr employment
with the Company, to refrain from competing, dibgar indirectly, with the business of such prexs@mployer or any other party, or to refrain frasticiting
employees, customers or suppliers of such preveaysloyer or other party. The Employee further reengs that his/her performance of all the ternthisfAgreemer
and the performance of her duties as an employt#eed€ompany do not and will not breach any agre¢nvéh any prior employer or other party to whitie
Employee is a party (including without limitationyanon-disclosure or non-competition agreement),that the Employee will not disclose to the Conypaninduce
the Company to use any confidential or proprietafgrmation or material belonging to any previonspdoyer or others.

6. United States Government Obligations

The Employee acknowledges that the Company frora tortime may have agreements with other persomstiothe United States Government, or agenciestie
which impose obligations or restrictions on the @amy regarding inventions made during the courseark under such agreements or regarding the cemtiial
nature of such work. The Employee agrees to bedbyrall such obligations and restrictions thatraeele known to the Employee and to take all actggessary to
discharge the obligations of the Company under sgceements.




7. Not An Employment Contract

The Employee acknowledges that this Agreement doesonstitute a contract of employment, eitheresg or implied, and does not imply that the Corgpeili
continue the Employee’s employment for any peribtinoe.

8. General Provisions

(a) No Conflict. The Employee represents that the execution arfdrpgance by him/her of this Agreement does notwailichot conflict with or breach the
terms of any other agreement by which the Emplayéeund.

(b) Entire AgreementThis Agreement supersedes all prior agreemenmiiemor oral, between the Employee and the Compelating to the subject matter
of this Agreement. This Agreement may not be medifchanged or discharged in whole or in part, gxog an agreement in writing signed by the Empéoye
and the Company. The Employee agrees that any ef@anthanges in his/her duties, salary or compiemsatter the signing of this Agreement shall nif¢et
the validity or scope of this Agreement.

(c) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowasi of this Agreement shall not affect or impair tadidity or enforceability of any other
provision of this Agreement.

(d) Waiver. No delay or omission by the Company in exercising right under this Agreement will operate asa@ver of that or any other right. A waiver or
consent given by the Company on any one occasieffidstive only in that instance and will not bensttued as a bar to or waiver of any right on ahgio
occasion.

(e) Employee Acknowledgment and Equitable Remedié®e Employee acknowledges that the restricti@méained in this Agreement are necessary for the
protection of the business and goodwill of the Canypand are considered by the Employee to be rabofor such purpose. The Employee agrees that any
breach of this Agreement is likely to cause the Gany substantial and irrevocable damage and therafothe event of any breach or threatened brefich
this Agreement, the Employee agrees that the Coyraaddition to such other remedies that mayJalable, shall be entitled to specific performancel
other injunctive relief without posting a bond, ahd Employee hereby waives the adequacy of a rgieiddw as a defense to such relief.

(f) Successors and Assign$his Agreement shall be binding upon and inurthébenefit of both parties and their respectixasssors and assigns, incluc
any corporation or entity with which or into whitite Company may be merged or which may succeeltido substantially all of its assets or business,
provided however that the obligations of the Emptware personal and shall not be assigned by tipdolfee.




(9) Subsidiaries and AffiliatesThe Employee expressly consents to be boundebpribvisions of this Agreement for the benefittad Company or any
subsidiary or affiliate thereof to whose employ BEraployee may be transferred without the nece#isti/this Agreement be re-signed at the time ofisuc
transfer.

(h) Governing Law, Forum and Jurisdictiohis Agreement shall be governed by and constaseaisealed instrument under and in accordanbelvétlaws
of the State of New York without regard to conflidtlaws provisions. Any action, suit, or otherdégroceeding which is commenced to resolve anyanat
arising under or relating to any provision of tAgreement shall be commenced only in a court oStage of New York (or, if appropriate, a federalic
located within New York), and the Company and thepbyee each consents to the jurisdiction of sucbuat.

(i) Captions. The captions of the sections of this Agreemeafar convenience of reference only and in no wefiné, limit or affect the scope or substance
of any section of this Agreement.




THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS CAREFULLREAD THIS AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO ALOF THE
PROVISIONS IN THIS AGREEMENT.

WITNESS our hands and seals:

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

/sl Mark Pruzansk 3/4/2013
By: Mark Pruzanski, M.D Date
/s/ Daniel Rega 3/4/2013

By: Daniel Regai Date




Exhibit A LIST OF PRIOR INVENTIONS AND ORIGINAL WORKS OF AUTH ORSHIP: Title Date Identifying Number or Brief Description

No inventions or improvemen
Additional Sheets Attache

Signature of Employee:; /s/ Daniel Rega

Printed Name of Employe Daniel Regar

Date: 3/4/2013




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (No. 333-184810) on For&ndbintercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our repated April 1
2013, with respect to the consolidated balancetshedntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiardevelopment stage enterprise) as of Decemhe2®.1 an
2012, and the related consolidated statements efatipns and comprehensive loss, changes in stlateisb equity, and cash flows for each of the yearde
December 31, 2010, 2011, and 2012, and the infesmatcluded in the cumulative from inception pretsgion for the period September 4, 2002 (inceptio
December 31, 2012, which report appears in the Mbee 31, 2012 annual report on Form 10-K of Inttétharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s KPMG LLP
New York, New York
April 1, 2013



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statement of Intercept Pharmaceutidat. (a development stage company) on Form [Se8 833-
184810 ) of our report dated August 31, 2012, exémpthe third paragraph of Note 1 as to which dage is September 26, 20@8 our audit of the consolidal
statements obperations and comprehensive loss, changes intgitutdes' equity and cash flows for the period fréeptember 4, 2002 (Inception) through Decel
31, 2007 , which report is included in this AnnRa&port on Form 10-K to be filed on or about ApriPD13.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York

April 1, 2013



Exhibit 31.7
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Mark Pruzanski, M.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or eonsttate a material fact necessary to make thenséats
made, in light of the circumstances under whichhsstatements were made, not misleading with respehe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememitd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dnare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as definétkahange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the regidteand have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, to ensate th
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtows by others within those entities, partidylduring the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectiverafghe
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tleegeriod covered by this report based on swueluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi¢'s internal control over financial reportifigat occurred during the registrant's most recepafiquarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the cafsan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tiegistrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antkwve disclosed, based on our most recent evaiuat internal control over financial reporting, the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are reasonably lijkie
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggrtbcess, summarize and report financial inforamtand

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrargt’'internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: April 1, 2013

/sl Mark Pruzanski
Mark Pruzanski, M.D.

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Barbara G. Duncan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or éonittate a material fact necessary to make thenséats
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with respehbe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememitd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskeint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dnare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as definétkahange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the regigteand have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our supervision, to ensate th
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtaws by others within those entities, partidylduring the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectiver@she
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &titeeriod covered by this report based on sualuation; and

c¢) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitgt occurred during the registrant's most recengfiquarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the casan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antkwve disclosed, based on our most recent evaiuat internal control over financial reporting, the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrggistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiag the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal comvel financial reporting which are reasonably lijke
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggrtbcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrargtinternal control over financ
reporting.

Date: April 1, 2013

/sl Barbara Duncan
Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States Code), eadhef
undersigned officers of Intercept Pharmaceutidats, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), dbeeeby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @12 Zthe “Form 10-K")of the Company fully complies with the requiremesit$Section 13(a) or 15(d)
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the infdiom contained in the Form 10-K fairly presentsall material respects, the financial conditiod a@sults of
operations of the Company.

Dated: April 1, 2013 /s/ Mark Pruzanski
Mark Pruzanski, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: April 1, 2013 /s/ Barbara Duncan
Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




